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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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subject to such filing requirements for the pastfgs. YesX No O
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Act.
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reported by the NASDAQ Global Select Market wasragimately $273.9 million. Shares of common stoeldrby each officer and director
and by each person who owns or may be deemed td.0%nor more of the outstanding common stock haemtexcluded since such persons
may be deemed to be affiliates. This determinatioaffiliate status is not necessarily a conclugieéermination for other purposes.
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements theolve risks and uncertainties. Our actual rsscbuld differ materially from those
discussed in the forward-looking statements. Theesients contained in this report that are notlptnistorical are forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securittes of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”Y] &ection 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Fadaaoking statements are often identified by tke of words such as, but not limited to,
“anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “poject,” “seek,” “should,” “strategy,”
“target,” “will,” “would” and similar expressionsrovariations intended to identify forward-lookinatements. These statements are based on
the beliefs and assumptions of our management lmasgdormation currently available to managem&uich forward-looking statements are
subject to risks, uncertainties and other importactiors that could cause actual results and thiadi of certain events to differ materially from
future results expressed or implied by such forawlaoking statements. Factors that could cause woiribwite to such differences include, but
are not limited to, those identified below and #hdsscussed in the section titled “Risk Factorgluded under Part I, Item 1A below.
Furthermore, such forward-looking statements sk as of the date of this report. Except as neglby law, we undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statements to refleengés or circumstances after the date of such seattsm
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Iltem 1. Business

We were incorporated under the laws of the Stafeetéware on November 3, 2004 and commenced opasatin January 1, 2005. Our
principal executive offices are located at 1250d8iway, 31st Floor, New York, NY 10001. For conveciin this report, the terms
“Company,” “Varonis,” “we” and “us” may be used ttefer to Varonis Systems, Inc. and/or its subsid&grexcept where indicated otherwise.
Our telephone number is (877) 292-8767.

Overview

We provide an innovative software platform thabwai enterprises to map, analyze, manage and loéitize their unstructured data. We
specialize in human-generated data, a type of uctstred data that includes an enterprise’s spremishword processing documents,
presentations, audio files, video files, emailst teessages, and any other data created by employkeis data often contains an enterprise’s
financial information, product plans, strategidiatives, intellectual property and numerous ofloems of vital information. Our Metadata
Framework is a proprietary technology platform thefracts critical metadata, or data about datem fan enterprise’IT infrastructure and us
this contextual information to map functional redaships among employees, data objects, contentisage. IT and business personnel deplo
our software for a variety of use cases, includiata governance, data security, archiving, filechyonization, enhanced mobile data
accessibility and information collaboration.

In today’s information-based economy, enterprisestrshare, protect and manage their vital inforomaéissets; however, the rapid
growth in data volume and complexity is makinggingficantly harder for enterprises to do so. TB€IStudy estimates that the amount of
digital information created and replicated will grat a compound annual growth rate of 39% from 20t@ugh 2020 and more than 90% of
the data created in the next decade will be unstred data. We believe that unstructured data septs a critical business asset, and
enterprises are increasingly seeking ways to maertie value of this data, while simultaneouslyueng that the data is appropriately sect
and managed. Despite the importance of their digéisets, most enterprises have difficulty trackirig has access to select data, who is
responsible for that data, and which employeesetessing, creating, manipulating or deleting it.

The revolution in internet search occurred whemceangines began to mine internet metadata, sutiedinks between pages, in
addition to page content, thereby making the irgésrcontent more usable and consequently moreakbduSimilarly, our Metadata
Framework creates advanced searchable data ses@nd provides real-time intelligence about aerenise’s massive volumes of human-
generated content, to create more accessible, reablggand secure human-generated data.

We believe that the technology underlying our Matad-ramework is our primary competitive advantdde strength of our solution is
driven by several proprietary technologies and wdttogies that we have developed, coupled with hvevhave seamlessly combined them
into our highly versatile Metadata Framework. Gegtinological advantage stems from us having deeelapwvay to do each of the following:

» determine which metadata to captt

e capture that metadata without imposing any straifatencies on the enterpr's computing infrastructur

* modify that metadata in a way which makes it coraplr and analyzable despite it having originatethfdisparate IT system
» create supplemental metadata, as needed, wheristiag I T infrastructur’s activity logs are not sufficier

» decipher the key functional relationships of metadthe underlying data, and its creat

» use those functional relationships to creageaghical depiction, or map, of the data which wildure as enterprises add large
volumes of data to their network and storage resmuon a daily basi
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» analyze the data and related metadata utilizingistipated algorithms, including cluster analysed machine learning; ar

» visualize and depict the analyses in an inteithanner, including simulating contemplated charagel automatically execute tasks
that are normally manually intensive for IT andibess personne

The broad applicability of our technology has résiliin our customers deploying our platform for muous use cases. These use cases
include: searchable logs of all human-generatea ddated activity; centralized visibility into thumstructured data of the enterprise;
identification of sensitive data and monitoringsescurity, ownership and usage, thereby reducitgnpial exposures; identification of and
tracking data ownership; business productivity eckeaent through self-service data managementligest archiving and migration of data;
creation of secure hybrid cloud functionalities;s® search; abnormal activity alerts and ideratifan and security of high-risk data.

We believe that the diverse functionalities offebgydour platform positions us at the intersectibsaveral powerful trends in the digital
universe. The addressable markets for the fundtt@msadelivered by our platform are many and imgportions of the markets defined by IDC
as storage software, collaborative applicationsSé€urity (including endpoint security, messagiegusity and securing and vulnerability
management), identity and access management, gagesparch, and data integration and access seftWizC estimates that the aggregate
total spend of these established markets in 202approximately $47 billion. We believe that oummehensive product offering will attract
a meaningful portion of this overall spend, resigitin a multi-billion dollar total addressable metrkAs we continue to innovate and introduce
new products, we expect that the use cases faautions will expand, leading to incremental growt our addressable market opportunity.

We sell the vast majority of our products and smrsito channel partners, including distributors i@sellers, which sell to end-user
customers, which we refer to in this report asaustomers. We believe that our sales model, whachbines the leverage of a channel sales
model with our highly trained and professional sdt@ce, has played and will continue to play aanaple in our ability to grow and to
successfully deliver our unique value propositiondnterprise human-generated data. We targetroessoof all sizes, in all industries and in
all geographies. As of December 31, 2014, we hackrian 3,300 customers, spanning leading firntkarfinancial services, public,
healthcare, industrial, energy and utilities, teatbgy, consumer and retail, education and mediaesertainment sectors.

Size of Our Market Opportunity

We believe that the diverse functionalities offebydour platform position us at the intersectiorse¥eral powerful trends in the digital
enterprise data universe. We believe that the kssimtelligence and functionalities delivered hy platform define a new market, and we are
not aware of any third party studies that accuyadefine our addressable market. According to ihgusources, the functionality of our
software platform does overlap with portions of keds defined and sized by IDC, including storagénsoe ($15 billion), collaborative
applications ($9 billion), IT Security (includingi@point security, messaging security and secunmgvallnerability management—$ billion),
identity and access management ($4 billion), and méegration and access software ($4 billion)CI&8stimated that the aggregate total spenc
within these established markets in 2012 was apmately $47 billion. We believe that our compreheagproduct offering will attract a
meaningful portion of this overall spend, resultinga multi-billion dollar addressable market. As wontinue to innovate and introduce new
products, the use cases for our solutions will agp#eading to incremental growth in our addressatérket opportunity.

Our Technology

Our proprietary technology extracts critical inf@tion about an enterprise’s stored human-genedatdand uses this contextual
information, or metadata, to create a functiongbmian enterprise’s human-generated content. Gatadiita Framework technology has beer
architected to process large volumes of human-géeedata and the related metadata at a massieendttaminimal demands on the existing
IT infrastructure. All of our products, except Dawhere, utilize our Metadata Framework and a sorgle codebase, thereby streamlining
our product development initiatives.
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Key Benefits of Our Technology

Comprehensive Solution for Human-Generated D@ta. products enable a broad range of functiondilityiuding data governance,
secure search and remote collaboration, secure Bv@p2zmentations and intelligent retention—all frame core technology platform.
Moreover, our platform is applicable across allon@nterprise platforms (Windows, UNIX/Linux, Intrets and email systems).

Fast Time to Value and Low Total Cost of OwnersBiyx. solutions do not require custom implementatmni®ng deployment cycles.
Our platform can be installed and ready for uséiwihours and allows customers to realize realesalithin days of implementation. We
designed our platform to operate on commodity haréwvith standard operating systems, further rexduitie cost of ownership of our
product.

Ease of UseWhile we utilize complex data structures and althonis in our data engine, we abstract that compléaiprovide a sleek,
intuitive interface. Our software can be accesbealigh either the local client or a standard wedwser and requires limited training, saving
on time and cost and making it accessible to tbader set of non-technical users.

Highly Scalable and Flexible Data Engirf@ur metadata analysis technology is built to béalgiflexible and scalable, allowing our
customers to analyze vast amounts of human-geesaterprise data. Moreover, our proprietary Met@a@&aamework was built with a
modular architecture, allowing customers to grote e full capabilities of our solution over time.

No Impact on End User Mobile Experien@ur DatAnywhere product was designed to providempnises enhanced control of their data
while simultaneously offering employees all of thactionality, ease of use and ubiquitous accdgyiltihey have come to expect from third
party cloud storage services. Our solutions colleetadata with no impact on the collaborative $thring and email environments. End user
mobile experience is maintained while using exgsticcess methods and improved when using file sgnctation and mobile access.

Our Growth Strategy

Our objective is to be the primary vendor to whictierprises turn to analyze, protect and transfotmactionable intelligence their
human-generated data. The following are key elesneinbur growth strategy.

Extend Our Technological Capabilities Through Inatien. We intend to maintain our high level of investmenproduct development
order to enhance existing products to address seveases and deliver new products. We believeattbdtexibility, sophistication and broad
applicability of our Metadata Framework will allavg to use our Metadata Framework as the core oéraums future products built on our
same core technology. Our ability to effectivelydeage our research and development resourceshibked us to create a new product
development engine that we believe can proactidggtify and solve enterprise needs.

Grow Our Customer Bas&he unabated rise in unstructured data in enterpasd the ubiquitous reliance on digital collaborewill
continue to drive demand for data collaborationjegnance and retention solutions. We intend totalpé on this demand by targeting new
customers, vertical markets and use cases forabutians. Our solutions address the needs of cumtewf all sizes ranging from small and
medium businesses to large multinational companmigsthousands of employees and petabytes of data.

Increase Sales to Existing Customé&k&e believe significant opportunities exist to fuatlexpand relationships with existing customers.
Unstructured data growth continues across all th#iqgums, and enterprises wish to standardize dutisas that help them manage, protect anc
extract more value from their data wherever it@sed. We will continue to cultivate incrementalesafrom our existing customers by driving
increased use of our software within our instabade by expanding footprint and usage. We currérathe six products, and as of
December 31, 2014, approximately 42% of our custerparchased two or more products. We believe xistieg
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customer base serves as a strong source of inctaimewvenues given the broad platform of produashave and the growing volumes and
complexity of humargenerated data our customers have. As we innowdtexpand our product offering, we will have anrelseoader suite «
products to offer our customers.

Grow Our Sales Forcesrowing our salesforce will be essential to achigwur customer base expansion goals. The salesfiot our
approach to introducing products to the marketteen key to our successful growth in the past atidbecentral to our growth plan in the
future. Our model focuses on targeting customemslafizes, industries, and geographies. The ghifibur sales teams to support our channel
partners to efficiently identify leads, generatalaations, and convert them to satisfied customérgontinue to impact our ability to grow.
We intend to expand our sales capacity by addiagl¢wunt throughout our sales and marketing depattme

Grow Sales from Our Recently Introduced Produbtging the past three years, we have introduceskthrajor new products—
DatAnswers, DatAnywhere and Data Transport Engivie believe these products can be a meaningfulibomdr to our growth and intend to
devote significant resources to growing sales e$é¢hproducts.

Establish Our Metadata Framework as The Industan8ard.We have worked with several of the leading provdd&rnetwork attached
storage, or NAS, hardware, including EMC, NetApp, #hd Hitachi, in order to expand our market reswth deliver enhanced functionality to
our customers. We have worked with these vendoassare compatibility with their NAS product lindhirough the use of application
programming interfaces, or APIs, and other intégraivork, our solutions also integrate with mangypders of solutions in the ecosystem. We
will continue to selectively pursue such collabamas wherever they advance the strategic goalseotdbmpany, thereby expanding our reach
and establishing our product user interface asléhacto industry standard when it comes to hunereted enterprise data.

Continue International ExpansioklVe believe there is a significant opportunity for platform in international markets, encompassing
virtually any enterprise that uses file sharesaimets and email for collaboration. Revenues fromside the United States accounted for
approximately 44% of our revenues in 2014. Eur@peasented the substantial majority of revenuesidithe United States. We believe that
international expansion will be a key componenduf growth strategy and we will continue to mar&et products and services overseas.

Our Products

We offer six products, most of which utilize ouredetadata Framework technology to deliver feataed functionality that allow
enterprises to fully understand and benefit fromvtalue of their human-generated data. This arcthite easily extends through modular
functionalities giving our clients the flexibilityp select the features they require for their bessmeeds and the flexibility to expand their usac
simply by adding a license.

» DatAdvantageDatAdvantage, our flagship product, launched in&@ilds on our Metadata Framework and captuggregates,
normalizes and analyzes every data access eveendoy user on Windows and UNIX/Linux servers, atgr devices, email syste
and Intranet servers, without requiring native afiag system auditing functionalities or impactp&rformance or storage on file
systems. Through an intuitive graphical interfdgatAdvantage presents insights from massive volurhésiman-generated data
using normal computing infrastructure. It is also presentation layer for IT departments, whichvfites an interactive map of
relevant user, group, and data objects, usageartdrt, facilitating analysis from multiple vectofs departments can pinpoint
areas of interest starting with any metadata opgictulate changes measuring potential impact aghistorical access patterns,
and easily execute changes on all platforms thr@ughified interface

« DataPrivilege.DataPrivilege, also launched in 2006 and desigoedde by business unit personnel, provides asselfice web
portal that allows users to request access tordatassary for their business functions, and oweegsant access without IT
intervention. DataPrivilege also enables IT andrmss users to make access decisions based orgjueser requests and metadat:
analytics information, rather than static IT paei DataPrivilege provides a presentation layebésiness users to review
accessibility and usage of their data assets, eartt gnd revoke acce:
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» IDU Classification FrameworkAs the volume of an enterprise’s information groessterprises struggle to find and tag different
types of sensitive data, such as intellectual ptgpe=gulated content including Personally Idealife Information, and medical
records. Furthermore, content by itself does noviple adequate context to determine ownershipyaelee, or protection
requirements. Our IDU Classification Frameworkraduced in 2009, identifies and tags data basedtitaria set in multiple
metadata dimensions, and provides business andrEbpnel with actionable intelligence about thitadancluding a prioritized list
of folders and files containing the most sensitlata and with the most inadequate permissionstHeadentified folders and files.
also identifies who has access to that data, wheirg it, who owns it, and recommendations for howffectively limit access
without disrupting workflow. Our IDU Classificatidframework provides visibility into the contentdsta across file systems and
Intranets sites and combining it with other metadatcluding usage and accessibil

» Data Transport EngineWe introduced our Data Transport Engine softwar20ih? to provide an execution engine that unifies t
manipulation of data and metadata, translatingrass decisions and instructions into technical canda such as data migratior
archiving. Data Transport Engine allows both IT &odiness personnel to standardize and streandiindtias for data manageme
and retention, from day-to-day maintenance to cemplatform and domain migrations and archivingr Oata Transport Engine
ensures that data migrations automatically syndéheosource and destination data with incrementgyicg even if the source data
is still being used, translates access permissiorass platforms and domains and provides repocapa@bilities for data migration
status. Moreover, it also provides IT personneffiinability to schedule recurring migrations totamatically find and move certain
types of data such as sensitive or stale datatcaperform active migrations, dispositions, ancharicig safely and efficiently

« DatAnywhereWith the growth of cloud-based file sharing andd@ywonization services, enterprises increasinglg fastances
where employees save confidential, proprietaryeosiive company or client data onto third-partyadgharing services, either for
remote working purposes or to share with externaliess partners. This practice leads to an enHarmtuser mobile experience
but creates a new, often redundant data storedeutdicorporate visibility, oversight or controhdaposes a security and data loss
threat. We introduced DatAnywhere in 2012 in reggoto the need by enterprises for a secure andtease alternative to
consumer cloud-based file sharing solutions. Dat#msre provides our customers’ employees a moddlabooation, hybrideloud
experience using their existing storage infrastmecto leverage existing investments and in holetéopm expertise, and provides
users this experience using applications on thetvila devices. DatAnywhere allows users to searylesdlaborate with other
users that still use the same traditional commueriet file system shares via mapped drives orarsal naming convention paths.
It ensures that the shared data remains on figrsétvers and retains the approved access pernsssithout any need for data to
be moved from existing file shares or migrated y@prietary repository. DatAnywhere also seamiesgkegrates with the existing
backup policies, cache devices, distributed filtem, replication and existing data governancecanapliance technologies,
processes and policie

« DatAnswersAs employees continue to generate and store datanerous enterprise platforms, relevant files ey their
coworkers and predecessors create become harfiled ttnlike the internet, where powerful searclgiees make relevant web
information easy to find despite rapid growth, eptise file systems are frequently not searchablerbployees or IT. Though
enterprise search technologies exist, many ensagdo not own or use them to index human genedated for several reasons,
including performance (the index must be up to dtatee useful, requiring continual scanning for reewd changed content),
security (sensitive files that are not adequate$jricted become far easier for the wrong peopfath), relevance (when many files
contain the term or terms a searcher is lookingHey are not ranked or presented in a way thgtdhe likely to find the right files
and cost (enterprise search technologies requjrefisiant, ongoing investments in hardware andveaif¢). DatAnswers was
introduced in 2014 to provide secure, relevanttandly search functionality for human generatecad@apitalizing on the
Metadata Framework infrastructure and its analgbata access events, file system and directomjces metadata, DatAnswers
indexes files as they are created and changed wtitbquiring continual scanning, filters out resulsers shouldhsee based on tl
patented recommendations engine in DatAdvantagelasdification results found by the IDU Classifioa Framework, and ranks
results using analysis of data usage. DatAnswarsdd primarily for end user search and ediscopayjects.
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Our Customers

Our customer base has grown from approximatelycdsfomers at December 31, 2009 to more than 33§t@mers in more than 60
countries as of December 31, 2014. Our customeysgraatly in size ranging from small and mediunsibasses to large multinational
enterprises with thousands of employees and huadrei@rabytes of data. Moreover, we have customensss numerous industries and
geographies.

Services
Maintenance and Support

Our customers typically purchase one year of sowaaintenance and support as part of their iptimthase of our products, with an
option to renew. These maintenance agreementsdaraustomers the right to receive support and wifige upgrades and enhancements
when and if they become available during the mammtee period and access to our technical suppwites.

We maintain a customer support organization thawiges all levels of support to our customers. @ugstomers that purchase
maintenance and support services receive guarargspdnse times, direct telephonic support andsadeeonline support portals. Our
customer support organization has global capadslitvith expertise in both our software and complegnvironments and associated third-
party infrastructure.

Professional Services

While users can easily download, install and deplaysoftware on their own, certain enterprisesaiseprofessional service team to
provide fee-based services, which include traimingcustomers in the use of our products, provididgice on deployment planning, network
design, product configuration and implementatiaripmating and customizing reports and tuning pedicind configuration of our products for
the particular characteristics of the customer\@r@nment.

Sales and Marketing
Sales

We sell the vast majority of our products and smrsito a global network of several hundred reseied distributors that we refer to as
our channel partners. Our channel partners, in geththe products they purchase from us to custemlobally. In addition, we maintain a
highly trained professional sales force that ipoasible for overall market development, includihg management of the relationships with
our channel partners and supporting channel parinevinning customers through operating demoristratand evaluations. Our channel
partners identify potential sales targets, maintalationships with customers and introduce nevdpets to existing customers. Sales to our
channel partners are generally subject to our srahneon-exclusive channel partner agreement, mganir channel partners may offer
customers the products of several different comgmrlihese agreements are generally for a termeofear with a one year renewal term and
can be terminated by us or the channel partnearfgireason upon 30 days’ notice. A terminatiorhefdgreement has no effect on orders
already placed. Payment to us from the channehgais typically due within 30 — 90 calendar daf/the date we issue an invoice for such
sales.

Marketing

Our marketing strategy is focused on building aanid and product awareness, increasing custometiadand demand,
communicating advantages and business benefitgemetating leads for our channel partners and sades. We market our software as a
solution for specific use cases and as a solutohdman generated unstructured data. We executaanketing strategy by leveraging a
combination of internal marketing professionaldeexal marketing partners and a network of regiamal global channel partners. Our interna
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marketing organization is responsible for brandoantent generation and product marketing and waiits our business operations team to
support channel marketing and sales support pragréfe provide one on one and community educationeavareness and promote the
expanded use of our software. We host in-persoon/aiConnect! events annually across sales regésnsgll as free, online monthly or bi-
weekly technical webinars in multiple regions. Vdeuds our efforts on events, campaigns, tools atiditaes that can be leveraged by our
channel partners worldwide to extend our marketéagh, such as sales tools, information regardiadyet awards and technical certificatic
training, regional seminars and conferences, webiaad various other demand-generation activi@es.marketing efforts also include public
relations in multiple regions, extensive contentadepment available through our web site and cdrdgndication, and our active blog, “The
Metadata Era.”

Seasonality

See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and AnalysiEmancial Condition and Results of Operations ea®nality and Quarterly
Trends.”

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are focusathgly on improving and enhancing our existingguots and services, as well as
developing new products, features and functionalitse of our products has expanded from governamoaew areas such as accessibility
retention, and we anticipate that customers anoMiation will drive functionality into additional eas. We regularly release new versions o
products which incorporate new features and enlmeants to existing ones. We conduct substantiallgfalur research and development
activities in Israel, and we believe this providsswith access to world class engineering talent.

Our research and development expense was $28itrmif21.0 million and $15.0 million in 2014, 2048d 2012, respectively.

Intellectual Property

We rely on patent, trademark, copyright and tramteet laws, confidentiality procedures and contralgbrovisions to protect our
technology and the related intellectual propertye iature and extent of legal protection of ougliattual property rights depends on, among
other things, its type and the jurisdiction in whitarises. As of January 31, 2015, we had 1l&edqatents and 47 pending patent application
in the United States. We also had three patenisdsand 63 applications pending for examinatioman-U.S. jurisdictions, and 45 pending
Patent Cooperation Treaty patent applicationgfalthich are counterparts of our U.S. patent apgilims. Certain of our patents are owned by
our Israel subsidiary. The claims for which we hawaght patent protection relate primarily to invems we have developed for incorporation
into our products. We also license software froirdtparties for use in developing our products fordntegration into our products, including
open source software.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary realbgies and intellectual property rights, unauithent parties may attempt to copy
aspects of our products or obtain and use our sadeets or other confidential information. We galtg enter into confidentiality agreements
with our employees, consultants, service providezadors and customers and generally limit inteamal external access to, and distributiol
our proprietary information and proprietary tectogyl through certain procedural safeguards. Thesseatents may not effectively prevent
unauthorized use or disclosure of our intellecpraperty or technology and may not provide an adefjtemedy in the event of unauthorized
use or disclosure of our intellectual propertyamtinology. We cannot assure you that the steps takes will prevent misappropriation of our
trade secrets or technology or infringement ofiotellectual property. In addition, the laws of s®foreign countries do not protect our
proprietary rights to as great an extent as the lafahe United States, and many foreign countieesot enforce these laws as diligently as
government agencies and private parties in theedritates.

Our industry is characterized by the existence lafge number of relevant patents and frequentndaind related litigation regarding
patents and other intellectual property rights.nfrtone to time, thirdparties have asserted and may assert their patgyight, trademark ar
other intellectual property rights against us, cheinnel partners or customers. Successful clainmdrafgement or misappropriation by a third
party could prevent us from distributing certainguicts or performing certain services or could iequs to pay substantial damages
(including, for example, treble damages if we anenid to have willfully infringed patents and incsed statutory damages if we are found to
have willfully infringed copyrights), royalties @ther fees. Such claims also could require us &seenaking, licensing or using solutions that
are alleged to infringe or misappropriate the Iatg#lal property of others, or to expend additiad@lelopment resources to attempt to redesig
our products or services or otherwise to develapinéringing technology. Even if third parties maffer a license to their technology, the
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terms of any offered license may not be acceptaile the failure to obtain a license or the cost®aiated with any license could cause our
business, results of operations or financial ceonlito be materially and adversely affected. In eaases, we indemnify our customers and
distributors against claims that our products iigd the intellectual property of third parties.

Competition

While there are some companies which offer ceffetures similar to those embedded in our solutiagasvell as others with which we
compete in certain use cases, we believe that wetourrently compete with a company that offessame breadth of functionalities that we
offer in a single integrated solution. Nevertheless do compete against a select group of softwaneors, such as Symantec Corporation an
Dell Software (formerly Quest), that provide stdoda solutions, similar to those found in our coatpmsive software suite, in the specific
markets in which we operate. We also face direotpetition with respect to certain of our produstsecifically DatAnywhere, Data Transport
Engine, DatAnswers and DatAdvantage for Directaywies. In the future, as customer requirementd/evand new technologies are
introduced, we may experience increased compeiitiestablished or emerging companies develop solstthat address the human-generate
unstructured data market. Furthermore, becausepemte in a relatively new and evolving area, wicgrate that competition will increase
based on customer demand for these types of pmduct

A number of factors influence our ability to compét the markets in which we operate, includingheit limitation: the continued
reliability and effectiveness of our products’ ftinoalities; the breadth and completeness of olutiems’ features; the scalability of our
solutions; and the ease of deployment and usergiraducts. We believe that we generally competerfbly in each of these categories. We
also believe that we distinguish ourselves fronegtby delivering a single, integrated solutiomdaolress our customers’ needs regarding
access, governance, collaboration and retentidmnegtpect to their human-generated unstructuread @aere can, however, be no assurance
that we will remain unique in this capacity or tha will be able to compete favorably with otheoyiders in the future.

If a more established company were to target ouketawe may face significant competition. They nhaye competitive advantages,
such as greater name recognition, larger saleketiag, research and acquisition resources, atcodasger customer bases and channel
partners, a longer operating history and lower laml development costs, which may enable theragpand more quickly to new or emerg
technologies and changes in customer requirememtsvote greater resources to the development,gifomand sale of their products than
do. Increased competition could result in us fgilio attract customers or maintain licenses as#mee rate. It could also lead to price cuts,
alternative pricing structures or the introductafrproducts available for free or a nominal prieguced gross margins, longer sales cycles ar
loss of market share.

In addition, our current or prospective channetipens may establish cooperative relationships aity future competitors. These
relationships may allow future competitors to répighin significant market share. These developsieatild also limit our ability to generate
revenues from existing and new customers. If wauaeble to compete successfully against currenfanide competitors our business, results
of operations and financial condition may be harmed

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 840 employeesratependent contractors, of which 328 employeedratependent contractors were
in the United States, 292 were in Israel and 22@weother countries. None of our employees isaggnted by a labor union with respect to
his or her employment with us. Employees in cerainopean countries have the benefits of collediamgaining arrangements at the national
level. We have not experienced any work stoppagaswe consider our relations with our employedsetgood.
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Available Information

Our website is located at www.varonis.com, andiowestor relations website is located at httpyvdronis.com/. The information posted on oul
website is not incorporated into this Annual Remort~orm 10-K. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Qedy Reports on Form 10-Q, Current
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports ditdfdrnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 1&f(the Exchange Act are available free
of charge on our investor relations website as s@oreasonably practicable after we electronida#lysuch material with, or furnish it to, the
SEC. You may also access all of our public filitigough the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Furthegpy of this Annual Report on Form
10-K is located at the SEC’s Public Reference RabfD0 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Infttiam on the operation of the Public
Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SHE380-SEC-0330.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk. You should carefully consider the follaywrisks and all other informatio
contained herein, including our consolidated finmhstatements and the related notes thereto, legforesting in our common stock. The risks
and uncertainties described below are not the onlgs we face. Additional risks and uncertaintieg the are unaware of, or that we currently
believe are not material, also may become importactors that affect us. If any of the followingks materialize, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be maitgriharmed. In that case, the trading price of @@mmon stock could decline, and you may
lose some or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

The market for software that maps, analyzes, maragad migrates human-generated unstructured dataéw and unproven and may not
grow.

We believe our future success depends in largeopditie growth of the market for software that deslenterprises to map, analyze, manage
and migrate their human-generated, unstructureal tabrder for us to market and sell our produets must successfully demonstrate to
enterprise IT and business personnel the poteargiak of their human-generated data and persuade tin devote a portion of their budgets to
the single integrated solution that we offer to agay protect and extract value from this resouée cannot provide any assurance that
enterprises will recognize the need for our proslact if they do, that they will decide that theged a solution that offers the range of
functionalities that we offer. Software solutiolngtfised on human-generated unstructured data majenbé viewed as a necessity by
enterprises, and accordingly, our sales efforhisaill be focused in large part on explaining tied for, and value offered by, our solution.
We can provide no assurance that the market fosalution will continue to grow at its current rateat all. The failure of the market to
develop would materially adversely impact our ressaf operations.

Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuateshd may fluctuate significantly due to variabilityn our revenues which could adversely
impact our share price.

Our revenues and other results of operations Hagtufted from quarter to quarter in the past andd:continue to fluctuate in the future. Our
revenues depend in part on the conversion of engegpthat have installed an evaluation licens@torsoftware into paying customers. In this
regard, most of our sales are typically made dutliregast three weeks of every quarter. We maytdaiheet market expectations for that
quarter if we are unable to close the number ofsations that we expect during this short perimtl dosings are deferred to a subsequent
quarter. In addition, our sales cycle from initahtact to delivery of and payment for the softwarense generally becomes longer and less
predictable with respect to large transactionsafteh involves multiple meetings or consultatiohg aubstantial cost and time commitment to
us. Although we try to minimize the potential impa€large transactions on our quarterly resultepdrations, the closing of a large transac

in a particular quarter may make it more diffidiglt us to meet market expectations in subsequeartens and our failure to close a large
transaction may adversely impact our revenuegoarticular quarter. In addition, we base our cureevd future expense levels on our revenue
forecasts and operating plans, and our expenseslatiwely fixed in the short term. Accordinglyewvould likely not be able to reduce our
costs sufficiently to compensate for an unexpestegtfall in revenues and even a relatively smaedirdase in revenues could disproportion:
and adversely affect our financial results for tipa&rter. The variability and unpredictability bEse and other factors could result in our fai

to meet or exceed financial expectations for amgjyeriod.

The ability to attract, recruit and retain highly wplified engineers is critical to our success antbgth.

Our future success and growth depends, in pamuombility to continue to recruit and retain higskilled personnel, particularly engineers.
Any of our employees may terminate their employnareny time and competition for highly skilled @regring personnel is frequently
intense, especially in Israel, where we have atanbial presence and need for qualified engindéoseover, to the extent we hire personnel
from other companies, we may be subject to allegatthat they have been improperly solicited ouldjed proprietary or other confidential
information. If we are unable to attract or retgiralified engineers, our ability to innovate, imuce new products and compete would be
adversely impacted, and our financial condition eagiilts of operations may suffer.
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A failure to hire and integrate additional sales drmarketing personnel or maintain their productivitcould adversely affect our results
operations and growth prospects.

Our business requires intensive sales and markatitigities. Our sales and marketing personnekasential to attracting new customers and
expanding sales to existing customers, both of vhie key to our future growth. We face a numbarhafilenges in successfully expanding
sales force. We must locate and hire a significamiber of qualified individuals, and competitiom gach individuals is intense. In addition, as
we expand into new markets with which we have fassliarity, we will need to recruit individuals wehare multilingual or who have skills
particular to a certain geography, and it may Ifécdit to find candidates with those qualificateriWe may be unable to achieve our hiring or
integration goals due to a number of factors, idiclg, but not limited to, the number of individuae hire, challenges in finding individuals
with the correct background due to increased coitiqrefor such hires and increased attrition ratesng new hires. Furthermore, based ol
past experience, it often can take up to 18 mooéfisre a new sales force member is trained ancatipgrat a level that meets our
expectations. We invest significant time and resesiin training new members of our sales forcevemdhay be unable to achieve our target
performance levels with new sales personnel asllsaps we have done in the past due to larger nusrdfénires or lack of experience training
sales personnel to operate in new jurisdictions.f@ilure to hire a sufficient number of qualifiedividuals, or to integrate new sales force
members within the time periods we have achievstbhically, may materially impact our projected gtb rate.

If we fail to manage our rapid growth effectivelpur business and results of operations will be achedy affected

We have experienced rapid growth in a relativelyrsheriod of time. Our revenues grew from $53.4liam in 2012 to $101.3 million in 2014.
Our number of employees and independent contratorsased from 399 as of December 31, 2012 toca848f December 31, 2014. During
this period, we also established and expandedpenations in a number of countries outside theddhBtates. We intend to continue to grow
our business. For example, we plan to continuertorfew employees, particularly in our sales andketang and research and development
groups. If we cannot adequately train these new@&maps, including our sales force, software engmaad customer support staff, our sales
may not grow at the rates we project or our custermy lose confidence in the knowledge and caipabil our employees. In addition, we
are expanding our current operations, includingdditional countries where we have not previouslgt b presence, and we intend to make
direct and substantial investments to continueeapansion efforts. We must successfully managemwth to achieve our objectives.
Although our business has experienced significamivth in the past, we cannot provide any assurémeour business will continue to grow
the same rate, or at all.

Our ability to effectively manage any significambgth of our business will depend on a number ofdes, including our ability to do the
following:

. effectively recruit, integrate, train and metig a large number of new employees, includingsales force and engineers,
while retaining existing employees, maintaining blemeficial aspects of our corporate culture afecéfely executing our
business plar

. satisfy existing customers and attract new custsy

. effectively manage existing channel partnershigsexpand to new one

. successfully introduce new products and enhancesy

. improve our key business applications and processasgpport our business nee

. enhance information and communication systenensure that our employees and offices around/til are well-
coordinated and can effectively communicate wittheather and our growing customer bz

. enhance our internal controls to ensure timelyaowlirate reporting of all of our operations andificial results
. protect and further develop our strategic assetdding our intellectual property rights; a

. make sound business decisions in light of the Bgratssociated with operating as a public comp
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These activities will require significant investntieand allocation of valuable management and eneplogsources, and our growth will
continue to place significant demands on our mam&ge and our operational and financial infrastreetThere are no guarantees we will be
able to grow our business in an efficient or timelgnner, or at all. Moreover, if we do not effeetiwmanage the growth of our business and
operations, the quality of our software could syffehich could negatively affect our brand, resoft®perations and overall business.

Ouir failure to continually enhance and improve odnuman-generated unstructured data technology coaldversely affect sales of our
products.

The market is characterized by the exponential gromwhumangenerated unstructured data, rapid technologicalrazks, changes in custon
requirements, including customer requirements driwe changes to legal, regulatory and self-regeyatompliance mandates, frequent new
product introductions and enhancements and evoliwithgstry standards in computer hardware and softtethnology. As a result, we must
continually change and improve our products in oasp to changes in operating systems, applicatiftware, computer and communications
hardware, networking software, data center archites, programming tools and computer languagentdogy. Moreover, the technology in
our products is especially complex because it needffectively identify and respond to a user'sada@tention, security and governance need:
while minimizing the impact on database and filsteyn performance. Our products must also succéssitéroperate with products from
other vendors.

We cannot guarantee that we will be able to ardieifuture market needs and opportunities or be abéxtend our technological expertise
develop new products or expand the functionalitpuf current products in a timely manner or atEllen if we are able to anticipate, develop
and introduce new products and expand the fundttgred our current products, there can be no amsce that enhancements or new products
will achieve widespread market acceptance.

Our product enhancements or new products coulddaittain sufficient market acceptance for marasoms, including:

. failure to accurately predict market demantkims of product functionality and to supply proguhiat meet this demand in
a timely fashion

. inability to interoperate effectively with the datesse technologies and file systems of prospectistomers
. defects, errors or failure
. negative publicity or customer complaints aboufgenance or effectiveness; a
. poor business conditions, causing customers ty délpurchases
If we fail to anticipate market requirements orysahreast of technological changes, we may be artatduccessfully introduce new products,

expand the functionality of our current productsonvince our customers and potential custometiseofalue of our solutions in light of new
technologies. Accordingly, our business, resultspdrations and financial condition could be mathriand adversely affected.

We are dependent on the continued services andgreréince of our two founders, the loss of eitherwliom could adversely affect our
business.

Our future performance depends on the continuedcgsrand continuing contributions of our two foarg] Yakov Faitelson, our Chief
Executive Officer and President, and Ohad Korkus,Ghief Technology Officer, to execute on our bess plan and to identify and pursue
new opportunities and product innovations. The tfsservices of either of Mr. Faitelson or Mr. Kagkcould significantly delay or prevent the
achievement of our development and strategic dbgstWe carry key-man insurance on Mr. Faitelsweh Mr. Korkus; however, the amount
of any such insurance would likely be insufficismcompensate for the impact of losing their sawic
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We may face increased competition in our market.

While there are some companies which offer cefsatures similar to those imbedded in our solutiasswell as others with whom we
compete in certain tactical use cases, we bell@atevte do not currently compete with a company dffers the same breadth of functionalities
that we offer in a single integrated solution. Ngleless, we do compete against a select groupfisiare vendors that provide standalone
solutions, similar to those found in our compreliamsoftware suite, in the specific markets in whiee operate. We also face direct
competition with respect to certain of our produstgecifically DatAnywhere, Data Transport EngibatAnswers and DatAdvantage for
Directory Services. In the future, as customer ireguents evolve and new technologies are introdusednay experience increased
competition if established or emerging companiegtip solutions that address the human-generatgiduatured data market. Furthermore,
because we operate in a relatively new and evolaierg, we anticipate that competition will increbased on customer demand for these type
of products.

In particular, if a more established company wertatget our market, we may face significant coritipaet They may have competitive
advantages, such as greater name recognitiony lsatgs, marketing, research and acquisition ressuaccess to larger customer bases and
channel partners, a longer operating history angtdabor and development costs, which may endlglmtto respond more quickly to new or
emerging technologies and changes in customerrgggants or devote greater resources to the developpromotion and sale of their
products than we do. Increased competition cowddltén us failing to attract customers or mainfi@enses at the same rate. It could also lea
to price cuts, alternative pricing structures @ iffitroduction of products available for free araminal price, reduced gross margins, longer
sales cycles and loss of market share.

In addition, our current or prospective channetiqens may establish cooperative relationships aith future competitors. These relationships
may allow future competitors to rapidly gain sigréint market share. These developments could iatstodur ability to obtain revenues from
existing and new customers.

Our ability to compete successfully in our markét also depend on a number of factors, includiageeand speed of product deployment anc
use, the quality and reliability of our customenvege and support, total cost of ownership, retmrinvestment and brand recognition. Any
failure by us to successfully address current turucompetition in any one of these or other areag reduce the demand for our products an
adversely affect our business, results of operat#ormd financial condition.

We have a history of losses, and we may not beiaole in the future.

We have incurred net losses in each year sincenoeption, including net losses of $19.4 millio@,% million and $4.8 million in the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respsctBetause the market for our software is rapidigheéng and has not yet reached
widespread adoption, it is difficult for us to pietcbur future results of operations. We expectapgrating expenses to increase over the next
several years as we hire additional personnelicodatly in sales and marketing and research andldpment groups, expand and improve the
effectiveness of our distribution channels, andtiome to develop features and applications forsmftware.

We have a limited operating history, which makedglifficult to evaluate and predict our future proggts and may increase the risk that we
will not be successful.

We were established in 2004 and have a short fisfperating our business. This limited operatirsgdriy, as well as the early stage of our
relationships with many of our channel partners @amtomers, makes financial forecasting and evialuaif our business difficult. We also
operate in a new and growing market that may ne¢ld@ as expected. Because we depend in part andhieets acceptance of our product:

is difficult to evaluate trends that may affect duisiness. If our assumptions regarding these ¢rand uncertainties, which we use to plan our
business, are incorrect or change in reaction amgés in the market, our operating and financi&llte could differ materially from our
expectations and our business could suffer.
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Our future success will depend in large part onatility to, among other things:

. maintain and expand our business, includingcostomer base and operations, to support our rdwth domestically and
internationally;

. develop new products and services and bring predudd services in beta to mark
. renew maintenance and support agreements withselhddditional products to, existing custom:
. hire, integrate, train and retain skilled talentluding members of our sales force and softwagineers; anc

. maintain compliance with applicable governmerggulations and other legal obligations, inclglthose related to
intellectual property, international sales and tiaxa

If we fail to address these and other risks anficdities, our business will be adversely affecéed our business, operations and financial
results will suffer.

Prolonged economic uncertainties or downturns coutthterially adversely affect our busines

Our business depends on our current and prospextstemers’ ability and willingness to invest moneynformation technology services,
which in turn is dependent upon their overall ecoitohealth. Negative conditions in the general eooy both in the United States and abrc
including conditions resulting from financial anekdit market fluctuations and terrorist attackgtoa United States, Europe, Asia Pacific or
elsewhere, could cause a decrease in corporatdiagesn enterprise software in general.

Continuing uncertainty in the global economy, matarly in Europe, which accounted for approximatahe-third of our revenues in 2014,
makes it extremely difficult for our customers argito forecast and plan future business activteesirately, and could cause our customers t
reevaluate decisions to purchase our product delay their purchasing decisions, which could laegtour sales cycles.

We have a significant number of customers in tharftial services, the public sector and the healéhand industrial industries. A substantial
downturn in any of these industries, or a reduciiopublic sector spending, may cause enterprsesact to worsening conditions by reducing
their capital expenditures in general or by spealfy reducing their spending on information tedioagy. Customers may delay or cancel
information technology projects, choose to focusmhouse development efforts or seek to lowertbests by renegotiating maintenance and
support agreements. To the extent purchases ofksefor our software are perceived by custometgatential customers to be discretionary
our revenues may be disproportionately affectedddgtys or reductions in general information tecbgglspending. In addition, the increased
pace of consolidation in certain industries maylhtaa reduced overall spending on our softwargh& economic conditions of the general
economy or industries in which we operate worsemfpresent levels, our business, results of omeratnd financial condition could be
adversely affected.

If we are unable to maintain successful relationgs with our channel partners, our business could ddversely affectec

We rely on channel partners, such as distributemingrs and resellers, to sell licenses and suppdrmaintenance agreements for our
software. In 2014, our channel partners fulfilled vast majority of our sales, and we expect thigisso channel partners will continue to
account for a substantial portion of our revenweste foreseeable future. Our ability to achiesxenue growth in the future will depend in
part on our success in maintaining successfulioglghips with our channel partners.

Our agreements with our channel partners are génamm-exclusive, meaning our channel partners wfégr customers the products of
several different companies. If our channel pagmr not effectively market and sell our softwateose to use greater efforts to market and
sell their own products or those of others, ortiineet the needs of our customers, our abiliggréav our business, sell our software and
maintain our reputation may be adversely affedBagt. contracts with our channel partners generdlibnathem to terminate their agreements
for
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any reason upon 30 days’ notice. A terminatiorhefagreement has no effect on orders already platedoss of a substantial number of our
channel partners, our possible inability to repldoesn, or the failure to recruit additional chanpattners could materially and adversely affect
our results of operations. If we are unable to ta@nour relationships with these channel partraus business, results of operations, financia
condition or cash flows could be adversely affected

If our technical support or professional serviceseanot satisfactory to our customers, they may neew their maintenance and suppc
agreements or buy future products, which could atsaly affect our future results of operations.

Our business relies on our customeiaisfaction with the technical support and pratess services we provide to support our produdthile
substantially all of our software is sold undergetual license agreements, all of our maintenandesapport agreements are sold on a term
basis. Our customers typically purchase one yeaoftfvare maintenance and support as part of ihigal purchase of our products, with an
option to renew their maintenance agreements.dardor us to maintain and improve our resultsgérations, it is important that our existing
customers renew their maintenance and supportmgras when the contract term expires. For exanopliemaintenance renewal rate for eact
of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and®#84 2ver 90%, and maintenance and service revdravesincreased as a percentage of
our revenues in each of such years.

If we fail to provide technical support serviceatthre responsive, satisfy our customers’ expectaitand resolve issues that they encounter
with our products and services, then they may e@letto purchase or renew annual maintenance gqbsiucontracts and they may choose ng
to purchase additional products and services frenAacordingly, our failure to provide satisfactaeghnical support or professional services
could lead our customers not to renew their agregsneith us or renew on terms less favorable t@aod,therefore have a material and advers
effect on our business and results of operations.

Because we derive substantially all of our revenaesl cash flows from sales of licenses for a singlatform of products, failure of the
products in the platform to satisfy customers ordohieve increased market acceptance would advgra#fect our business

In 2014, we generated substantially all of our nexss from sales of licenses for our platform ofduieis that encompasses four of our current
products, DatAdvantage, DataPrivilege, IDU Clasatfion Framework and Data Transport Engine. We @xpecontinue to derive a majority
of our revenues from license sales relating topkagform in the future. As such, market acceptasfdbis platform of products is critical to our
continued success. Demand for licenses for oufgpratof products is affected by a number of fagtsmne of which are outside of our cont
including continued market acceptance of our saiviy referenceable accounts for existing and neswcases, technological change and
growth or contraction in our market. We expectphaiferation of unstructured data to lead to aréase in the data analysis demands, and
data security and retention concerns, of our custepand our software, including the software ulyiteg our platform of products, may not be
able to scale and perform to meet those demands #re unable to continue to meet customer demamtsachieve more widespread market
acceptance of our software, our business, opegtforancial results and growth prospects will kegenially and adversely affected.

Failure to protect our proprietary technology andtellectual property rights could substantially har our business.

The success of our business depends on our dbildiptain, protect and enforce our trade secnetdetmarks, copyrights, patents and other
intellectual property rights. We attempt to proteat intellectual property under patent, trademedgyrights and trade secret laws, and thr
a combination of confidentiality procedures, coatual provisions and other methods, all of whicteobnly limited protection.

As of January 31, 2015, we had 16 issued paterteitnited States and 47 pending U.S. patent@ijiins. We also had three patents issuet
and 63 applications pending for examination in kb8- jurisdictions, and 45 pending Patent Coopemnafireaty patent applications, all of
which are counterparts of our U.S. patent appliceti We may file additional patent applicationshia future. The process of obtaining patent
protection is expensive and time-consuming, ananag not be able to prosecute all necessary oratdsipatent applications at
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a reasonable cost or in a timely manner all the tiegugh to the successful issuance of a patentmaiechoose not to seek patent protection
for certain innovations and may choose not to prigtent protection in certain jurisdictions. Farthore, it is possible that our patent
applications may not issue as granted patentstiibatcope of our issued patents will be insuffit@ not have the coverage originally sought,
that our issued patents will not provide us witly aompetitive advantages, and that our patentthet intellectual property rights may be
challenged by others or invalidated through adriaive process or litigation. In addition, issuard a patent does not guarantee that we ha
an absolute right to practice the patented invent@ur policy is to require our employees (andaansultants and service providers that
develop intellectual property included in our proti) to execute written agreements in which theygasto us their rights in potential
inventions and other intellectual property creattthin the scope of their employment (or, with respto consultants and service providers,
their engagement to develop such intellectual ptypebut we cannot assure you that we have adelyuattotected our rights in every such
agreement or that we have executed an agreemdnéewdty such party. Finally, in order to benefinfr patent and other intellectual property
protection, we must monitor, detect and pursuérigément claims in certain circumstances in releyasdictions, all of which is costly and
time-consuming. As a result, we may not be ablebtain adequate protection or to enforce our ispagents or other intellectual property
effectively.

In addition to patented technology, we rely on epatented proprietary technology and trade seddetspite our efforts to protect our
proprietary technologies and our intellectual propaghts, unauthorized parties, including our émgpes, consultants, service providers or
customers, may attempt to copy aspects of our pitedu obtain and use our trade secrets or otherdemtial information. We generally enter
into confidentiality agreements with our employemmsultants, service providers, vendors, chanaehprs and customers, and generally limi
access to and distribution of our proprietary infation and proprietary technology through certaocpdural safeguards. These agreements
may not effectively prevent unauthorized use ocldisure of our intellectual property or technol@md may not provide an adequate remec
the event of unauthorized use or disclosure ofirtetlectual property or technology. We cannot assu that the steps taken by us will
prevent misappropriation of our trade secrets dmrelogy or infringement of our intellectual profyedn addition, the laws of some foreign
countries where we operate do not protect our petay rights to as great an extent as the lawkefJnited States, and many foreign coun
do not enforce these laws as diligently as govermragencies and private parties in the United State

Moreover, industries in which we operate, suchaia decurity, data retention and data governarmcetaracterized by the existence of a large
number of relevant patents and frequent claimsraladied litigation regarding patent and other iettlbal property rights. From time to time,
third parties have asserted and may assert thiginpp@opyright, trademark and other intellectualperty rights against us, our channel part
or our customers. Successful claims of infringenmenmhisappropriation by a third party could prevestrom distributing certain products or
performing certain services or could require updg substantial damages (including, for exampéhlérdamages if we are found to have
willfully infringed patents and increased statutdgmages if we are found to have willfully infrirdgeopyrights), royalties or other fees. Such
claims also could require us to cease making, $icgnor using solutions that are alleged to infeimy misappropriate the intellectual property
of others or to expend additional development recsEsuto attempt to redesign our products or sesvicetherwise to develop non-infringing
technology. Even if third parties may offer a liserto their technology, the terms of any offeredrise may not be acceptable, and the failure
to obtain a license or the costs associated wigtlieense could cause our business, results ofatipes or financial condition to be materially
and adversely affected. In some cases, we indernifghannel partners and customers against ctaia®ur products infringe the intellect:
property of third parties. Defending against clamhinfringement or being deemed to be infringihg tntellectual property rights of others
could impair our ability to innovate, develop, distite and sell our current and planned productssanvices. If we are unable to protect our
intellectual property rights and ensure that werareviolating the intellectual property rightsathers, we may find ourselves at a competitive
disadvantage to others who need not incur theiadditexpense, time and effort required to crelateninovative products that have enabled u
to be successful to date.
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Interruptions or performance problems associatedhvour website or support website may adverselgeifour business

Our continued growth depends in part on the ahilftgur existing and potential customers to quicktgess our website and support website.
Access to our support website is also imperativeutodaily operations and interaction with custosnes it allows customers to download our
software, fixes and patches, as well as open apbnel to support tickets and register license kaysvaluation or production purposes. We
have experienced, and may in the future experiemebsite disruptions, outages and other performprmglems due to a variety of factors,
including natural disasters, infrastructure chanbasan or software errors, capacity constraingstdwan overwhelming number of users
accessing our website simultaneously and denis¢éofice or fraud or security attacks. In some imsa&, we may not be able to identify the
cause or causes of these website performance prsbigthin an acceptable period of time. It may eeadncreasingly difficult to maintain al
improve the performance of our websites, especihllyng peak usage times and as our software bexoroee complex and our user traffic
increases. If our websites are unavailable oriifusers are unable to download our software, patohéxes within a reasonable amount of
time or at all, we may suffer reputational harm and business would be negatively affected.

Real or perceived errors, failures or bugs in ousfavare could adversely affect our growth prospet

Because our software uses complex technology, actet errors, failures or bugs may occur. Our saritvis often installed and used in a
variety of computing environments with differentepgting system management software, and equipmemetworking configurations, which
may cause errors or failures of our software oe#spects of the computing environment into whtichdeployed. In addition, deployment of
our software into computing environments may exposgetected errors, compatibility issues, failuebugs in our software. Despite testing
by us, errors, failures or bugs may not be founounsoftware until it is released to our custombtsreover, our customers could incorrectly
implement or inadvertently misuse our software,clitgould result in customer dissatisfaction andeasizly impact the perceived utility of our
products as well as our brand. Any of these regkoceived errors, compatibility issues, failure®ugs in our software could result in nega
publicity, reputational harm, loss of or delay ianket acceptance of our software, loss of competjtosition or claims by customers for los
sustained by them. In such an event, we may béregtjor may choose, for customer relations ormoteasons, to expend additional resource:
in order to help correct the problem.

If our software is perceived as not being securesibmers may reduce the use of or stop using outveare, and we may incur significar
liabilities.

Our software involves the transmission of data lbetwdata stores, and between data stores and pleskdtenobile computers, and may in the
future involve the storage of data. Any securitgdwhes with respect to such data could resulteitogs of this information, litigation,
indemnity obligations and other liabilities. Whike have taken steps to protect the confidentiarimétion that we have access to, including
confidential information we may obtain through customer support services or customer usage gfroglucts, we have no direct control o
the substance of the content. Therefore, if custemge our software for the transmission of perbpidentifiable information and our securi
measures are breached as a result of ffartl action, employee error, malfeasance or otiservour reputation could be damaged, our bus
may suffer and we could incur significant liabiligecause techniques used to obtain unauthorizz=mssor sabotage systems change
frequently and generally are not identified urtigy are launched against a target, we may be ut@hbigticipate these techniques or to
implement adequate preventative measures. Whilmaietain insurance coverage for some of the abweats, the potential liabilities
associated with these events could exceed theainsercoverage we maintain. Any or all of thesedssiould tarnish our reputation, negatively
impact our ability to attract new customers or a€lfiitional products to our existing customers seaexisting customers to elect not to renew
their maintenance and support agreements or sulgetctthird-party lawsuits, regulatory fines dnextaction or liability, thereby adversely
affecting our results of operations.

We are subject to federal, state and industry pdyand data security regulations, which could resinl additional costs and liabilities to us
or inhibit sales of our software.

Although our software does not transmit our custm@ata to us, we collect and utilize demogragtrid other information, including
personally identifiable information, from and abasers (such as customers, potential customersthercs) as they interact with us over the
internet and otherwise provide us with informatidnether via our website or blog or through emaibthrer means. Users may provide pers
information to us in many
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contexts, including through our direct telephonipgort service, blog alert sigip, product purchase, survey registration, or wdessing ol
online support portals or using other communitgacial networking features. Because we may co#ledtutilize this information, we are
subject to laws and regulations regarding the ctila, use and disclosure of personal informatiorihe United States, these include rules an
regulations promulgated under the authority offederal Trade Commission, the Health InsuranceabBitity and Accountability Act of 1996,
and state breach notification laws. Internationallytually every jurisdiction in which we operatas established its own data security and
privacy legal framework with which we or our custens must comply, including the Data Protection Eline established in the European
Union and the Federal Data Protection Act recantlylemented in Germany.

Further, the regulatory framework for privacy issueorldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely torain uncertain for the foreseeable future.
Many federal, state and foreign government bodiesaaencies have adopted or are considering addptive and regulations. In addition,
privacy advocates and industry groups may propeseand different self-regulatory standards thdtezitegally or contractually apply to us.
Because the interpretation and application of gshvand data protection laws are still uncertaiis fiossible that these laws may be interprete
and applied in a manner that is inconsistent withexisting data management practices or the featnifr our software. If so, in addition to the
possibility of fines, lawsuits and other claims, @gild be required to fundamentally change ourrmss activities and practices or modify our
software, which could have an adverse effect orbasmess. Any inability to adequately addressgmyvconcerns, even if unfounded, or
comply with applicable privacy or data protectiaws, regulations and policies, could result in addal cost and liability to us, damage our
reputation, inhibit sales and adversely affectlmusiness.

Our use of open source software could negativelieaf our ability to sell our software and subjecs @o possible litigation.

We use open source software and expect to contiinuge open source software in the future. Soma eperce software licenses require user
who distribute open source software as part of th&n software product to publicly disclose allpart of the source code to such software
product or to make available any derivative workthe open source code on unfavorable terms oo abst. We may face ownership claims of
third parties over, or seeking to enforce the Iggeterms applicable to, such open source softwatieding by demanding the release of the
open source software, derivative works or our getary source code that was developed using sutlvase. These claims could also result in
litigation, require us to purchase a costly liceaseequire us to devote additional research andldpment resources to change our software,
any of which would have a negative effect on owibess and results of operations. In additiorhéflicense terms for the open source code
change, we may be forced to re-engineer our softwamcur additional costs. Finally, we cannouassgou that we have incorporated open
source software into our own software in a manhat ¢conforms with our current policies and procedur

Our business is highly dependent upon our brand egaition and reputation, and the failure to maintaior enhance our brand recognition
or reputation may adversely affect our business.

We believe that enhancing the “Varonis” brand idgr&nd maintaining our reputation in the infornaatitechnology industry is critical to our
relationships with our customers and to our abtfitattract new customers. Our brand recognitiahraputation is dependent upon:

. our ability to continue to offer hi¢-quality, innovative and err- and burfree products
. our ability to maintain customer satisfaction watlr products

. our ability to be responsive to customer conse@mnd provide high quality customer support, tngirand professional
services

. our marketing efforts

. any misuse or perceived misuse of our prodt

. positive or negative publicity

. interruptions, delays or attacks on our website;

. litigation or regulator-related development
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We may not be able to successfully promote ourdmammaintain our reputation. In addition, indepemidindustry analysts often provide
reviews of our products, as well as other prodagtslable in the market, and perception of our poddh the marketplace may be significantly
influenced by these reviews. If these reviews &gative, or less positive than reviews about gpineducts available in the market, our brand
may be adversely affected. Furthermore, negatibdigty relating to events or activities attributemus, our employees, our channel partne
others associated with any of these parties, nmajstaour reputation and reduce the value of oanttr Damage to our reputation and loss of
brand equity may reduce demand for our productshand an adverse effect on our business, resutiperfitions and financial condition. Any
attempts to rebuild our reputation and restorevtiiee of our brand may be costly and time consupang such efforts may not ultimately be
successful.

Moreover, it may be difficult to enhance our braamdl maintain our reputation in connection with satechannel partners. Promoting our
brand requires us to make substantial expenditarebywe anticipate that the expenditures will insgeas our market becomes more
competitive, as we expand into new markets and iggbies and as more sales are generated to ounelhzartners. To the extent that these
activities yield increased revenues, these revemagsnot offset the increased expenses we incure lfio not successfully enhance our brand
and maintain our reputation, our business may rmtgwe may have reduced pricing power relativedmpetitors with stronger brands, and
we could lose customers, all of which would advigraffect our business, operations and financislits.

Our long-term growth depends, in part, on being alib continue to expand internationally on a prddible basis, which subjects us to risks
associated with conducting international operatians

Historically, we have generated a majority of cewanues from customers in the United States. |4 28dproximately 56% of our total
revenues were derived from sales in the UnitedeSidMevertheless, we have operations across the,glod we plan to continue to expand ou
international operations as part of our growthteggg. The further expansion of our internationatrggpions will subject us to a variety of risks
and challenges, including:

. sales and customer service challenges associatie@mérating in different countrie

. increased management, travel, infrastructucelegal compliance costs associated with havingipielinternational
operations

. difficulties in receiving payments from differegeographies, including difficulties associatathweurrency fluctuations,
payment cycles, transfer of funds or collectingoacts receivable, especially in emerging mark

. variations in economic or political conditions beem each country or regic

. economic uncertainty around the world and aslveffects arising from economic interdependeraiesss countries and
regions;

. compliance with foreign laws and regulations araribks and costs of n-compliance with such laws and regulatic

. compliance with laws and regulations for fore@perations, including the U.S. Foreign Corruggdtces Act of 1977, or the
FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, import and expoontrol laws, tariffs, trade barriers, economsamctions and other
regulatory or contractual limitations on our akilib sell our software in certain foreign marketsd the risks and costs of
nor-compliance

. heightened risks of unfair or corrupt busingsctices in certain geographies and of impropdraardulent sales
arrangements that may impact financial resultsrasdlt in restatements of financial statementsiaedularities in financial
statements

. reduced protection for intellectual properghts in certain countries and practical difficudtend costs of enforcing rights
abroad; ant

. compliance with the laws of numerous foreign taXimisdictions and overlapping of different tax iregs.
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Any of these risks could adversely affect our in&ional operations, reduce our revenues from @eitsie United States or increase our
operating costs, adversely affecting our businessilts of operations and financial condition amalngh prospects. There can be no assurance
that all of our employees, independent contracaschannel partners will comply with the formaligies we have and will implement, or
applicable laws and regulations. Violations of lawskey control policies by our employees, indemardontractors and channel partners ¢
result in delays in revenue recognition, financggdorting misstatements, fines, penalties or tiodipition of the importation or exportation of
our software and services and could have a mataiarse effect on our business and results oatipas.

Significant changes in the contracting or fiscal ficies of the public sector, or our failure to corhpwith certain laws or regulations, coul
have a material adverse effect on the business weavith the public sector.

We derive a portion of our revenues from governmantd government-owned or -controlled entitiesi{ag public health care bodies,
educational institutions and utilities), which wefar to as the public sector herein, and we belieaethe success and growth of our business
will continue to depend on our successful procur@noé public sector contracts. Factors that conigede our ability to maintain or increase
the amount of revenues derived from public seatotracts include:

. changes in public sector fiscal or contracting gief;

. decreases in available public sector fund

. changes in public sector programs or applicablairements

. the adoption of new laws or regulations or charigesisting laws or regulation

. potential delays or changes in the public sectpr@griations or other funding authorization proesssanc

. delays in the payment of our invoices by publidsepayment offices

Furthermore, we must comply with laws and regutaticelating to public sector contracting, whicteatfhow we and our channel partners do
business in both the United States and abroad eTlaes and regulations may impose added costs obusiness, and failure to comply with
these or other applicable regulations and requintsnéncluding non-compliance in the past, coulttlléo claims for damages from our channe
partners, penalties, termination of contracts, tengporary suspension or permanent debarment frdoficggector contracting.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could cqus#ic sector customers to delay or refrain fromcpasing licenses of our software in the
future or otherwise have an adverse effect on asiness, operations and financial results.

We are subject to governmental export and imporhtols that could subject us to liability or impaiur ability to compete in international
markets.

We incorporate encryption technology into certdiowr products and these products are subject$o ékport control. We are also subject to
Israeli export controls on encryption technologycsi our product development initiatives are pritlganonducted by our wholly-owned Israeli
subsidiary. We have obtained the required licetsesport our products outside of the United Stdteaddition, the current encryption means
used in our products are listed in the “free meangyption items” published by the Israeli MinistrfyDefense, which means we are exempt
from obtaining an encryption control license. I¢ thpplicable U.S. or Israeli legal requirementsarding the export of encryption technology
were to change or if we change the encryption mewaaar products, we may need to apply for newngss in the United States and may no
longer be able to rely on our licensing exceptiotsrael. There can be no assurance that we wdbleto obtain the required licenses under
these circumstances. Furthermore, various othartdes regulate the import of certain encryptiochtelogy, including import permitting and
licensing requirements, and have enacted lawscthdd limit our ability to distribute our produats could limit our customers’ ability to
implement our products in those countries.
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We are also subject to U.S. and Israeli exportroband economic sanctions laws, which prohibitshgasment of certain products to
embargoed or sanctioned countries, governmentparsdns. Our products could be exported to thesetisaed targets by our channel
partners despite the contractual undertakings ltl@g given us and any such export could have negetinsequences, including government
investigations, penalties and reputational harmy émange in export or import regulations, econosaigctions or related legislation, shift in
enforcement or scope of existing regulations, @ngfe in the countries, governments, persons ontéadies targeted by such regulations,
could result in decreased use of our products biyy our decreased ability to export or sell owdarcts to, existing or potential customers with
international operations. Any decreased use opoaducts or limitation on our ability to export ®¢ll our products would likely adversely
affect our business, financial condition and resaftoperations.

Our business in countries with a history of corriph and transactions with foreign governments in@se the risks associated with our
international activities.

As we operate and sell internationally, we areetttfo the FCPA and other laws that prohibit imgropayments or offers of payments to
foreign governments and their officials and patitiparties for the purpose of obtaining or retagrfusiness. We have operations, deal with
make sales to governmental customers in countrie®k to experience corruption, particularly certamerging countries in Eastern Europe,
South and Central America, East Asia, Africa arelétiddle East. Our activities in these countriezate the risk of unauthorized payments or
offers of payments by one of our employees, coastgdt channel partners or sales agents that cedild\dolation of various anti-corruption
laws, even though these parties may not be undezamirol. While we have implemented safeguardsréwent these practices by our
employees, consultants, channel partners and agdéads, our existing safeguards and any futureduggnents may prove to be less than
effective, and our employees, consultants, chgmeuhers or sales agents may engage in conduettich we might be held responsible.
Violations of the FCPA may result in severe crinhiocivil sanctions, including suspension or debant from U.S. government contracting,
and we may be subject to other liabilities, whiclild negatively affect our business, operatingltesnd financial condition.

If currency exchange rates fluctuate substantially the future, our results of operations, which areported in U.S. dollars, could t
adversely affected.

Our functional and reporting currency is the U.8llat, and we generate a majority of our revenubsiacur a majority of our expenses in U.S.
dollars. Revenues and expenses are also incuri@ten currencies, primarily Euros, the Poundsli@tgrCanadian dollar and New Israeli
Shekels, or NIS. Accordingly, changes in exchamgesrmay have a material adverse effect on ounéssi results of operations and financial
condition. The exchange rates between the U.Sadafld foreign currencies have fluctuated substiintn recent years and may continue to
fluctuate substantially in the future. Furtherm@etrengthening of the U.S. dollar could incraagecost in local currency of our software to
customers outside the United States, which coweémely affect our business, results of operatibnancial condition and cash flows. We
incur expenses for employee compensation and offerating expenses at our non-U.S. locations itotted currencies. The weakening of the
U.S. dollar against such currencies would causelttiar equivalent of such expenses to increasis. dduld have a negative impact on our
reported results of operations. We use forwardiorexchange contracts to hedge or mitigate thecetif changes in foreign exchange rate
our operating expenses denominated in certaingoreirrencies. However, this strategy might nohilate our exposure to foreign exchange
rate fluctuations and involves costs and riskgobwn, such as cash expenditures, ongoing manageime and expertise, external costs to
implement the strategy and potential accountingiocapons. Additionally, our hedging activities magntribute to increased losses as a resull
of volatility in foreign currency markets.
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Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands and other tax attributes may be limited if wadergo an “ownership change.”

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss cdonvards (“NOLs”) and other tax attributes couldlimeited if we undergo an “ownership
change” within the meaning of Section 382 of thiednal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Gafle"ownership change is generally
defined as a greater than 50 percentage pointaseria equity ownership by 5% stockholders in &nged-year period. If an ownership change
occurred as a result of future equity issuancesnas not be able to fully realize the benefitstafse NOLs. Also, the cash tax benefit from
NOLs is dependent upon our ability to generateicefit taxable income. Accordingly, we may be ueabl earn enough taxable income

order to fully utilize our current NOLs.

Changes in our provision for income taxes or adversutcomes resulting from examination of our incontex returns could adversely affect
our results.

We are subject to income taxation in the UnitedeStasrael and numerous other jurisdictions. Deiteing our provision for income taxes
requires significant management judgment. In adldjtour provision for income taxes could be advgraffected by many factors, including,
among other things, changes to our operating streicthanges in the amounts of earnings in juriiedis with different statutory tax rates,
changes in the valuation of deferred tax assetdialpitities and changes in tax laws. We are sultffgongoing tax examinations in various
jurisdictions. Tax authorities may disagree with mtercompany charges, cr-jurisdictional transfer pricing or other mattersdaassess
additional taxes. While we regularly evaluate ikely outcomes of these examinations to deterntieeatdequacy of our provision for income
taxes, there can be no assurance that the outaafreash examinations will not have a material impacour results of operations and cash
flows. In addition, we may be audited in variousgdictions, and such jurisdictions may assesstiaail taxes against us. Although we beli
our tax estimates are reasonable, the final detatioh of any tax audits or litigation could be erally different from our historical tax
provisions and accruals, which could have a mdtadeerse effect on our results of operations shdbows in the period or periods for whic
determination is made.

Significant judgment is required to determine theognition and measurement attributes prescribéa@ounting Standards Codification,
(“ASC 740-10-25"). In addition, ASC 740-10-25 amdito all income tax positions, including the ptidmecovery of previously paid taxes,
which if settled unfavorably could adversely impaat provision for income taxes. Further, as altesflcertain of our ongoing employment
and capital investment actions and commitmentsjraaame in certain countries is subject to reduesdates. Our failure to meet these
commitments could adversely impact our provisianificome taxes. In addition, we are subject todbr@inuous examination of our income
tax returns by the U.S. Internal Revenue Serviceadher tax authorities. We regularly assess Haditiood of adverse outcomes resulting fron
these examinations to determine the adequacy gfrowision for income taxes. There can be no asserthat the outcomes from these
continuous examinations will not have an advergecebn our results of operations.

The enactment of legislation changing the UnitedaBs taxation of international business activities the adoption of other tax reform
policies could materially impact our financial pa#n and results of operations

Recent changes to U.S. tax laws, including limotadi on the ability of taxpayers to claim and utilfereign tax credits and the deferral of
certain tax deductions until earnings outside thédd States are repatriated to the United Stageg/ell as changes to U.S. tax laws that may
be enacted in the future, could impact the taxrneat of our foreign earnings. Due to the expansioour international business activities, any
changes in the U.S. taxation of such activities iayease our worldwide effective tax rate and asky affect our financial position and
results of operations.

We conduct our operations in a number of jurisditsiworldwide and report our taxable income baseduws business operations in those
jurisdictions. Our intercompany relationships aubjsct to transfer pricing regulations administeogdaxing authorities in variot
jurisdictions. The relevant taxing authorities ntsagree with our determinations as to the incontkexpenses attributable to spec
jurisdictions. If such a disagreement were to ocand our position were not sustained, we coulceheaired to pay additional taxes, interest
penalties, which could result in one-time tax cleatdhigher effective tax rates, reduced cash flawgslower overall profitability of our
operations.
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We may require additional capital to support our iness growth, and this capital might not be avéila on acceptable terms, or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to supparbusiness growth and may require additionadléuto respond to business challenges,
including the need to develop new features or ecdanr software, improve our operating infrastreetor acquire complementary businesses
and technologies. Accordingly, we may need to eaga@quity or debt financing to secure additidoalds. If we raise additional funds
through future issuances of equity or convertitdbtdsecurities, our existing stockholders couldesigignificant dilution, and any new equity
securities we issue could have rights, prefereandsprivileges superior to those of holders of @mmon stock. Any debt financing that we
may secure in the future could involve restriciteenants relating to our capital raising actigt@d other financial and operational matters,
which may make it more difficult for us to obtaidditional capital and to pursue business oppoiigsiincluding potential acquisitions. We
may not be able to obtain additional financing emris favorable to us, if at all. If we are unalBl@btain adequate financing on terms
satisfactory to us when we require it, our abild@ycontinue to support our business growth an@$paond to business challenges could be
significantly impaired, and our business may becasi®ly affected.

Our business is subject to the risks of fire, poveertages, floods, earthquakes and other catastrapévents, and to interruption by manma
problems such as terrorisn

A significant natural disaster, such as a firepfl@r an earthquake, or a significant power outag#d have a material adverse impact on our
business, results of operations and financial dadiln the event our customers’ information tealogy systems or our channel partners’
selling or distribution abilities are hindered hyaf these events, we may miss financial targetsh as revenues and sales targets, for a
particular quarter. Further, if a natural disastezurs in a region from which we derive a signfificportion of our revenue, customers in that
region may delay or forego purchases of our pragwehich may materially and adversely impact osults of operations for a particular
period. In addition, acts of terrorism could cadsguptions in our business or the business of mélgpartners, customers or the economy as 8
whole. Given our typical concentration of salesath quarter end, any disruption in the businessio€hannel partners or customers that
impacts sales at the end of our quarter could haignificant adverse impact on our quarterly nssélll of the aforementioned risks may be
augmented if the disaster recovery plans for uscamahannel partners prove to be inadequate. @ extent that any of the above results in
delays or cancellations of customer orders, odtHay in the manufacture, deployment or shipmemunfproducts, our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be adagraffected.

Risks Related to our Operations in Israel
Conditions in Israel may limit our ability to devep and sell our products, which could result in @ctease of our revenues.

Our principal research and development facilityjohralso houses a portion of our support and géaeacdhadministrative teams, is located in
Israel. Since the establishment of the State aklsn 1948, a number of armed conflicts have tghane between Israel and its neighboring
countries, as well as incidents of terror actigitiand other hostilities, and a number of statereimdstate actors have publicly committed to its
destruction. Political, economic and security ctinds in Israel could directly affect our operasoiVe could be adversely affected by
hostilities involving Israel, including acts of terism or any other hostilities involving or threaing Israel, the interruption or curtailment of
trade between Israel and its trading partnergyrfgiant increase in inflation or a significantvdaturn in the economic or financial condition
Israel. Any on-going or future armed conflicts réeist activities, tension along the Israeli bosler with other countries in the region,
including Iran, or political instability in the raan could disrupt international trading activitiesisrael and may materially and negatively affec
our business and could harm our results of opersitio

Certain countries, as well as certain companiesoaganizations, continue to participate in a boyobtsraeli companies, companies with large
Israeli operations and others doing business withel and Israeli companies. The boycott, restgdaws, policies or practices directed
towards Israel, Israeli businesses or Israeli@itizcould, individually or in the aggregate, havaaerial adverse effect on our business in the
future.

Some of our officers and employees in Israel aligated to perform routine military reserve dutytle Israel Defense Forces, depending on
their age and position in the armed forces. Funtioee, they have been and may in the future beccadl@ctive reserve duty at any time under
emergency circumstances for extended periods &. tur operations could be disrupted by the abséoica significant period, of one or mi
of our officers or key employees due to militaryvéee, and any significant disruption in our opéras could harm our business.
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We may be required to pay royalties to employeee dévelop inventions that have been or will be coenoilized by us.

Under Section 134 to the Israeli Patents Law, 57267 (“Section 134"), if there is no agreement traiscribes whether, to what extent and ol
what conditions, an employee is entitled to rematien from commercialization of an invention deyedd by or with the contribution of such
employee in the course of his or her employmeet) such matter may, upon application by the emglplye decided by a government-
appointed compensation and royalties committedksi@d under the Patents Law (the “Committee™)a lsecision issued in February 2010,
the Committee ruled that an employee’s assignmieatservice invention to his employer does not ssagly negate the employee’s right to
receive royalties or other compensation. In a syibset decision of the Israeli Supreme Court frongéat 2012 the Supreme Court stated that
even if the employee has signed an express wsitigver of royalties for inventions made during @raployment, the employee can still brir
compensation claim before the Committee.

In this respect, the Committee’s recent decisiomfMay 2014 complements and somewhat challenggsrévéous decisions and asserts that
an employee’s right to royalties for service invens may be waived by contract, including by meains general waiver, without an express
reference to the right under Section 134. The Cdtemfurther held that the right to royalties fendce inventions as set out in Section 134 is
not a mandatory provision (although this issue iegthopen in the previous decisions), and it isefoge possible to waive this right in an
agreement between an employer and an employee.\goweshould be noted that, subsequent to thissim, a request for an appeal was
filed with the Israeli Supreme Court, although unithe Israeli Patents Law the Committee’s decisiarmot be appealed. No decision has ye
been given in this matter, and we do not know wéethe Israeli Supreme Court will allow for suchagopeal to proceed.

Since a significant portion of our intellectual pesty (including our patents) has been developedunysraeli employees in the course of their
employment for us, our policy is to require alloefr employees to execute invention assignment aggpts upon commencement of
employment, in which they assign their rights téepdial inventions and acknowledge that they wilt be entitled to additional compensation
or royalties from commercialization of inventiom#owever, given the foregoing uncertainty, althonghrower than before, with respect to the
enforceability of a waiver of the right to futureyalties, we may be required to pay royalties toaraployees who have invented intellectual
property that we have commercialized, which in tomay have a material adverse effect on our resfilbperations.

The tax benefits that are available to our Israslibsidiary require it to continue to meet variousraitions and may be terminated or
reduced in the future, which could increase its &

Our Israeli subsidiary benefits from a status tBeneficiary Enterprise” under the Israeli Law tbe Encouragement of Capital Investments,
5719-1959, or the Investment Law. Based on an atialu of the relevant factors under the Investnhent, including the level of foreign (i.e.,
non-Israeli) investment in our Israeli subsidiamg have determined that the effective tax ratestpdid by our Israeli subsidiary as a
“Beneficiary Enterprisehas historically been below 10%. If our Israeli sidiary does not meet the requirements for maiimgithis status, fc
example, if the Israeli subsidiary materially chesghe nature of its business, it may no longegligéle to enjoy this reduced tax rate. As a
result, our Israeli subsidiary would be subjedistaeli corporate tax at the standard rate, whidtuirently set at 26.5%. Even if our Israeli
subsidiary continues to meet the relevant requirgsn¢he tax benefits that the status of “BenefjcEnterprise’provides may not be continu
in the future at their current levels or at alltHése tax benefits were reduced or eliminatedatheunt of taxes that our Israeli subsidiary wc
pay would likely increase, as all of our Israeleogtions would consequently be subject to corpdeatat the standard rate, which could
adversely affect our results of operations. Addity, if our Israeli subsidiary increases its witigés outside of Israel, for example, through
acquisitions, these activities may not be eligfbleinclusion in Israeli tax benefit programs. Ttag benefits derived from the status of
“Beneficiary Enterprise” is dependent upon theigbib generate sufficient taxable income. Accogiyn our Israeli subsidiary may be unable
to earn enough taxable income in order to fullliagiits tax benefits.
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Risks Related to the Ownership of our Common Stock
Our stock price has been and will likely continue be volatile.

The market price for our common stock has beenjsbikkly to continue to be, volatile for the feeeable future. For example, since shares
our common stock were sold in our initial publi¢esing in March 2014 at a price of $22.00 per shate common stock’s price on The
Nasdaq Global Select Market has ranged from $1i6.3%6.80 through February 18, 2015. On Februarn2@85, the closing price of o
common stock was $30.40. The market price of oarroon stock may fluctuate significantly in respots@ number of factors, most of which
we cannot predict or control, including the factiisted below and other factors described in thigsk Factors” section:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our resultshmse of our competitor

. the financial projections we may provide to fhiblic, any changes in these projections or oiluriato meet these
projections;

. failure of securities analysts to initiate oaintain coverage of our company, changes in firdrastimates by any securities
analysts who follow our company, or our failurerieet these estimates or the expectations of imge

. ratings changes by any securities analysts whoviotlur company

. announcements of new products, services ontdogies, commercial relationships, acquisitionsther events by us or our
competitors

. fluctuations in stock market prices and tradingwoés of securities of similar compani

. general market conditions and overall fluctuations.S. equity markets

. changes in accounting principle

. sales of large blocks of our common stock, inclgdiales by our executive officers, directors agdificant stockholders

. additions or departures of any of our key persar

. lawsuits threatened or filed against

. changing legal or regulatory developments in théddinStates and other countries;

. other events or factors, including those resultiogn war, incidents of terrorism or responses &sthevents
In addition, the stock markets have experienceremé price and volume fluctuations that have affdéend continue to affect the market pr
of equity securities of many technology compangteck prices of many technology companies haveuated in a manner unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance o$¢hcompanies. In the past, stockholders haveutestisecurities class action litigation
following periods of market volatility. If we wette become involved in securities litigation, it tdsubject us to substantial costs, divert

resources and the attention of management frorbwginess and adversely affect our business, resfutiserations, financial condition and
cash flows.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or reports about our business, or publisgtgative reports about our business, ¢
share price and trading volume could declir

The trading market for our common stock depengsait on the research and reports that securitieglastry analysts publish about us or our
business, our market and our competitors. We ddvaet any control over these analysts. If one aierebthe analysts who cover us
downgrade our shares or change their opinion obbares, our share price would likely decline.né@r more of these analysts cease cove
of our company or fail to regularly publish repaots us, we could lose visibility in the financiahrkets, which could cause our share price or
trading volume to decline.
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Substantial future sales of shares of our commongk could cause the market price of our common $téc decline.

We have a small public float relative to the tatamber of shares of our common stock that are dsand outstanding, and a majority of our
issued and outstanding shares are currently resstracs a result of securities laws. Some of thieases will be sold into the public market as
these restrictions expire. Sales of a substantialber of shares of our common stock into the puhbicket, or the perception that these sales
might occur, could depress the market price ofamummon stock and could impair our ability to ratsgital through the sale of additional
equity securities. We are unable to predict theatffhat such sales may have on the prevailing engrce of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2014, we had options and réstristock units (“‘RSUs”) outstanding that, if fullxercised, would result in the issuance o
approximately 4.2 million shares of our common ktddl of the shares of our common stock issualgeruexercise of options and RSUs have
been registered for public resale under the Séesitct. Accordingly, these shares will be abl&éofreely sold in the public market upon
issuance as permitted by any applicable vestingirepents.

In addition, certain holders of our common stockeneghts, subject to some conditions, to requ#¢aufile registration statements covering
their shares or to include their shares in redistnsstatements that we may file for ourselveswrather stockholders.

Future sales and issuances of our capital stockrights to purchase capital stock could result in@ditlonal dilution of the percentage
ownership of our stockholders and could cause otwck price to decline.

Future sales and issuances of our capital stociglats to purchase our capital stock could resufiuibstantial dilution to our existing
stockholders. We may sell common stock, conversbleurities and other equity securities in one orentransactions at prices and in a manne
as we may determine from time to time. If we sail auch securities in subsequent transactionssiok®@may be materially diluted. New
investors in such subsequent transactions couldrggits, preferences and privileges senior toghafsholders of our common stock.

Concentration of ownership among our existing exeme officers, directors and their affiliates mayethy or prevent other investors from
influencing significant corporate
decisions.

As of December 31, 2014, our executive officers dinelctors and their affiliates beneficially ownéuthe aggregate, approximately 60.8% of
our outstanding common stock. As a result, suchgres, acting together, have the ability to cordtel management and affairs and
substantially all matters submitted to our stocklbod for approval, including the election and real@f directors and approval of any
significant transaction. These persons also hawalblility to control our management and businefsgraf Additionally, these persons’ interests
may not be, at all times, the same as those obther stockholders, and they may vote in a wayithatlverse to other stockholders’ interests.
Our officers and directors are not simply passiwestors but also include our executive officensl as such their interests as executives rr
times be adverse to those of our passive investors.

This concentration of ownership may have the eftéctelaying, deferring or preventing a changeadntml, impeding a merger, consolidation,
takeover or other business combination involvingaugliscouraging a potential acquirer from malkangnder offer or otherwise attempting to
obtain control of our business, even if such asaation would benefit other stockholders.

The requirements of being a public company may 8traur resources, divert management’s attention aaffiect our ability to attract and
retain executive management and qualified board niesrs.

As a public company, we are subject to the repgméguirements of the Securities Exchange Act 8419s amended, or the Exchange Act
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley)Atite Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consuftection Act of 2010, the listing
requirements of The Nasdaq Global Select Marketadner applicable securities rules and regulati@usnpliance with these rules and
regulations have increased our legal and finamoiaipliance costs, make some activities more diffitime-consuming or costly and increase
demand on our systems and resources, particulielyvae are no longer an “emerging growth compaas/tefined in the Jumpstart Our
Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”).
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The Exchange Act requires, among other things,whedfile annual, quarterly and current reports wéhpect to our business and results of
operations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, anotimgy things, that we maintain effective disclostwatrols and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting. In order to maiim and, if required, improve our disclosure colstamd procedures and internal control over
financial reporting to meet this standard, sigmificresources and management oversight may beedqis a result, management’s attention
may be diverted from other business concerns, wtichd adversely affect our business and resultgpefations. We may need to hire more
employees in the future or engage outside congaltarcomply with these requirements, which witnease our costs and expenses. In
addition, changing laws, regulations and standeidging to corporate governance and public disslsare creating uncertainty for public
companies, increasing legal and financial compgarwsts and making some activities more time coirggrithese laws, regulations and
standards are subject to varying interpretationsjany cases due to their lack of specificity, asda result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided byleggry and governing bodies. This could resultdntinuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitateddging revisions to disclosure and governancetioes.

We invest resources to comply with evolving lavegyulations and standards, and this investment sgyltrin increased general and
administrative expenses and a diversion of managesnéme and attention from revenue-generatingviigts to compliance activities. If our
efforts to comply with new laws, regulations ananstards differ from the activities intended by Hetary or governing bodies due to
ambiguities related to their application and p@gtregulatory authorities may initiate legal peaieags against us and our business may be
adversely affected. However, for as long as we nem@a “emerging growth company”, we may take adagatof certain exemptions from
various reporting requirements that are applicablemerging growth companies” including, but niatited to, not being required to comply
with the auditor attestation requirements of Sectie4 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced discloshtligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxyest&nts, and exemptions from the requirements afitngla nonbinding advisory vote on
executive compensation and stockholder approvahgfgolden parachute payments not previously agokoWwe may take advantage of these
reporting exemptions until we are no longer an “ggimgy growth company.”

We will remain an “emerging growth company” for tgpfive years. If our non-convertible debt issuathim a three year period or revenues
exceeds $1 billion, or the market value of our camratock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 millim the last day of the second fiscal
quarter of any given fiscal year, we would ceaseet@n “emerging growth company” as of the follogvfiscal year.

We may not complete our analysis of our internalntml over financial reporting in a timely mannermr these internal controls may not be
determined to be effective, which may adverselgeffinvestor confidence in our company and, as auk, the value of our common stock.

As a result of becoming a public company, we at@gated to develop and maintain proper and effectiternal control over financial
reporting. We will be required, pursuant to Sectd@d of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act, to furnish a repgnnanagement on, among other things,
the effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting for the fiscal year ending DecemB&yr2015. This assessment will need to
include disclosure of any material weaknesses ifitthty our management in our internal control iofi@ancial reporting. We have
commenced the costly and challenging process opidimg the system and processing documentationssaeg to perform the evaluation
needed to comply with Section 404. We may not be ttbcomplete our evaluation, testing and any irequemediation in a timely fashion.
During the evaluation and testing process, if ventdy one or more material weaknesses in our tiralezontrol over financial reporting, we v
be unable to assert that our internal controle#estive.

We are required to disclose changes made in oamiak control and procedures on a quarterly bafigiever, our independent registered
public accounting firm will not be required to foalty attest to the effectiveness of our internaiteol over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404 until the later of the year followingy dirst annual report required to be filed witetBEC, or the date we are no longer an
“emerging growth company” as defined in the JOB$ iRwe take advantage of the exemptions containgdde JOBS Act. At such time, our
independent
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registered public accounting firm may issue a refiat is adverse in the event it is not satisfiéth the level at which our controls are
documented, designed or operating. Our remediafilmnts may not enable us to avoid a material weagrnn the future. To comply with the
requirements of being a public company, we may rteechdertake various actions, such as implememivg internal controls and procedures
and hiring accounting or internal audit staff.

If we are unable to assert that our internal comtver financial reporting is effective, or if oinmdependent registered public accounting firm is
unable to express an opinion on the effectivenéssiinternal controls, we could lose investor fid@nce in the accuracy and completeness ¢
our financial reports, which would cause the pa€eur common stock to decline, and we may be stiltfeinvestigation or sanctions by the
SEC.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and we cantoa certain if the reduced disclosure requirementspéicable to emerging growth
companies will make our common stock less attraetio investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as definetthnJOBS Act, and we may take advantage of cegt@@mptions from various reporting
requirements that are applicable to other publioganies that are not “emerging growth companies’dadhnot predict if investors will find
our common stock less attractive because we vijllae these exemptions. If some investors findemmmon stock less attractive as a result,
there may be a less active trading market for outrnon stock and our stock price may be more velatil

We do not intend to pay dividends on our commonckiaso any returns will be limited to the value ofir stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooa@umon stock. We currently anticipate that wd reitain any future earnings and do not
expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeabledutiiny determination to pay dividends in the fetwill be at the discretion of our board of
directors and will be dependent on a number obfactincluding our financial condition, resultsagferations, capital requirements, general
business conditions and other factors that ourdbofdirectors may deem relevant. In addition, |t agreement for our credit facility
contains a prohibition on the payment of cash d@imak. Until such time that we pay a dividend, itmessmust rely on sales of their common
stock after price appreciation, which may neverwuogcas the only way to realize any future gainshair investments.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attetajpy our stockholders to replace or remove our reunt management

Provisions in our amended and restated certifichtecorporation and amended and restated bylawsdakay or prevent an acquisition of us
or a change in our management. These provisiohsdac

. authorizing “blank check” preferred stock, whicould be issued by the board without stockhadgbgroval and may contain
voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights stipeto our common stock, which would increasernhenber of outstanding
shares and could thwart a takeover attel

. a classified board of directors whose members oanle dismissed for caus
. the prohibition on actions by written consent of stockholders
. the limitation on who may call a special meetingtafckholders

. the establishment of advance notice requirestemtnominations for election to our board of dites or for proposing
matters that can be acted upon at stockholder nggetanc

. the requirement of at least 75% of the outstamdapital stock to amend any of the foregoingsdahrough fifth
provisions.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaywse are governed by the provisions of Sectiond¥QBe Delaware General Corporation
Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owgiin excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stimckerge or combine with us. Although
we believe these provisions collectively provide fo

27



Table of Contents

an opportunity to obtain greater value for stockleas by requiring potential acquirers to negotwite our board of directors, they would ap
even if an offer rejected by our board were considédeneficial by some stockholders. In additibese provisions may frustrate or prevent
any attempts by our stockholders to replace or venoor current management by making it more diffifar stockholders to replace members
of our board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our management.

Iltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments

We do not have any unresolved comments from the S&€

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in New itskin an office consisting of approximately 46008quare feet. This lease expires in
February 2026, although we have the option to bertininate the lease in February 2023 and extentb#tse for an additional five years. We
also lease a second office in New York City of apmately 7,500 square feet for our professionatises and marketing teams which expires
on February 28, 2015. Additionally, we currentlgde an office located in Herzliya, Israel, consgf approximately 45,700 square feet,
where we employ our research and development teana @ortion of our support and general and adinatige teams. The lease for this off
expires in December 2016, although we have th@omt extend the lease for an additional threesydélie also lease smaller offices in North
Carolina (from which we provide customer supponil & France, Germany, the United Kingdom and BodJ Oregon (which serve as
regional sales offices). We believe that our fiesi are sufficient to meet our needs for the feable future; however, we will continue to ¢
additional space as needed to accommodate our lgrowt

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material litiga.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market for Registran’s Common Equity

Our common stock is quoted on The NASDAQ Globae8&eMarket under the symbol “WVRNS” since FebruaBy 2014, the date of our initial
public offering. The following table sets forthyfihe periods indicated, the range of high anddales prices for our common stock as reporte
by The NASDAQ Global Select Market:

2014
High Low
First Quartel $56.8( $33.61
Second Quarte 38.3( 19.6¢
Third Quartel 31.5¢ 19.21
Fourth Quarte 33.4( 17.5(
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Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends onaumon stock. We currently intend to retain amyife earnings for use in the
operation of our business and do not intend toadleadr pay any cash dividends in the foreseeableguAny further determination to pay
dividends on our common stock will be at the disoreof our board of directors, subject to appliedbws, and will depend on our financial
condition, results of operations, capital requirataggeneral business conditions and other fathatsour board of directors considers relevan

Stockholders

As of February 16, 2015, there were 23 stockholdérscord of our common stock, including The Defmog Trust Company, which
holds shares of our common stock on behalf of datearminate number of beneficial owners.

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following shall not be deemed “filed” for pug®s of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorgardy reference into any of our
other filings under the Exchange Act or the SemsgiAct, except to the extent we specifically inpmate it by reference into such filing.

This chart compares the cumulative total returm@ncommon stock with that of the NASDAQ Compositdex and the NASDAQ
Computer Index. The chart assumes $100 was invasthe close of market on February 28, 2014 incommmon stock, the NASDAQ
Composite Index and the NASDAQ Computer Index, asslimes the reinvestment of any dividends. Thé gtace performance on the
following graph is not necessarily indicative ofufte stock price performance.

The closing price of our common stock on Decemligi2814, the last day of our 2014 fiscal year, $83.83 per share.
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ComEanz/Inde 2/28/201« 3/31/201« 6/30/201- 9/30/201- 12/31/201.
VRNS $100.0C $162.5¢ $131.8¢ $ 95.91 $149.2:
NASDAQ Composite $100.0C $ 97.2: $102.0° $104.0¢ $ 109.6¢
NASDAQ Computel $100.0C $ 98.7F $106.7° $112.00 $116.5%

Sales of Unregistered Securitit

None.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offerings of Common &o

On March 5, 2014, we closed our initial public offfig of 5,520,000 million shares of common stockjuding 5,300,436 shares of
common stock sold by us (inclusive of 500,436 shafecommon stock from the full exercise of theralletment option of shares granted to
the underwriters) and 219,564 shares of commork stolcl by the selling stockholder at a price tohélic of $22.00 per share. The offer and
sale of all of the shares in the IPO were registereler the Securities Act pursuant to a registnastatement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-
191840), which was declared effective by the SEC@oruary 27, 2014. The offering commenced on Felgrd8, 2014, closed on March 5,
2014 and did not terminate before all of the shardlse IPO that were registered in the registratitatement were sold. Morgan Stanley &



LLC, Barclays Capital Inc., Jefferies LLC, RBC CapiMarkets, LLC and Needham & Company, LLC actedre underwriters. The
aggregate offering price for shares sold in theraify was approximately $121.4 million. We did neteive any proceeds from the sale of
shares by the selling stockholder. We raised apprately $106.1 million in net proceeds from theeoiifig, after deducting underwriter
discounts and commissions of approximately $8.8aniland other offering expenses of approximat&ytdnillion.

No payments were made by us to directors, offioefsersons owning ten percent or more of our comstock or to their associates, or
to our affiliates, other than payments in the oadyncourse of business to officers for salarie®r&€thas been no material change in the planne
use of proceeds from our IPO as described in oat firospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to R@&(b) under the Securities Act on
March 3, 2014. Pending the uses described, we ihgested the net proceeds in short-term secustiel as certificates of deposit and money
market funds.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following selected consolidated historical finel data are derived from our audited finandiatesnents. The consolidated balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 amdmiselidated statement of operations data foydaes ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 are derived from our audited consolidéitethcial statements and related notes that ataded elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The consolidated balance sheet datd @e@ember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and the cordetdstatement of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are ddrorecbur audited consolidated financial statemamnis related notes which are |
included in this report. The information set fobelow should be read in conjunction with our higtlrfinancial statements, including the nc
thereto, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysinancial Condition and Results of Operatiornis¢luded elsewhere in this report.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share dat

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Revenues
Licenses $ 58,42 $ 43,48¢ $ 31,60¢ $ 25,43¢ $ 20,23
Maintenance and servic 42,92¢ 31,12¢ 21,80« 14,34 8,63(
Total revenue 101,34¢ 74,61¢ 53,41( 39,77¢ 28,86
Cost of revenue® 9,911 6,47¢ 4,92¢ 3,562¢ 2,39¢
Gross profit 91,43% 68,14( 48,48: 36,25¢ 26,46
Operating costs and expens
Research and developm¢d) 28,08¢ 20,97 15,03« 13,04¢ 7,73t
Sales and marketir® 68,781 44,13 30,03¢ 22,09t 16,60¢
General and administrativ®) 11,87: 8,881 4,96¢ 4,514 3,317
Total operating expens 108,74! 73,98¢ 50,03¢ 39,65¢ 27,65¢
Operating los! (17,309 (5,845 (1,559 (3,4079) (1,186
Financial expenses, n (1,719 (1,279 (3,045 (177) (1,449
Loss before income taxi (29,027 (7,119 (4,599 (3,579 (2,63%)
Income taxe: (37€) (35€) (247) (224) (126)
Net loss $ (19,399 $ (7,479 $ (4,840 $ (3,799 $ (2,76
Net loss per share of common stock, basic andedi(® $ (0.97) $ (19H $ (129 $ (119 $ (0.8)

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss pe
share attributable to common stockholders, basic ar
diluted 21,242,31 3,880,76. 3,756,76 3,460,61; 3,427,82

() Includes no-cash stoc-based compensation as follov
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 192 $ 3¢ $41 $12 $12
Research and developmt 1,19¢ 551 327 81 191
Sales and marketir 2,47¢ 841 284 102 162
General and administrati 79¢€ 357 19¢€ 39 14¢€
Total $4,66¢ $1,78¢ $84E $23E 511

(2) Basic and diluted net loss per share of comatook is computed based on the weighted averagberuof shares of common stock
outstanding during each period. For additionalimfation, see Note 2.t to our consolidated finangtialements included elsewhere in thi:
report.

As of December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and s-term deposit: $111,69¢ $13,977 $14,81: $13,59¢ $12,28:
Working capital 99,31¢ 3,37¢ 7,931 9,24¢ 11,317
Total asset 156,84 47,25¢ 37,69 30,88 26,21
Deferred revenues, current and |-term 37,21. 28,70( 21,27: 17,217 11,73(
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred s — 2,86¢ 5,77¢ 2,321 2,55¢
Convertible preferred stoc — 43,77¢ 37,95¢ 37,95¢ 35,45¢

Total stockholder equity (deficiency 95,02¢ (43,00¢) (37,449 (33,859 (28,81)
Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our firiahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearisgwhere in this Annual Report on Forn-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates atidfeeand involve risks and uncertainties. Ounettresults and the timing of certain events
could differ materially from those anticipated hrese forward-looking statements as a result ofredvactors, including those discussed in the
section titled “Risk Factors” included under Partltem 1A and elsewhere in this Annual Report.“Seecial Note Regarding Forward-
Looking Statemer” in this Annual Report.

Overview

We provide an innovative software platform thabai enterprises to map, analyze, manage and mitpeiteunstructured data. We specialize
in human-generated data, a type of unstructuredttiat includes an enterprisevord processing documents, spreadsheets, présestaudic
files, video files, emails, text messages and ahgradata created by employees. This data consairenterprise’s financial information,
product plans, strategic initiatives, intellectpebperty and other forms of vital information. Quoprietary Metadata Framework technology
enables enterprises to gain actionable insights their human-generated data by intelligently eoting critical metadata, or data about data,
from an organization’s IT infrastructure and counsting a map of functional relationships among eweés, data objects, content and usage
through this contextual information.
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We have been a pioneer in developing a softwartéopha that allows enterprises to realize the valtitheir human-generated data in ways tha
are not resource-intensive and are easy to implerie revolution in internet search occurred whkearch engines began to mine internet
metadata, such as the links between pages, in@uthtpage content, thereby making the internaiistent more usable and subsequently
valuable. Similarly, our Metadata Framework creatthsanced searchable data structures and provgdetime intelligence about an
enterprise’s massive volumes of human-generatetésgmmaking human-generated data more valualiteetorganization. IT and business
personnel deploy our software for a variety of cages, including data governance, data securayclsgarchiving, file synchronization,
enhanced mobile data accessibility and informatimiaboration.

We started operations in 2005 with a vision to makerprise human-generated data more accessiategeaable, secure and actionable. We
began offering our flagship product, DatAdvantagkich provides centralized visibility for all of amnterprise’s human-generated data, in
2006. Since then we have continued to invest inwation and have consistently introduced new prteditecour customers, including
DataPrivilege, which was introduced in 2006, assalfservice web portal for business users. In 2008emeanced our DatAdvantage offer
with DatAdvantage for UNIX/Linux. In 2009, we inttaced the IDU Classification Framework for sensitilata classification and
DatAdvantage for SharePoint. We further enhancedatAdvantage offering by releasing DatAdvantagieExchange governance in 2010
which enabled our customers to exercise controf thesinformation being transferred through corppemails. In 2011, we introduced
DatAdvantage for Directory Services for increasesibility into Active Directory. In 2012, we relead the Data Transport Engine for
intelligent data migration and archiving and Datiumgere for secure hybrid cloud collaboration. Mageantly, in May 2014, we introduced
DatAnswers, a secure enterprise search solutiohuioran generated data that delivers highly releaadtsecure search results to enterprise
employees, greatly improving their productivity.

At the core of our technology is our ability toefitgently extract and analyze metadata from aenpnise’s vast, distributed data stores. The
broad applicability of our technology has resultedur customers deploying our platform for numerase cases for both IT and business
personnel. We currently have six products (inclgdiratAnswers), and as of December 31, 2014, apmately 42% of our customers had
purchased two or more products, one of which wag@santage for all of these customers. We beliaweaxisting customer base serves as a
strong source of incremental revenues given thacdpdatform of products we have and the growinginas and complexity of human-
generated data our customers have. Our maintemanew/al rate each of the years ended Decembe024, 2013 and 2012 was over 90%.
Our key strategies to maintain our renewal ratuge focusing on the quality and reliability of atustomer service and support to ensure out
customers receive value from our products, progdionsistent software upgrades and having morededi renewal sales personnel.

We sell the vast majority of our products and smsito channel partners, including distributors r@sellers, which sell to end-user customers
which we refer to in this report as our customéys. believe that our sales model, which combinesetherage of a channel sales model with
our highly trained and professional sales forcs,drad will continue to play a major role in ourlapito grow and to successfully deliver our
unique value proposition for enterprise human-gateer data. We target customers of all sizes, imdilstries and all geographies. As of
December 31, 2014, we had more than 3,300 custosmaaning leading firms in the financial serviqaghlic, healthcare, industrial, energy
and utilities, technology, consumer and retail,cadion and media and entertainment sectors. Weugetiur customer count is a key indicator
of our market penetration and the value that oadpets bring to our customer base. We also bebevexisting customers represent
significant future revenue opportunities for useTverage spending per customer for each of tivs €44, 2013 and 2012 was approxims
$58,000, $61,000 and $61,000, respectively.

We believe there is a significant growth opportymitboth domestic and foreign markets, which cantdude any organization that uses file
shares, intranets and email for collaboration, riigas of region. For the year ended December @14 ,2approximately 56% of our revenues
were derived from the United States, while Eurape,Middle East and Africa accounted for approxeha85% of our revenues. We expect
both continued sales growth in the United Statekiaternational expansion to be key componentsiofgoowth strategy, and we will continue
to market our products and services in internatiorekets. We plan to continue to expand our iragamal operations as part of our growth
strategy. The expansion of our international openatdepends in particular on our ability to hirgegrate and retain local sales and marketing
personnel in these international markets, acquére channel partners and implement an effective etend strategy. In addition, the further
expansion of our international operations will mase our sales and marketing and general and atirativie expenses and will subject us to a
variety of risks and challenges, including thodatesl to economic and political conditions in eaggion, compliance with foreign laws and
regulations, and compliance with domestic laws r@gplilations applicable to our international operadi
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We derive revenues from license sales of our varoducts, various services, including initial mianance contracts and professional
services, and renewals. Substantially all of ceerise sales are derived from a platform of prodeatssisting of DatAdvantage, DataPrivilege,
IDU Classification Framework and Data TransportiBagAs of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, 94984,% and 99.6% of our
customers, respectively, had purchased DatAdvani®y@%, 20.5% and 22.4% of our customers, resgaygtihad purchased DataPrivilege;
26.9%, 23.1% and 20.0% of our customers, respégtiliad purchased IDU Classification Framework; 826, 1.5% and less than 0.1% of
our customers, respectively, had purchased Dataspoat Engine. As of December 31, 2014, 2013 ani@ 261.9%, 57.8% and 63.5% of our
customers, respectively, made standalone purclof$estAdvantage, and less than 0.5% of our custsmmde standalone purchases of
DataPrivilege. As of December 31, 2014, our custsmeade no standalone purchases of IDU Classific&tramework or Data Transport
Engine. Licenses sales accounted for 57.6%, 5818%%8.2% of our total revenues for the year endecehber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. We expect maintenance and servicesues to comprise a larger portion of our totaéneies as our installed customer base
grows.

We have achieved significant growth and scale éemeperiods utilizing our business model. Fontbar ended December 31, 2014, 2013 anc
2012, our revenues were $101.3 million, $74.6 omlland $53.4 million, respectively, representingryaveryear growth of 36% and 40%. F
the year ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201Radveperating losses of $17.3 million, $5.8 millend $1.6 million and net losses of
$19.4 million, $7.5 million and $4.8 million, respiely.

Components of Operating Results
Revenues

Our revenues consist of licenses and maintenarteemices revenues.

Licenses Revenuekicense revenues reflect the revenues recogniped $ales of software licenses to new customersadddional
licenses to existing customers. Substantially fadlu license revenues consist of revenues frompegiaal licenses, under which we generally
recognize the license fee portion of the arrangeémpeon delivery, assuming all revenue recognitioteda are satisfied. Customers may also
purchase term license agreements, under which seginéze the license fee ratably, on a straightdiiasis, over the term of the underlying
maintenance contract, which is typically up to gear. We are focused on acquiring new customersranelasing revenues from our existing
customers.

Maintenance and Services Revenuggintenance and services revenues consist of vegsinom maintenance agreements and, to a
lesser extent, professional services. Typicallyemwpurchasing a perpetual license, a customeipalsthases a one year maintenance contrac
for which we charge a percentage of the licenseGestomers may renew, and generally have renaiweid maintenance agreements for a fee
that is based upon a percentage of the initiahegfee paid. Customers with maintenance agreeraemtmntitled to receive support and
unspecified upgrades and enhancements when amelyibecome available during the maintenance peVitahave experienced growth in
maintenance revenues primarily due to increaseddie sales to new customers and high annual @tesftexisting customers. We recognize
the revenues associated with maintenance ratablg,straight-line basis, over the associated maamee period. We measure the perpetual
license maintenance renewal rate for our customersa 12month period, based on a dollar renewal rate fatrests expiring during that tir
period. Our maintenance renewal rate for eachej#ars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201&kaover 90%. We also offer
professional services focused on both deploymehtraning our customers to fully leverage the afeur products. We recognize the
revenues associated with these professional ssreit@ time and materials basis as we deliverghaces, provide the training or when the
service term has expired.
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The following table sets forth the percentage ofrewenues that have been derived from licensesraitenance and services revenues
for the periods presented.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(as a percentage of total revenue:

Revenues
Licenses 57.€% 58.2% 59.2%
Maintenance and servic 42.4% 41.7% 40.8%
Total revenue: 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

We expect maintenance and services revenues tmgerib comprise a larger portion of our total mwes as our installed customer base
grows. Our products are used by a wide range @ferises, including Fortune 500 corporations andllsamd medium-sized businesses. As of
December 31, 2014, we had more than 3,300 custamerss a broad array of company sizes and indadticated in over 60 countries.

Cost of Revenues, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Our cost of revenues consists of cost of maintemand services revenues. Cost of maintenance avideserevenues consists primarily
of salaries and benefits, as well as commissiomsyuges and stock-based compensation for our maimterand services employees, travel
expenses and allocated overhead costs for fasjlifleand depreciation of equipment. We recognigeases related to maintenance and
services as they are incurred. We expect thatastraf maintenance and services revenues will @aserén absolute dollars as we increase our
headcount to support revenue growth.

Gross profit is total revenues less total coseoEnues. Gross margin is gross profit expressadoascentage of total revenues. Our g
margin has historically fluctuated slightly fromrjmel to period as a result of changes in licensesraaintenance and services mix.

Operating Costs and Expenses

Our operating costs and expenses are classifiedhinte categories: research and development, aiadesiarketing and general and
administrative. For each category, the largest amapt is personnel costs, which consists of salaeimployee benefits (including
commissions and bonuses) and stock-based compmndaperating costs and expenses also includeaddldoverhead costs for depreciation
of equipment. Allocated costs for facilities printyvconsist of rent and office maintenance. Opeatiosts and expenses are generally
recognized as incurred. We expect personnel costsritinue to increase in absolute dollars as weriew employees to continue to grow our
business.

Research and DevelopmerResearch and development expenses primarily stosfspersonnel costs attributable to our reseanch
development personnel, as well as allocated ovdrbests. We expense research and developmentasoistsurred. We expect that our
research and development expenses will continuectease in absolute dollars as we increase oaarels and development headcount to
further strengthen our technology platform and give the development of both existing and new potsl

Sales and MarketingSales and marketing expenses are the largestarmmpof our operating costs and expenses andstqmgharily o
personnel costs, as well as marketing and busd®sdopment costs, travel expenses and allocatedhead costs. We expect that sales and
marketing expenses will continue to increase irokibs dollars, as we plan to expand our sales aatteting efforts, both domestically and
internationally. We expect sales and marketing Bgps to be our largest category of operating @stsexpenses as we continue to expand o
business worldwide.

General and Administratie. General and administrative expenses mostly sbokpersonnel and facility-related costs for executive,
finance, legal, human resources and administraiveonnel. Other expenses are comprised of legaduating and other consultant fees and
other corporate expenses and allocated overhea@xpéet that general and administrative expendengilease in absolute dollars as we g
and expand our operations, including internatignahd operate as a public company, including hi¢gwal, corporate insurance and
accounting expenses, and the additional costshié@ng and maintaining compliance with the Sarlsa®&ley Act and related regulations.
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Financial Income (Expenses), Net

Prior to our IPO, financial income (expenses),augtsisted primarily of charges to record outstagdiarrants to purchase convertible
preferred stock at fair value, interest earnedwncash, cash equivalents and short-term depasiténéerest expense associated with our
previously outstanding debt, foreign currency famveontract gains and losses, as well as foreigreoay exchange gains and losses.
Following the closing of our IPO during the firstarter of 2014, our outstanding warrants to purettasvertible preferred stock automatically
converted into warrants to purchase shares of camstark and, after such conversion, are no lonigssitied as a liability on our consolida
balance sheet or included as financial expensesriconsolidated statement of operations. Finamtaime (expenses), net, for the periods
post IPO was primarily comprised of foreign exchatggses.

Income Taxes

We operate in several tax jurisdictions and argesmilio taxes in each country or jurisdiction inigthwe conduct business. Earnings fr
our nonY.S. activities are subject to local country incatiae and may be subject to U.S. income tax. To,degehave incurred accumulated
losses and have not recorded any U.S. federalrtasgons.

Because of our history of U.S. net operating losseshave established a full valuation allowancairag potential future benefits for
deferred tax assets including loss carryforwards.i@come tax provision could be significantly incped by estimates surrounding our
uncertain tax positions and changes to our valoatilowance in future periods. We reevaluate tligioents surrounding our estimates and
make adjustments as appropriate each reportinggeri

Our Israeli subsidiary currently qualifies as adfarary enterprise which, upon fulfillment of cait conditions, allows it to qualify for a
reduced tax rate based on the beneficiary progrddetines.

In addition, we are subject to the continuous exativns of our income tax returns by different aathorities. We regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from thesaminations to determine the adequacy of ourigiav for income taxes.
Results of Operations

The following tables are a summary of our constidastatements of operations in dollars and as@ptage of our total revenues.
Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Statement of Operations Data

Revenues
Licenses $ 58,42 $43,48t¢ $31,60¢
Maintenance and servic 42,92¢ 31,12¢ 21,80:
Total revenue 101,34 74,61¢ 53,41(
Cost of revenue 9,911 6,47¢ 4,92¢
Gross profit 91,43’ 68,14( 48,48:
Operating costs and expens
Research and developm 28,08t 20,97: 15,03
Sales and marketir 68,78’ 44,13: 30,03¢
General and administratiy 11,87: 8,881 4,96¢
Total operating expens 108,74! 73,98! 50,03¢
Operating los! (17,309 (5,84%) (1,559
Financial expenses, n (1,719 (1,274 (3,045
Loss before income taxes, t (19,027 (7,119 (4,599
Income taxe: (376 (35€6) (247)
Net loss $(19,399) $(7,475) $(4,846)
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Statement of Operations Data
Revenues
Licenses
Maintenance and servic
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating costs and expens
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administratiy
Total operating expens
Operating los!
Financial expenses, n

Loss before income taxes, 1
Income taxe:

Net loss

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 201
Revenues

Revenues

Licenses

Maintenance and servic
Total revenue:

Revenues
Licenses
Maintenance and servic

Total revenue

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(as a percentage of total revenue:

57.6% 58.5% 59.2%
42.4 417 40.€
100.( 100.( 100.(

0.8 8.7 9.2
90.2 91.: 90.€
27.1 28.1 28.1
67.c 59.1 56.
11.7 11. 9.2

107.: 99.1 93.7
7.9 (7.6) 2.9
(1.7) (1.7) (5.7)
(18.9) (9.5) (8.6)

(0.9) (0.E) (0.5)

(19.9% (10.0% (9.)%
Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 % Change
(in thousands)
$ 58,42( $43,48¢ 34.%%
42,92¢ 31,12¢ 37. %
$101,34¢ $74,61¢ 35.8%

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013
(as a percentage of total revenue:

57.€% 58.2%
42.8% 41.1%
100.(% 100.(%
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Total revenue growth was achieved due to incredsathnd for our products and services from new aistieg customers, mostly in the
domestic market, as well as in international mark€he increase in license revenues was driveraleg $o 950 new customers compared to
728 new customers in 2013, sales to existing custemnd sales of new products. As of December@l4 and 2013, we had more than 3,30C
and approximately 2,400 customers, respectivelg. Sibstantial majority of our license revenues attifbutable to sales of perpetual licenses
The increase in maintenance and services reveragpnrimarily due to an increase in the sale of agnce agreements resulting from the
growth of our installed customer base. In each0df2and 2013, our maintenance renewal rate was3®#r Of the license and first year
maintenance and services revenues recognized yretireended December 31, 2014, 64% was attributabvenues from new customers,
36% was attributable to revenues from existingamsts. Of the license and first year maintenandesarvices revenues recognized in the
ended December 31, 2013, 66% was attributableventees from new customers, and 34% was attributalilevenues from existing
customers. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, 4293886, respectively, of our customers had purchagedr more products.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 % Change
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $9,911 $6,47¢ 53.(%

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013
(as a percentage of total revenue:

Total gross margi 90.2% 91.2%

The increase in cost of revenues was primarilytedl#o an increase of $2.9 million in salaries badefits expense due to increased
headcount for support and professional servicesag®@ 2 million increase in facilities and allocht®/erhead costs. The increase in cost is
mainly related to our investments in infrastructangl personnel to support our increased revenwkhigh renewal rate.

Operating Costs and Expenses

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 % Change
(in thousands)

Operating costs and expens

Research and developm $ 28,08t¢ 20,97: 33.%
Sales and marketir 68,787 44,13: 55.%%
General and administrati 11,87 8,881 33.7%

Total operating expens $108,74! 73,98" 47.(%

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013
(as a percentage of total revenue:

Operating costs and expens

Research and developmt 27.1% 28.1%
Sales and marketir 67.% 59.1%
General and administrati\ 11.7% 11.%

Total operating expens 107.2% 99.1%
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The increase in research and development experaseprimarily related to an increase of $5.9 milliorsalaries and benefits and stock
based compensation resulting from increased heatlema consultants as part of our focus on enhgramiid developing our existing and new
products. We also had an increase of $1.0 millivallocated overhead costs.

The increase in sales and marketing expenses waarpy related to a $19.2 million increase in s&a and benefits and stock based
compensation due to increased headcount in athmegb expand our sales force, and commissionsareased customer orders. The remai
of the increase was attributable to a $1.8 millimrease in facilities and allocated overhead castsa $1.3 million increase in marketing
related expenses.

The increase in general and administrative expemnasgrimarily related to an increase of $1.8 wiillin salaries and benefits and stock
based compensation due to increased headcourpporsuhe overall growth of our business, an inseeaf $0.8 million of other expenses
predominately relating to rent, insurance and Ipemses and an increase of $0.3 million in congykimd services fees.

Financial Expenses, Net

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 % Change
(in thousands)
Financial expenses, n $1,71¢ $1,27¢ 34.5%

For the year ended December 31, 2014, financiatresgs, net was primarily comprised of foreign ergledosses. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, financial expenses, net wasapitincomprised of revaluation of our warrants toghase convertible preferred
stock. Upon completion of our IPO, the warrant®matically converted into warrants to purchaseammmon stock and, as a result, are no
longer evaluated at each balance sheet date.

Income Taxes

Year Ended
December 31
2014 2013 % Change
(in thousands)
Income taxe: $37¢€ $35¢€ 5.6%

Income taxes for the years ended December 31, 20d 2013 were comprised primarily of foreign incaiavees and state taxes.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 ang 201

Revenues
Year Ended
December 31
2013 2012 % Change
(in thousands)
Revenues
Licenses $43,48¢ $31,60¢ 37.6%
Maintenance and servic 31,12¢ 21,80 42.£%
Total revenue $74,61¢ $53,41( 39.7%
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Year Ended December 31
2013 2012
(as a percentage of total revenue:

Revenues
Licenses 58.2% 59.2%
Maintenance and servic 41.1% 40.8%
Total revenue 100.(% 100.(%

Total revenue growth was achieved due to incredsathnd for our products and services from new aistieg customers, mostly in the
domestic market, as well as in international mark€he increase in license revenues was driveraleg $o 728 new customers compared to
473 new customers in 2012, sales to existing custemand sales of new products. As of December@l3 2nd 2012, we had approximately
2,400 and over 1,700 customers, respectively. Tihstantial majority of our license revenues washattable to sales of perpetual licenses.
increase in maintenance and services revenuesnmaarity due to an increase in the sale of maintemaagreements resulting from the growtt
of our installed customer base. In each of 201324®, our maintenance renewal rate was over 9@hedicense and first year maintenance
and services revenues recognized in the year dbdeeimber 31, 2013, 66% was attributable to revefroes new customers, and 34% was
attributable to revenues from existing customerfgh® license and first year maintenance and sesvievenues recognized in the year ended
December 31, 2012, 74% was attributable to revefroesnew customers, and 26% was attributablextermaes from existing customers. As
December 31, 2013 and 2012, 39% and 36%, resphgtofeour customers had purchased two or more ymtsd

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

Year Ended
December 31
2013 2012 % Change
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $6,47¢ $4,92¢ 31.4%

Year Ended December 31
2013 2012
(as a percentage of total revenue:

Total gross margi 91.2% 90.8%

The increase in cost of revenues was primarilytedl#o an increase of $1.1 million in salaries badefits expense due to increased
headcount for support and professional servicesag®@l4 million increase in facilities and allocht®/erhead costs. Although cost of revenues
increased in absolute dollars, it declined as agrgage of revenues, reflecting an increase inymtddty, as an increased proportion of sales o
new products and maintenance and services offeviagsgenerated from existing customers.

Operating Costs and Expenses

Year Ended
December 31,
2013 2012 % Change
(in thousands)

Operating costs and expens

Research and developm $20,97: 15,03« 39.5%
Sales and marketir 44,13 30,03¢ 46.9%
General and administrati 8,881 4,96¢ 78.8%

Total operating expens $73,98¢ 50,03¢ 47.%%
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Year Ended December 31
2013 2012
(as a percentage of total revenue:

Operating costs and expens

Research and developmt 28.1% 28.1%
Sales and marketir 59.1% 56.2%
General and administrati 11.% 9.5%

Total operating expens 99.1% 93.71%

The increase in research and development experaseprmarily related to an increase of $4.8 milliorsalaries and benefits resulting
from increased headcount and consultants as pattrdbcus on enhancing and developing our exisiimgj new products. We also had an
increase of $0.9 million in allocated overhead sost

The increase in sales and marketing expenses waarpy related to a $9.8 million increase in s&arand benefits due to increased
headcount in all regions to expand our sales fawd,commissions on increased customer ordersterhainder of the increase was
attributable to a $1.6 million increase in markgtielated expenses, a $1.2 million increase ififiesi and allocated overhead costs and a $0.’

increase related to travel expenses.
The increase in general and administrative expemnasgrimarily related to an increase of $1.5 wiillin salaries and benefits, and other

related compensation, due to increased headcosmpfmort the overall growth of our business, angase of $1.2 million in consulting and
services fees primarily in connection with becomengublic company and $0.9 million increase inlfaes and allocated overhead costs.

Financial Expenses, Net

Year Ended
December 31
2013 2012 % Change
(in thousands)
Financial expenses, n $1,27¢ $3,04¢ (58.2%

The substantial majority of the decrease in finalhexpenses, net was due to the revaluation ofantsito purchase convertible preferred
stock.

Income Taxes

Year Ended
December 31
2013 2012 % Change
(in thousands)
Income taxe: $35¢€ $247 44.1%

Income taxes for the years ended December 31, 20d 2012 were comprised primarily of foreign incaiavees and state taxes.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited qudyteonsolidated statement of operations data &eheof the eight quarters ended
December 31, 2014. The data presented below haspgoepared on the same basis as the audited atatsalifinancial statements included
elsewhere in this report and, in the opinion of aggament, reflects all adjustments, consisting oflyormal recurring adjustments, necessary
for a fair presentation of this data. This inforfoatshould be read in conjunction with our consatiédi financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this report. The resultsistiohnical periods are not necessarily indicativéhaf results of operations for a full year or any

future period.
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Revenues
Licenses
Maintenance and servic
Total revenue
Cost of revenues (:
Gross profit
Operating costs and expens
Research and development
Sales and marketing (
General and administrative (
Total operating expens
Operating income (lost
Financial income (expenses), |

Income (loss) before income tax
Income taxe:

Net income (loss

Revenues
Licenses
Maintenance and servic
Total revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating costs and expens
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\

Total operating expens

Operating income (los!

Financial income (expenses), |

Income (loss) before income tax
Income taxe:

Net income (loss

Other financial data:

Non-GAAP operating income (loss) (

Non-GAAP net income (loss) (¢

Three Months Ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30 June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30 June 30, March 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands)
$21,70¢ $14,23¢ $14,42: $ 8,05:¢ $16,85¢  $10,25¢ $10,49¢ $ 5,87¢
12,00¢ 11,32¢ 10,19¢ 9,40z 8,83 8,25/ 7,33¢ 6,701
33,71« 25,56! 24,61¢ 17,45t 25,68¢ 18,51( 17,83; 12,58(

2,78¢ 2,59( 2,491 2,042 1,96¢ 1,652 1,50i 1,34¢
30,92¢ 22,97 22,12t 15,41 23,72: 16,85¢ 16,33( 11,23:
7,49¢ 7,31¢ 6,83 6,43¢ 5,861 5,712 4,87¢ 4,51¢
19,61¢ 17,74 17,18¢ 14,24: 13,30¢ 11,11¢ 10,50( 9,20¢
3,512 3,03( 2,66° 2,66°¢ 2,96¢ 2,15¢ 2,22( 1,53¢
30,63( 28,08 26,68 23,34¢ 22,13¢ 18,98t 17,59t 15,26¢
29€ (5,119 (4,55¢) (7,939 1,58:  (2,12)) (1,265) (4,035)
(80€) (944) 74 (39) 11€ (387) (324) (679)
(510 (6,05 (4,489 (7,970 1,69¢ (2519 (1,589 (4,719
17¢ (29€) (155) (104) (182) (50) (47) (77)
$ (331) $(6,35) $(4,639 $(8,079) $151€ $(2,569 $(1,630 $ (4,79)
Three Months Ended
March 31, March 31,
Dec. 31, Sept. 30 June 30, Dec. 31, Sept. 30 June 30,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(as a percentage of total revenue
64.4% 55.1% 58.6% 46.1% 65.6% 55.2% 58.9% 46.7%
35.€ 44.% 41.4 53.¢ 34.4 44.¢€ 41.1 53.:
100.( 100.( 100.( 100.( 100.C 100.( 100.( 100.(
8.3 10.1 10.1 11.7 7.7 8.€ 8.4 10.7
91.7 89.¢ 89.¢ 88.5 92.% 91.1 91.€ 89.2
22.2 28.¢ 27.¢ 36.€ 22.¢ 30.€ 27.5 35.¢€
58.2 69.4 69.¢ 81.t 51.¢ 60.C 58.¢€ 73.2
10.4 11.€ 10.¢ 15.Z 11.5 11.7 12.4 12.2
90.€ 109.¢ 108.4 133.i 86.1 102.€ 98.€ 121.%
0.c (20.0) (18.5) (45.4) 6.2 (11.5) (7.0) (32.0
(2.9 (3.9) 0.3 (0.9 0.E (2.7 (1.9) (5.4)
(1.5) (23.9) (18.9) (45.7) 6.7 (13.6€) (8.9 (37.9)
0. (1.2) (0.6) (0.€) (0.7) (0.9) (0.9) (0.€)
(1.0% (24.9% (18.%  (46.9% 6.%  (13.9% (9.1%  (38.0%
Three Months Ended
March 31, March 31,
Dec. 31, Sept. 30 June 30, Dec. 31, Sept. 30 June 30,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands)
$2,12:  $(3,900 $(3,580) $(7,280 $224. $(1,617) $ (849 $(3,84)
$ 1,498  $(5140 $(3,66) $(7,429 $217¢ $(1,149) $ (979 $ (4,229

(1) Includes no-cash stoc-based compensation expense as follc
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Three Months Ended
Dec. 31 Sept. 3C June 30 March 31, Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 March 31,

2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 72 $ 55 $ 46 3 200 $ 18 % 9 $ 5 % 6
Research and developmt 407 31¢ 272 19¢ 21t 151 12¢€ 59
Sales and marketir 1,004 614 51¢ 34C 32t 252 19¢ 66
General and administrati 343 22¢ 141 87 10z 98 92 63
Total non-cash stock-based compensatior
expense related to employees and
consultants $1,82¢ $1212 $ 97¢ $ 646 $ 66z $ 51C $ 422 3 194

(2) We define no-GAAP operating income (loss) as net operating ire¢lmss) excluding total n-cash stoc-based compensation exper
(3) We define non-GAAP net loss as net loss exolyidi) non-cash stock-based compensation expeteteddo employees and consultants,
and (ii) financial expenses resulting from the teation of warrants to purchase convertible pref@istock
The following table reflects the reconciliationagerating loss measured in accordance with GAARIEGAAP operating loss:

Three Months Ended

Dec.31 Sept. 30 March 31, Dec.31 Sept. 30 March 31,
June 30, June 30,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands)

Operating income (los: $ 29€ $(5,119) $(4,55¢) $ (7,937 $1,58: $(2,127) $(1.26%) $ (4,03Y)
Non-GAAP adjustments

Total nor-cash stoc-based compensation expel 1,82¢ 1,214 97¢ 64€ 662 51C 422 194

Non-GAAP operating income (los $2,127 $(3,900 $(3,58() $ (7,286€) $2,24¢ $(1,617) $ (843 $ (3,84))
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Seasonality and Quarterly Trends

Our quarterly results reflect seasonality in the & our products and services. Historically, veeédr experienced a pattern of increased
license sales in the fourth quarter. This trend esakdifficult to achieve sequential revenue gtowit the first quarter of the following year.
Because of customer budget and purchasing treedsamd for our products and services is typicabiyvsist in the first quarter has resulted in
decrease in quarterly revenues from the fourthtguéw the first quarter of the subsequent fisegry We expect these seasonal patterns to
continue in the future. Our gross margins and dperdoss have been affected by these historiealds because the majority of our expenses
are relatively fixed quarter over quarter. The tigndf revenues in relation to our expenses, muakha¢h does not vary directly with revenues,
has an impact on the cost of revenues, researciearsdopment expenses, sales and marketing expandegeneral and administrative
expenses as a percentage of revenues in each aatpratter during the year. The majority of ourenges is personnel-related costs, which
consists of salaries, employee benefits (includimgmissions and bonuses) and stock-based compensas a result, we have not
experienced significant seasonal fluctuations entiiming of expenses from period to period. Althbtlgese seasonal factors are common it
technology industry, historical patterns should b@tconsidered a reliable indicator of our futuates activity or performance.

Our revenues increased in each quarter as compéttethe same quarter in the prior year due tonaneiase in sales of our licenses to
new customers as well as incremental sales toimgististomers and due to increases in our maintenand services revenues primarily
resulting from increases in our installed baseust@mers.

Cost of revenues has increased in each quartemasaced with the same quarter in the prior yeanarily due to the increased cost of
providing maintenance and services to our expanclisgpmer base.

Total operating costs and expenses increased inceeter as compared with the same quarter ipribe year, primarily due to the

addition of personnel in connection with the expam®f our business. Furthermore, our commissigreage has historically been the greatest
towards the end of the year due to increased cosinigarned on customer orders entered at year end.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table shows our cash flows from opieigactivities, investing activities and financiagtivities for the stated periods:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ (7,110 $ 54 $1,73:
Net cash used in investing activiti (32,827 (5,716 (642
Net cash provided by financing activiti 106,89: 82& 402
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv: $ 66,96( $(4,837) $1,49:

In March 2014, we closed our IPO in which 5,300,4B6res of common stock were sold to the publanaiffering price of $22 per
share. We received proceeds of $106.1 million fthenlPO, net of underwriting discounts and commissiand offering expenses. On
December 31, 2014, our cash and cash equivaledtshemt-term deposits of $111.7 million were heldorking capital purposes and were
invested primarily in shorterm deposits. We intend to increase our investimecdpital expenditures in 2015, consistent whid growth in ou
business and operations. We believe that our egistash and cash equivalents, short-term depaogitsash flow from operations will be
sufficient to fund our operations and capital exgirmes for at least the next 12 months. Our futimgital requirements will depend on many
factors, including our rate of revenue growth, élxpansion of our sales and marketing activities titning and extent of spending to support
product development efforts and expansion into geegraphic locations, the timing of introductiofisiew software products and
enhancements to existing software products andahg&nuing market acceptance of our software affgsi

We have begun incurring costs as a public complaayvte had not previously incurred prior to outiglipublic offering, including, but
not limited to, increased directors’ and officarsurance, consultants fees, expenses for compliaith the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
rules implemented by the SEC and various othesscost
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities is dribgrsales of our products less costs and expepsesrily payroll and related expenses.
Collection of accounts receivable from the saleswfsoftware offerings is a significant componehour cash flows from operating activities,
as is the change in deferred revenues which repieeseearned amounts billed to our channel partneleted to these sales.

For 2014, cash outflows from our operating actgtivere $7.1 million, reflecting our net loss o®#imillion, which included non-cash
charges of $6.1 million. Our net loss was primaditiven by increased headcount of our sales fondeR&D personnel. Net cash provided by
operating activities was also impacted by two afluistorically known seasonal patterns (i) mosoof sales are typically made during the last
three weeks of every quarter, and (ii) our higisasts of products and services occur during theHdiscal quarter, with a low or negative
sequential revenue growth in the first quarter. /hbth patterns had an impact on the large amafusxtcounts receivable as of the end of
2014 fiscal year, the second pattern has histdyicaused our largest collections to occur durhmgfirst quarter, and a relatively lower
collection during the second quarter. These sehsmmals also impact our operating income (losgpbee the majority of our expenses are
relatively fixed in the short term. For the yeaded December 31, 2014, additional sources of catows were from changes in our working
capital, including a $9.6 million increase in acetsureceivable reflecting the seasonal patterrudsed above. This is partially offset by a $8.5
million increase in deferred revenues, a $5.5 arilincrease in accrued compensation and accrueshegp, a $0.9 million increase in account
payable and severance and a $0.8 million increasther long term liabilities. Our days’ sales tansling (“DSQO”) was 77 days for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

For 2013, cash inflows from our operating actitigere $0.1 million, reflecting our net loss of%thillion, which included $4.3 million
of non-cash charges. Our net loss was primarilyedrby increased headcount of our sales force &1l fersonnel. For the year ended
December 31, 2013, additional sources of cashviglwere from changes in our working capital, inahgda $7.4 million increase in deferred
revenues, a $3.8 million increase in accrued cosgtton and accrued expenses and other liabilitidsag$0.3 million increase in accounts
payable. This is partially offset by an $8.2 miflimcrease in accounts receivable. Our DSO wasay4 fbr the year ended December 31, 2
The decrease in DSO, from 83 days in the year eBéeember 31, 2012, reflects stronger than usui@ation of accounts receivable from
sales of our software.

For 2012, cash inflows from our operating actitieere $1.7 million, reflecting our net loss of&#illion, which included non-cash
charges of $4.7 million. Additional sources of castows were from changes in our working capitatluding a $4.4 million increase in
accounts receivable due to increased sales ofoftware offerings and a $0.7 million increase iegaid expenses and other current assets,
partially offset by a $4.1 million increase in deél revenues, resulting from the growth in outalied customer base combined with strong
maintenance and support renewal rates from outirgisustomers, a $1.8 million increase in accre@tipensation and accrued expense and
other liabilities and a $1.1 million increase ircagnts payable due to the timing of payments. C&8®©Dvas 83 days for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Investing Activities

Our investing activities consist primarily of cagiexpenditures to purchase property and equiprsatgs and purchases of short-term
investments and changes in our restricted caghelfuture, we expect to continue to incur captglenditures to support our expanding
operations.

During 2014, net cash used in investing activitie$32.8 million was primarily attributable to amcrease of $30.8 million in short-term
deposits and a $2.3 million increase in capitakeexiitures to support our growth during the perimduding hardware, software, office
equipment and leasehold improvements.

During 2013, net cash used in investing activitE$5.7 million was primarily attributable to arciease of $4.0 million in short-term
deposits and a $1.3 million increase in capitaleexiitures for technology hardware to support oongn during the period including hardws
software, office equipment and leasehold improvamen
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During 2012, net cash used in investing activitie$0.6 million was primarily attributable to cagliexpenditures for technology
hardware to support our growth during the pericdyell as leasehold improvements on our corporaseltiuarters.

Financing Activities

In 2014, net cash provided by financing activité$106.9 million was primarily attributable to peeds from our IPO, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions.

In 2013, net cash provided by financing activitté$0.8 million was attributable to $1.1 million pfoceeds received from the exercise o
warrants to purchase shares of Series D convepielerred stock, which was partially offset byateéd equity cost payments of $0.4 million.

In 2012, net cash provided by financing activité$0.4 million was attributable to $1.0 millionqueeds received from the sale of
common stock and $0.2 million from the exercisstotk options, which was partially offset by payitsesf $0.8 million for the repurchase of
common stock.

Promissory Note

On March 31, 2014, we entered into a promissorg aod related security documents with Bank LeumAUSe may borrow up to $7.0
million against certain of our accounts receivahléstanding amount, based on several conditioras) annual interest rate of the Wall Street
Journal Prime Rate less 0.15%. As of December @14 ,2hat rate amounted to 3.1%. This promissotg raables us to engage in foreign
currency hedging transactions with Bank Leumi USAntanage our exposure to foreign currency riskauthestricted cash requirements. We
may borrow under the promissory note until MarchZ&115 at which time the principal sum of each doeim, together with accrued and
unpaid interest payable, will become due and payakd of December 31, 2014, we had no balanceandstg under the promissory note. As
part of the transaction, we granted the lendexcartg interest in our personal property, excludintgllectual property and other intangible
assets. The promissory note also contains custoavamnts of default.

Contractual Payment Obligations

Our principal commitments primarily consist of @ations under leases for office space and motachkesh Aggregate minimum rental
commitments under non-cancelable leases as of Omredd, 2014 for the upcoming years were as follows

Payments Due by Perioc

Less Thar More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Operating lease obligatic $31,40¢ $ 2,11¢ $ 6,401 $ 5,46¢ $ 17,41¢

We have obligations related to unrecognized taxebelbilities totaling $0.6 million, which haviezeen excluded from the table above a:
we do not think it is practicable to make reliabiimates of the periods in which payments foretadigations will be made.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014, we did not have any oféfize sheet arrangements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statemenésoordance with generally accepted accountingiplies in the United States. The
preparation of consolidated financial statemergs aquires us to make estimates and assumptianaftbct the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses anceckldisclosures. We base our estimates on histaiqedrience and on various other assump
that we believe to be reasonable under the ciramss. Actual results could differ significantlgrr the estimates made by our management
To the extent that there are differences betweemstimates and actual results, our future findrste&ement presentation, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows will be affdctWe believe that the accounting policies disedig®low are critical to understanding our
historical and future performance, as these pdiniate to the more significant areas involvinqiagemens judgments and estimates. Crit
accounting policies and estimates are those thatnsider the most important to the portrayal affmancial condition and results of
operations because they require our most difficuibjective or complex judgments, often as a refithe need to make estimates about the
effect of the matters that are inherently uncertain

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsal (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update2@&4-08 (ASU 2014-08),
“Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 20%) Broperty, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): Ripg Discontinued Operations and
Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an EfitlRgU 2014-08 raises the threshold for a disptsajualify as a discontinued operation
and requires new disclosures of both discontinyetations and certain other disposals that do met tine definition of a discontinued
operation. It is effective for annual periods begmng on or after December 15, 2014. Early adopguermitted but only for disposals that h
not been reported in financial statements previoissiued. We do not expect the impact of the adopif ASU 2014-08 to be material to our
consolidated financial statements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Rexefrom Contracts with Customersgh updated standard on revenue recognition.
2014-09 provides enhancements to the quality andist@ncy of how revenue is reported while alsorawimg comparability in the financial
statements of companies reporting using IFRS anGKBAP. The core principle of the new standard iscmmpanies to recognize revenue to
depict the transfer of goods or services to custermeamounts that reflect the consideration (thgbayment) to which the company expects t«
be entitled in exchange for those goods or servities new standard also will result in enhancedldéires about revenue, provide guidance
for transactions that were not previously addressedprehensively (for example, service revenuecamtract modifications) and improve
guidance for multiple-element arrangements. ASW4204 will be effective for us in the first quarterfigcal 2017 and may be applied on a
retrospective or modified retrospective approachk.aké still evaluating the impact of implementatadrthis standard on our consolidated
financial statements.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary smof our business. Market risk represents theafistiss that may impact our financial
position due to adverse changes in financial mgrkees and rates. Our market risk exposure isgmilyna result of fluctuations in interest re
and foreign currency exchange rates. We do not tioissue financial instruments for trading purfose

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Approximately one third of our revenues for thergeended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were earmemhi).S. dollar denominated
currencies, mainly in the Euro and Pounds Sterlig. expenses are generally denominated in themtigs in which our operations are
located, primarily the U.S. dollar and NIS, anditkesser extent the Euro and Pounds Sterling. @svddnominated expenses consist primarily
of personnel and overhead costs from our operatiotssael. Our consolidated results of operatiand cash flow are, therefore, subject to
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currencyherge rates and may be adversely affected in theefdue to changes in foreign exchange
rates. The effect of a hypothetical 10% changeiirifin currency exchange rates applicable to osinless would not have a material impac
our historical consolidated financial statements.
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For purposes of our consolidated financial statéméocal currency assets and liabilities are feded at the rate of exchange to the U.S. dolls
on the balance sheet date and local currency regesmd expenses are translated at the exchange th&edate of the transaction or the
average exchange rate dollar during the reportargpg to the United States.

To date, we have used derivative financial instmitsiespecifically foreign currency forward contsadb manage exposure to foreign currency
risks, by hedging a portion of our forecasted esgsrdenominated in NIS expected to occur withiear.yThe effect of exchange rate change:
on foreign currency forward contracts is expectedffset the effect of exchange rate changes onnkerlying hedged item. We do not use
derivative financial instruments for speculativetrading purposes.

Interest Rate Risl

We had cash and cash equivalents and short-terositepf $111.7 million as of December 31, 2014. Mikl our cash and cash equivalents
and short-term deposits for working capital purgo$2ur cash and cash equivalents are held in egsbsds and money market funds. Due to
the short-term nature of these instruments, webelithat we do not have any material exposuredagss in the fair value of our investment
portfolio as a result of changes in interest rdbexlines in interest rates, however, would reduaefuture interest income.

As of December 31, 2014, we had no outstandingyatitins under our line of credit. To the extenteméer into other long-term debt
arrangements in the future, we would be subjefititduations in interest rates which could haveatarial impact on our future financial
condition and results of operation.

Inflation
We do not believe that inflation had a materiageffon our business, financial condition or resolteperations in the last three fiscal years. If

our costs were to become subject to significahdiivinary pressures, we may not be able to fulfgeifsuch higher costs through price
increases. Our inability or failure to do so coddm our business, financial condition and resefltsperations.
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Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer Tel: +972-3-6232525
3 Aminadav St. Fax: +972-3-5622555
Tel-Aviv 6706703, Israel ey.com

EY

Building a betber
working workd

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Varonis Systems, Inc. and its suli@di@&he “Company”), as of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and thedetonsolidated statements of operations, statsmécomprehensive loss, changes ir
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofttiree years in the period ended December 31, ZUieke financial statements are the
responsibility of Company’s management. Our residlity is to express an opinion on these finansi@tements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform aih afuthe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting thewemts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of the
Company and its subsidiaries as of December 34 a6dl December 31, 2013, and the related consetidasults of its operations and its ¢
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehDecember 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. gafigraccepted accounting principles.

Tel-Aviv, Israel /sl KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIEREF
February 19, 201 A Member of Ernst & Young Glob:
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VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31

2014 2013
Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 76,59 $ 9,63¢
Shor-term deposit: 35,10 4,34¢
Restricted cas — 171
Trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtfdoamts of $ 149 and $ 139 at December 31, 2014&and
December 31, 2013, respective 37,86¢ 28,26¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,96 1,35
Total current asse 152,52¢ 43,77
Long-term assets
Other asset 33z 1,62¢
Property and equipment, r 3,98¢ 1,85¢
Total lon¢-term asset 4,321 3,481
Total asset $156,84°  $47,25¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31

2014 2013
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stocklolders’ equity (deficiency)
Current liabilities:
Trade payable $ 2,70  $ 2,168
Accrued expenses and other short term liabil 16,75¢ 11,64:
Deferred revenue 33,75: 26,59!
Total current liabilities 53,21( 40,39:
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred revenue 3,46¢ 2,10¢
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred s — 2,86¢
Severance pa 1,44¢ 1,101
Other liabilities 3,69¢ 14
Total lon¢-term liabilities 8,611 6,09(
Commitments and contingent liabiliti
Convertible preferred stoc
Preferred A, B, C, D and E stock of $ 0.001 paugatAuthorized: no shares at December 31, 2014 and
16,986,384 shares at December 31, 2013; Issuedustinding: no shares at December 31, 2014 and
15,082,141 shares at December 31, Z — 43,77¢
Stockholder equity (deficiency)
Share capite
Common stock of $ 0.001 par value—Authorized: 200,000 shares at December 31, 2014 and

26,000,000 shares at December 31, 2013; Issuedutstanding: 24,685,604 shares at December 31,

2014 and 3,953,314 shares at December 31, 25 4
Accumulated other comprehensive |i (32¢) —
Additional paic-in capital 162,47t 4,741
Accumulated defici (67,157 (47,757

Total stockholder equity (deficiency 95,02¢ (43,00¢)
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholder equity (deficiency’ $156,84°  $47,25¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year ended
December 31
2014 2013 2012

Revenues

Licenses $ 58,42 $ 43,48t $ 31,60¢

Maintenance and servic 42,92¢ 31,12¢ 21,80«

Total revenue 101,34 74,61¢ 53,41(

Cost of revenue 9,911 6,47¢ 4,92¢
Gross profit 91,43: 68,14( 48,48.
Operating costs and expens

Research and developm 28,08t 20,97: 15,03«

Sales and marketir 68,78’ 44,13: 30,03¢

General and administratiy 11,87: 8,881 4,96¢

Total operating expens 108,74! 73,98 50,03¢

Operating los! (17,309 (5,845 (1,559
Financial expenses, n (1,719 (1,279 (3,04%)

Loss before income taxi (19,027 (7,119 (4,599
Income taxe: (37¢€) (35€) (249)

Net loss $ (19,399 $ (7,479 $ (4,846
Net loss per share of common stock, basic andedi $ (0.97) $ (1.99) $ (1.29)
Weighted average number of shares used in compuoéhtpss per share of common stc

basic and dilute 21,242,31 3,880,76 3,756,76

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢imsolidated financial statements.
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VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $(19,39¢) $(7,475) $(4,84¢6)
Other comprehensive los
Unrealized losses on derivative instrume (32€) — —
Total other comprehensive lo (32€) — —
Comprehensive los $(19,729) (7,475 $(4,84¢6)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE P REFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIENCY)

Balance as of January 1, 2C

Stocl-based compensation expel

Exercise of stock optior

Repurchase of common stock from employ
Issuance of common sto

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2(

Exercise of warrants to purchase Series D convenpieferred stoc

Stocl-based compensation expel

Exercise of stock optior

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2(

Issuance of common stock upon initial public offgr{net of
issuance costs of $2,37

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock updial public
offering

Conversion of warrants to purchase preferred staokwarrants tc
purchase common sto

Exercise of warrants to purchase common s

Stocl-based compensation expel

Exercise of stock optior

Exercise of restricted stock un

Unrealized loss on derivative instrume

Net loss

Balance as of December 31, 2(

*)  Represents an amount lower than

Total
Additional ~ Accumulated stockholders
other
Preferred stock Common stock paid-in comprehensivi  Accumulated equity
Number Amount Number Amount capital loss deficit (deficiency)
(in thousands, except share date

14,856,48 $ 37,95¢ 3,669,211 $ 4 $ 157 $ — $ (3543) $ (33,85)
— — — — 84¢ — — 84¢
— — 179,07} *) 16¢ — — 16¢
— — (87,100 *) (766€) — — (76¢€)
— — 87,10( *) 1,00( — — 1,00(¢
— — — — — — (4,84¢6) (4,846
14,856,48 37,95¢ 3,848,29: 4 2,82¢ = (40,279 (37,449

225,66( 5,81¢ — — — — — —
— — — — 1,78¢ — — 1,78¢
— — 105,02: *) 127 — — 127
— — — — — — (7,475 (7,475
15,082,14 43,77% 3,953,31. 4 4,741 — (47,759 (43,009)
= = 5,300,43! 5 106,06¢ = = 106,07:
(15,082,14) (43,77% 15,082,14 1t 43,76( — — 43,77¢
— — — — 2,86¢ — — 2,86¢

— — 107,21 *) — — — —
— — — — 4,66¢ — — 4,66¢
— — 238,95: *) 381 — — 382

— — 3,54t *) — — — —
— — — — — (32¢) — (32€)
= = = = = = (29,399 (29,399
-  $ — 24,68560 $ 28 $16247¢ $ (3260 $ (67,15) $ 95,02¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdinsolidated financial statements.
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VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 31

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $(19,399 $(7,47Y) $(4,84¢
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in) operating activitie
Depreciatior 1,28t 79€ 46~
Stoclk-based compensatic 4,66¢ 1,78¢ 84¢
Capital gain (loss) from disposal of fixed ass (10 (5) 12
Amortization of deferred charges related to | 187 20C 141
Revaluation of fair value of warrants to convesipreferred stoc — 1,50¢ 3,19t
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Trade receivable (9,607 (8,239 (4,370
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 19 19 (662)
Trade payable 54C 267 1,11¢
Accrued expenses and other short term liabil 5,541 3,46( 1,731
Increase in severance pay, 34¢ 377 14z
Deferred revenue 8,51 7,427 4,05¢
Other long term liabilitie: 79€ (75) (97)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi (7,110 54 1,732
Cash flows from investing activitie
Decrease (increase) in sk-term deposi (30,759 (4,009 27¢
Decrease (increase) in Ic-term deposit: 39 (28) 9
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ 23C (33¢) (10)
Purchase of property and equipm (2,339 (1,349 (920)
Net cash used in investing activiti (32,827) (5,716 (642)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Exercise of employee stock optic 382 127 16¢
Exercise of warrants to purchase Series D convenpiteferred stoc — 1,135 —
Payment of deferred equity offering ci (1,93%) (439 —
Repurchase of common stc — — (76€)
Net proceeds from initial public offerir 108,44 — —
Issuance of common sto — — 1,00(
Net cash provided by financing activiti 106,89: 82¢ 40z
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv: 66,96( (4,837 1,49:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 9,63: 14,47( 12,977
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 76,59 $ 9,63t  $14,47(
Supplemental disclosures of r-cash flow informatior
Deferred rent fixed asset additic $ 1071 $ — $ —
Conversion of preferred stock to common st $ 43,77 § — $ —
Conversion of liability warrants to equi $ 2866 $ — $ —
Deferred charges related to warrants granted titdeeilitator $ — $ 265 $ 25¢
Exercise of warrants to purchase Series D convenpiteferred stoc $ — $467¢ $ —
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid for income tax $ 304 $ 227 $ 16¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

NOTE 1:- GENERAL

a.

Varonis Systems, Inc. (“VSI” and together withsubsidiaries, collectively, the “Company”) wasarporated under the laws of the State
of Delaware on November 3, 2004 and commenced tipeszon January 1, 200

VSI has five wholly-owned subsidiaries: Varonis ®yss Ltd. (“VSL”) incorporated under the laws ofdsl on November 24, 2004;
Varonis UK (“VSUK?") incorporated under the laws Bhgland on March 14, 2007; Varonis Systems (Delasch GmbH (“VSG”)
incorporated under the laws of Germany on July08,12 Varonis France SAS (“VSF”) incorporated unter laws of France on
February 22, 2012; and Varonis Systems Corp. (“VJS@orporated under the laws of British Columitianada on February 19, 2013.

The Company’s software products and services adlot@rprises to map, analyze, manage and migrateutigructured data. The
Company specializes in human-generated data, aofyestructured data that includes an enterpriseisl processing documents,
spreadsheets, presentations, audio files, vides, fdmails, text messages, and any other dat&dreatemployees. Through its products
the DatAdvantage platform, DataPrivilege, IDU Cifisation Framework, DatAnywhere, Data Transporgibe and DatAnswers
(collectively, the “Products”), the software platfoallows enterprises to realize the value of theiman-generated data in ways that are
not resource-intensive and easy to implement.

VSI markets and sells products and services maintlye United States. VSUK, VSG, VSF and VSC retedl Company’s products and
services mainly in the UK, Germany, rest of Eurapd Canada, respectively. The Company primarilg $sl products and services to a
global network of distributors and Value Added Riese (VARS), which sell the products to end usarstomers.

The Company had a stockholders’ equity (deficierafy$95,026 and ($43,008) as of December 31, 20@i4®cember 31, 2013,
respectively. The stockholders’ deficiency as o€&maber 31, 2013 resulted from its preferred staitkoeing classified as equity. The
preferred stock was only redeemable upon contingesnts that were not probable. On March 5, 201etpteferred stock was converted
into common stock and therefore classified as gd&iee Note 1b).

Initial Public Offering:

On March 5, 2014, the Company closed its initiddlmuoffering (“IPO”) whereby 5,300,436 shares ohumon stock were sold by the
Company to the public (inclusive of 500,436 shafesommon stock pursuant to the full exercise obaerallotment option granted to
the underwriters). The aggregate net proceedsvetdly the Company from the offering were approxetya$106,071, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions and offeergenses payable by the Company. Upon the claditige IPO, all shares of the
Company’s outstanding convertible preferred stagbmatically converted into 15,082,141 shares afirmon stock, and outstanding
warrants to purchase convertible preferred stot&raatically converted into warrants to purchase, 822 shares of common stock. On
March 13, 2014, all such warrants were exercised, net share settlement, resulting in the issuaht87,217 shares of common stock.
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements are prepacedrding to United States generally accepted adowyprinciples (“U.S. GAAP”),
applied on a consistent basis, as follows:

a. Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stegiets in conformity with U.S. generally acceptedaamting principles requires
management to make estimates, judgments and assnmpthe Company’s management believes that tiraaes, judgments and
assumptions used are reasonable based upon infonnaagilable at the time they are made. Thesenastis, judgments and assumptions
can affect the reported amounts of assets anditie®iand disclosure of contingent assets andliti@s at the dates of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenaesx@enses during the reporting period. Actuallteswuld differ from those
estimates. On an ongoing basis, the Company’s neamagt evaluates estimates, including those retatadcounts receivable and sales
allowances, fair values of stock-based awards rdafdéaxes and income tax uncertainties, and cgatinliabilities. Such estimates are
based on historical experience and on various @tsgumptions that are believed to be reasonalglegtults of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmad liabilities.

b. Financial Statements in U.S. Dolla

Most of the revenues and costs of VSI are denomihiait United States dollars (“dollars”). Some of Hubsidiaries’ revenues and costs
are primarily incurred in Euros, the Pound Stetli@gnadian dollars and New Israeli Shekels (“NI&gwever, the Company’s
management believes that the dollar is the primaryency of the economic environment in which VB4 @&ach of its subsidiaries
operate. Thus, the dollar is the Company’s funeti@md reporting currency.

Accordingly, transactions denominated in currenotb®r than the functional currency are re-meastgéde functional currency in
accordance with ASC No. 830, “Foreign Currency &t at the exchange rate at the date of the tcéinseor the average exchange rate
in the quarter. At the end of each reporting perfodncial assets and liabilities aremeasured to the functional currency using exch
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Nomfiahassets and liabilities are re-measured &tbiital exchange rates. Gains and losses
related to re-measurement are recorded as financi@ane (expense) in the consolidated statemerdpafations as appropriate.

c. Principles of Consolidatior
The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of VSI and its wholly-owned subsidiarie§LY VSUK, VSG, VSF and VSC.
All intercompany transactions and balances have béminated upon consolidation.

d. Cash Equivalent:
Cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid inreents that are readily convertible to cash wiiginal maturities of three months or
less.

e. Shor-Term Deposits

A short-term bank deposit is a deposit with a mgtwf more than three months but less than one. y&gposits in U.S. dollars bear
interest at rates ranging from 0.30%-0.70% and%-05%0%, per annum, as of December 31, 2014 and, 284pectively. Deposits in
NIS bear interest at rates ranging from 0.35%-0.39% 0.83%-1.65%, per annum, as of December 3% 20d 2013, respectively.
Short-term deposits are presented at cost whictoajppates market value due to their short matwitie

56



Table of Contents

f. Restricted Cast
Restricted cash is primarily invested in certifesabf deposit and is used mostly as security ®itbmpany’s lease commitments.

The Company had no short-term restricted cash &id $s of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectieB014, the Company had a
$50 guarantee related to a credit card. The Compadyong-term restricted cash in the amount cf$and $ 370 as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively.

g. Property and Equipmer

Property and equipment are stated at cost, netoofnaulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculaisidg the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets at thewiolg annual rates:

%

Computer equipment 33
Office furniture and equipmel 7-15
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the let

term or estimated useful |

h. Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed fgaimment in accordance with ASC No. 360 “Propeiant and Equipment”
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amount of an asset (or asseipdmay not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets (or asset group) to be aetl used is measured by a comparison of theiegraynount of an asset to the future
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generatéiebgssets. If such assets are considered togaéred, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount by whichdhgiog amount of the assets exceeds the fair v&#ltiee assets. During the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, no impairosses have been recorded.

i. Long-Term Lease Deposit

Long-term lease deposits include long-term depdaitsffices.

. Revenue Recognitiol

The Company generates revenues in the form of aodtlicense fees and related maintenance and seifées. Maintenance and serv
primarily consist of fees for maintenance servi@esluding support and unspecified upgrades anduecdments when and if they are
available) and professional services (includingntrey) that are not essential to functionality loé tCompany’s software. The Company
sells its products worldwide directly to a netwoffidistributors and VARSs.

The Company accounts for the sale of perpetualvsoét in accordance with ASC No. 985-605, “SoftwRevenue Recognition”. As
required by ASC 985-605, the Company determinesdhe of the software component of its multiplereént arrangements using the
residual method when vendor specific objective enad (VSOE) of fair value exists for the undeliveetements of maintenance, and
professional services agreements. VSOE is baséluegorice charged when an element is sold sepamateenewed. Under the residual
method, the fair value of the undelivered eleméntieferred, and the remaining portion of the agesment fee is allocated to the
delivered elements and is recognized as revenuen ah ASC 985-605 criteria for revenue recognitioa met.

The Company determines the fair value based ost#me alone sales price charged for maintenandeprafiessional services. The
Company has defined classes of transactions, lmastte value of licensed software products purah&sen the Company. The
Company prices renewals for each class of trarsaes a fixed percentage of the total gross vdllieensed software products the
customer purchased.
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Software license revenues are recognized when g&vg&uevidence of an arrangement exists, the sidtiicense has been delivered,
there are no uncertainties surrounding productgiaoee, there are no significant future performantdgations, the license fees are fi
or determinable and collection of the license feednsidered probable. Fees for arrangements wajtment terms extending beyond
customary payment terms are considered not taxked fir determinable, in which case revenue is dedesind recognized when payme
become due from the customer provided that allraeenue recognition criteria have been met.

The Company recognizes revenues from the saleroflteense arrangements, ratably, on a straigletiiasis, over the term of the
underlying maintenance contract, and is typicafijfaione year.

The Company recognizes revenues from maintenataielyaover the term of the underlying maintenanmetact term. The term of the
maintenance contract is usually one year.

Revenues from professional services consist moétiyne and material services and, accordingly racegnized as the services are
performed or when the service term has expired.

Professional services bundled with licensed softveanrd other software related elements are not &sisenthe functionality of the other
elements of the arrangement. Revenues allocaltetservices are recognized as the services di@med, using VSOE for such
services.

Deferred revenues represent unrecognized fees loifleollected for maintenance and professionalices.
The Company does not grant a right of return tautstomers, except for one of its resellers. Dutiregyears ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, there were no returns fromréseller.

k. Cost of Revenue:

Cost of revenues consists of the cost of maintemand services, resulting from costs associatdd suipport, and professional services.

Accounting for Stoc-Based Compensatio

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiaocordance with ASC No. 718, “Compensation-Stockipensation”. ASC

No. 718 requires companies to estimate the fairevaf equity-based payment awards on the dateanft gising an Option-Pricing Model
(“OPM"). The value of the portion of the award tligtltimately expected to vest is recognized aex@ense over the requisite service
periods in the Company’s consolidated statementgpefations.

The Company recognizes compensation expensesefaathe of its awards granted based on the strliightnethod over the requisite
service period of each of the awards, net of eséthéorfeitures. ASC No. 718 requires forfeiturede estimated at the time of grant anc
revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifedébrfeitures differ from those estimates. Estiedforfeitures are based on actual
historical pre-vesting forfeitures.

The Company applies ASC 718 and ASC 505-50, “EeBéged Payments to Non-Employees” with respecptimios issued to non-
employees consultants. Accordingly, the Companyg option valuation models to measure the fair vafube options at the
measurement date as defined in ASC 505-50.

The Company selected the Black-Scholes-Merton ogtitcing model as the most appropriate fair vathethod for its stock options
awards, whereas the fair value of restricted stotts is based on the market value of the undeglgimares at the date of grant.

The fair value of options granted to employeesotemployee directors is estimated at the datganft using the following weighted
average assumptions:

Year ended December :

2014 2013 2012
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 60- 64% 60- 75% 60%- 75%
Risk-free interes 1.97- 2.30% 1.13-2.29% 1.10- 1.24%
Expected life 6.25 6.25 6.25

58



Table of Contents

The Company used its historical volatility in aatance with ASC 718. The computation of volatiliges historical volatility derived

from the Company exchange traded shares. Expected term of oi@méed is calculated based on the simplified nmésthoaccordanc
with SAB 110, (i.e., as the average between théngperiod and the contractual term of the optjpas adequate historical experience i
not available to provide a reasonable estimate.riBkefree interest rate assumption is the impliedd currently available on United
States treasury zero-coupon issues with a remataing equal to the expected life of the Companptoms. The dividend yield
assumption is based on the Company’s historicatiéepce and expectation of no future dividend p&yand may be subject to
substantial change in the future. The Company ssritally not paid cash dividends and has nodeeable plans to pay cash dividends
in the future.

The non-cash compensation expenses related to gegsl@and consultants for the years ended Deceritb@034, 2013 and 2012
amounted to $4,664, $1,788 and $848, respectively.

m. Research and Development Co

Research and development costs are charged ttateengnt of operations as incurred. ASC No. 985@6ftware-Costs of Software to
Be Sold, Leased, or Marketed,” requires capitalizadf certain software development costs subsddoahe establishment of
technological feasibility.

Based on the Company'’s product development protadsnological feasibility is established upon thenpletion of a working model.
The Company does not incur material costs betweeicampletion of the working model and the poinvhaich the product is ready for
general release. Therefore, research and develdmosts are charged to the statement of operagisivscurred.

n. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeAccounting Standards Codification No. 740ngsthe liability method
whereby deferred tax assets and liability accoatdrxes are determined based on the differencegéetfinancial reporting and the tax
basis for assets and liabilities and are measusied the enacted tax rates and laws that will keffiect when the differences are expec
to reverse. The Company provides a valuation allmeaif necessary, to reduce deferred tax asséte tamounts that are more likely-
than-not to be realized.

ASC 740 contains a two-step approach to recogniaimigmeasuring a liability for uncertain tax pasis. The first step is to evaluate the
tax position taken or expected to be taken in agtxn by determining if the weight of availabledence indicates that it is more likely
than not that, on an evaluation of the technicaits\ehe tax position will be sustained on auititluding resolution of any related
appeals or litigation processes. The second stigpnireasure the tax benefit as the largest ambahig more than 50% likely to be
realized upon ultimate settlement. The Companyusscinterest and penalties related to unrecognéelenefits in its taxes on income.

0. Derivative Instruments

The Company’s primary objective for holding derivatinstruments is to reduce its exposure to foreigrrency rate changes. The
Company reduces its exposure by entering into fahi@eign exchange contracts with respect to dpey@xpenses that are forecast to
be incurred in currencies other than the U.S. dolamajority of the Company’s revenues and a nigjaf its operating expenditures are
transacted in U.S. dollars. However, certain ofegagxpenditures are incurred in or exposed toratherencies, primarily the New Isra
Shekel (“NIS”).
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(*)

The Company has established forecasted transantioancy risk management programs to protect agfiircsuations in fair value and
the volatility of future cash flows caused by chasin exchange rates. The Company’s currency rahagement program includes
forward foreign exchange contracts designated sis fbaw hedges. These forward foreign exchangeraotst generally mature within 12
months. The Company does not enter into derivdiinancial instruments for trading purposes.

Derivative instruments measured at fair value &ed tclassification on the consolidated balancetshare presented in the following
table (in thousands):

Liabilities as of
December 31, 2014 (¥)

Notional Fair
Amount Value
Foreign Exchange Forward Contract Derivatives shdéow hedging
relationship—included in other current liabilitie $ 30,66: $ (326

The Company had no derivative instruments as oeBéer 31, 201:

As of December 31, 2013, there were no open dér&vaistruments arrangements. During 2014, the Gompecorded operating losses
due to foreign currency transactions in the amofi$864.

Warrants to Purchase Convertible Preferred Si

The Company accounted for freestanding warranggitohase shares of its convertible preferred sagck liability on the balance shee
fair value. The warrants to purchase convertibéfgrred stock were recorded as a liability uni ttate of the IPO because the underl
shares of convertible preferred stock were contitigeedeemable (upon a deemed liquidation evemd) therefore, may have obligated
the Company to transfer assets at some point ifutbee. The warrants were subject to re-measurétodnir value at each balance shee
date and any change in fair value is recognizel@amponent of financial income (expense), netherstatements of operations. The
warrants were classified into equity upon the 1B®the underlying shares of preferred stock wengexted into common stock. As of
December, 31, 2014, there are no outstanding wiatran

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentrations of credit risk consigigipally of cash, cash equivalents,
short-term deposits and trade receivables.

The Company'’s cash, cash equivalents and shortdepusits are invested in major banks in the Urfiiiedes, the United Kingdom,
France, Germany, Israel and Canada. Such deposhe United States may be in excess of insureitsliamd are not insured in other
jurisdictions. The Company maintains cash and egglivalents with diverse financial institutions andnitors the amount of credit
exposure to each financial institution.

The Company’s trade receivables are geographidalbrsified and derived primarily from sales toetwork of distributors and VARs
mainly in the United States and Europe. Concewtnati credit risk with respect to trade receivalieimited by credit limits, ongoing
credit evaluation and account monitoring procedufége Company performs ongoing credit evaluatidrissachannel partners and
establishes an allowance for doubtful accountsapen a specific review of all significant outdarg invoices. The Company writes
off receivables when they are deemed uncollectibhkhaving exhausted all collection efforts.

Retirement and Severance P

Until December 31, 2012, VSI had a defined contidsuplan (Simple IRA) available to all of its enogkees meeting certain service
requirements. Employees were permitted to conilgtto a maximum of $11.5 of their annual comptmsdo the plan. VSI made a
contribution to the plan in an amount equal togh®loyee’s contributions up to 3% of their salaries
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Starting January 1, 2013, VSI made available tertployees a retirement plan (the “U.S. Plan”) thatlifies as a deferred salary
arrangement under Section 401(k) of the InternakeRee Code. Participants in the U.S. Plan may &bedéfer a portion of their pre-tax
earnings, up to the Internal Revenue Service aroargtibution limit. VSI matches 100% of each papant’s contributions up to a
maximum of 3% of the participant’s base pay and ®0%ach participant’s contributions on contribudetween 3% and 5% of the
participant’'s base pay. Each participant may cbuata up to 80% of base remuneration up to thenatdRevenue Service’s annual
contribution limit. Contributions to the U.S. Plare recorded during the year contributed as anresepm the consolidated statements of
income.

Pursuant to Israel's Severance Pay Law, Israeli@yeps are entitled to severance pay equal to amhis salary for each year of
employment, or a portion thereof. The employeehefisraeli subsidiary elected to be included usgetion 14 of the Severance Pay
Law, 1963 (“section 14”). According to this sectithese employees are entitled only to monthly diépoat a rate of 8.33% of their
monthly salary, made in their name with insuramm@pganies. Payments in accordance with sectionl@dse the Company from any
future severance payments (under the above ISaebrance Pay Law) in respect of those employkerefore, related assets and
liabilities are not presented in the balance sheet.

The Company'’s liability for severance pay for timepdoyees of its French subsidiary is calculatedgpant to French law, according to
which French employees are entitled to an indenfaitstatutory redundancy) which is calculated addihger of 20% of the average
quarterly payroll of the employees or 33.3% ofdlverage annual payroll. The law provides for thgnpent of severance payment to any
employee working for the French subsidiary foreast a year.

Total Company expenses related to retirement avetaece pay amounted to $2,651, $1,739 and $1#568€ years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
s.  Fair Value of Financial Instrument

Fair value is an exit price, representing the arhthat would be received to sell an asset or paidansfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. As swahyélue is a market-based measurement that stheulbtermined based on
assumptions that market participants would useiging an asset or a liability.

A three tier fair value hierarchy is establishe@dmsis for considering such assumptions andhfuts used in the valuation
methodologies in measuring fair value:

. Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect quotedqwifunadjusted) for identical assets or liabilitreactive markets

. Level 2: Observable inputs that reflect quqgteides for identical assets or liabilities in mag#hat are not active; quoted
prices for similar assets or liabilities in activearkets; inputs other than quoted prices that bsemwable for the assets or
liabilities; or inputs that are derived principaflpm or corroborated by observable market datadyelation or other mear

. Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting our caasumptions incorporated in valuation techniquesido determine fair
value. These assumptions are required to be censisith market participant assumptions that aaseeably available

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entityniximize the use of observable inputs and minirtfieeuse of unobservable inputs
when measuring fair value.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivaleati receivables, short-term deposits and tragabbes approximate their fair value
due to the short-term maturity of such instruments.
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t. Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per She

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividiegnt loss by the weighted-average number of sledigammon stock outstanding
during the period.

Diluted net loss per share is computed by givirfgatfto all potential shares of common stock, idalg stock options, convertible
preferred stock warrants stock, to the extent igidut

Basic and diluted net loss per share was the samaath period presented as the inclusion of a#mi@l shares of common stock
outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.

u. Contingent Liabilities

The Company accounts for its contingent liabilifiesiccordance with ASC No. 450 “Contingencies’prvision is recorded when it is
both probable that a liability has been incurred e amount of the loss can be reasonably estiinate

With respect to legal matters, provisions are et and adjusted to reflect the impact of negatietj estimated settlements, legal
rulings, advice of legal counsel and other infoliotaind events pertaining to a particular matteroADecember 31, 2014 and 2013, the
Company was not a party to any ligation that cdwdlde a material adverse effect on the Company’meéss, financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

v. Recently Issued Accounting Pronounceme

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsal (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update2@&4-08 (ASU 2014-08),
“Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 20%) Broperty, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): Ripg Discontinued Operations
and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of aity?hASU 2014-08 raises the threshold for a disaldo qualify as a discontinued
operation and requires new disclosures of bothoditicued operations and certain other disposatsihvaot meet the definition of a
discontinued operation. It is effective for annpatiods beginning on or after December 15, 2014dytaloption is permitted but only for
disposals that have not been reported in finarstéaéments previously issued. The Company doesxpeict the impact of the adoptior
ASU 2014-08 to be material to its consolidatedtirial statements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Rexefrom Contracts with Customers”, an updateddstahon revenue
recognition. ASU 2014-09 provides enhancementhdatiality and consistency of how revenue is regownthile also improving
comparability in the financial statements of conipameporting using IFRS and US GAAP. The coregipie of the new standard is for
companies to recognize revenue to depict the andfgoods or services to customers in amountgdfiact the consideration (that is,
payment) to which the company expects to be edtitieexchange for those goods or services. Thestamdard also will result in
enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide guégdandransactions that were not previously add@s®mprehensively (for example,
service revenue and contract modifications) anddwg guidance for multiple-element arrangementdJ 2814-09 will be effective for
the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 amaly be applied on a full retrospective or modifiettospective approach. The
Company is still evaluating the impact of implenadiun of this standard on its consolidated finahstatements.
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NOTE 3:- PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
December 31
2014 2013
Prepaid expenses $ 85z $ 83¢
Government institutions & other receivab 134 167
Deferred charge 1,811 187
Shor-term deposit: 12¢ 104
Other 37 60

$2,96: $1,351

Deferred charges relate to lease incentive, see 6lmt

NOTE 4:- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
December 31
2014 2013
Cost:
Computer equipmer $5,30¢ $3,381
Office furniture and equipmel 841 53¢
Leasehold improvemen 1,77¢ 597
7,921 4,517
Accumulated depreciatic 3,93 2,661
Property and equipment, r $3,98¢ $1,85¢

Depreciation expenses for the years ended Dece®dh@014, 2013 and 2012 were $1,285, $796 and $d6pectively.

NOTE 5:- ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER SHORT TERM LIABILITIES
December 31
2014 2013
Employees $ 7,89( $ 6,07
Accrued expense 4,022 2,89¢
Government authorities and ott 4,80: 2,56¢
Other short term liabilitie 39 10z
$16,75¢ $11,64:
NOTE 6:- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
a. Liens:

The Company has several liens granted to finamtstitutions mainly to secure various operatingeagreements in connection with its
office space.
b. Lease Commitment:

The Company rents its facilities in all locationgder operating leases with lease periods expirimg £2015-2026. The lease agreements
of VSL include extension options. VSL leases cardts employees under operating lease agreemgpitsrg at various dates from
2015-2017.
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Aggregate minimum rental commitments under non-ekatde leases as of December 31, 2014 for the uipcoyears were as follows:

Payments Due B

Period

2015 $ 2,11¢
2016 3,507
2017 2,89¢
2018 2,721
2019 2,74¢
Thereaftel 17,41¢

$ 31,40

Total rent expenses for the years ended Decemh@034, 2013 and 2012 were $2,986, $1,636 and 81r&dpectively.

On June 18, 2014, the Company entered into a neatiifin of lease agreement for its office spaceewNork City, which was originall
leased in 2011. The modification extended the leasié February 28, 2026 and added additional psesiiThe Company has an optiol
terminate the lease on February 28, 2023 as weéleasption to extend the lease for an additioival year period.

For leases that contain predetermined fixed esoatabf the minimum rent, the Company recognizesréttated rent expense on a
straight-line basis from the date of possessiah®froperty to the end of the initial lease tefime Company records any differences
between the straight-line rent amounts and ama@ayable under the leases as part of deferredineatcrued liabilities or long-term
liabilities, as appropriate. Cash or lease incestireceived upon entering into certain leasesdfteallowances”) are recognized on a
straight-line basis as a reduction to rent fromdate of possession of the property through theoétige initial lease term. The Company
records the unamortized portion of tenant allowarazea part of deferred rent, in current liabgitie other long-term liabilities, as
appropriate. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, defeest included $39 and $103, respectively, inenfrtiabilities in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets, and deferred renided|$3,698 and $14, respectively, in long-termilitzes in the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets.

On March 31, 2014, the Company entered into a @msony note and related security documents with Bamkni USA. The Company
may borrow up to $7,000 against certain of its aot® receivable outstanding amount, based on desaditions, at an annual interest
rate of the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate les§%.1As of December 31, 2014, that rate amount&dli%. This promissory note enah
the Company to engage in foreign currency hedgemgstictions with Bank Leumi USA to manage expotufereign currency risk
without restricted cash requirements. The Compaay borrow under the promissory note until March&115 at which time the
principal sum of each such loan, together with @edrand unpaid interest payable, will become ddeparyable. As of December 31,
2014, the Company had no balance outstanding uhdegromissory note. As part of the transactioa,@lompany granted the lender a
security interest in our personal property, exalgdntellectual property and other intangible ass€he promissory note also contains
customary events of default.

NOTE 7:- FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following table sets forth the Company’s lighek that were measured at fair value as of Deezi@h, 2014 by level within the fair
value hierarchy (in thousands):

As of December 31, 201

Fair
Level | Level Il Level Il Value
Financial Liabilities:
Forward foreign exchange contra — (326) — (326)
Total financial liabilities $— $(320 $ — $(32¢€)

The following table sets forth the Company’s lighek that were measured at fair value as of Deegi@h, 2013 by level within the fair
value hierarchy (in thousands):

As of December 31, 201

Fair
Level | Level Il Level llI Value

Financial Liabilities:
Warrants to purchase preferred sh: — $2,86¢ $2,86¢

Total financial liabilities $— $ — $ 2,86¢ $2,86¢

Prior to the IPO, financial instruments measurefhiatvalue on a recurring basis included warrdotsonvertible preferred stock. The
warrants were classified as a liability in accomawith ASC 480-1®5 (see Note 10). These warrants were classifidéelvat 3 in the fai
value hierarchy since some of the inputs usedernvttuation (the share price) were determined basedanagement’s assumptions. The
fair value of the warrants on the issuance dateomnslbsequent reporting dates was determined thenglack-Scholes-Merton options
pricing model utilizing the assumptions noted belde fair value of the underlying preferred stpcice was determined by the boarc
directors considering, among others, third p
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(*)

valuations. The valuation of the Company was peréat using a DCF model. The OPM method was then@radlto allocate the
enterprise value among the Company'’s various e@lagses, deriving a fully marketable value persliar the preferred stock. The
expected terms of the warrants were based on thaiméng contractual expiration period. The expeactedk price volatility for the stock
was determined by examining the historical voldgii of a group of the Company’s industry peerthase is no trading history of the
Company’s stocks. The risk-free interest rate vedsutated using the average of the published isteetes for U.S. Treasury zero-
coupon issues with maturities that approximatestipected term. The dividend yield assumption was as there is no history of

dividend payments. As of December 31, 2014, allWitherants were exercised.

Prior to the IPO, the following assumptions weredito estimate the value of the Series C Prefestezk warrants:

Expected volatility
Risk-free rate

Dividend yield
Expected term (in year
Share price

December 31,201

6C%

1.€%

0%
5.2¢
27.€

Prior to the IPO, the following assumptions weredito estimate the value of the Series D Prefesteeck warrants:

Expected volatility
Risk-free rate

Dividend yield
Expected term (in year
Share price

As of December 31, 2013, all the Series D Prefestedk warrants were exercist

August 16

2013(%)
6C%
0.7(%
0%
3.37
$ 25.7¢

Prior to the IPO, the following assumptions weredito estimate the value of the Series E Prefat@tk warrants:

Expected volatility
Risk-free rate

Dividend yield
Expected term (in year
Share price
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0%
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The change in the fair value of the preferred stwakrant liability is summarized below:

Balance a Issuance o Exercise o
Change ir Balance a
beginning preferred preferred
stock stock fair end of
of period warrants warrants value period
December 31, 2012 $ 2,321 $ 25¢ $ — $ 3,19 $ 5,77¢
December 31, 201 $ 577+ $ 265 $ (4679 $ 1508 $ 2,86¢
December 31, 201 $ 2,86¢ $ — $ (2,866) $ — $ —
Note 8:- CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
a. Composition of Convertible Preferred Stock:
Authorized Issued and outstandin
Carrying
Number of shares amount
December 31
December 31 2013
2013 2013
Stock of $0.001 par valu
Series A Preferred stot 5,035,71! 5,035,71! $ 3,477
Series B Preferred stoi 5,093,26: 5,093,26: 10,06¢
Series C Preferred sto 1,721,02; 1,534,66! 6,96¢
Series D Preferred sto 4,875,08; 3,200,74. 20,76¢
Series E Preferred sto 261,30: 217,75. 2,50(
16,986,338 15,082,14 $ 43,77F

The Company issued Series A through E Preferrexk ftetween the years 2004 and 2011. The Compasgyifital the convertible
preferred stock outside of stockholders’ equityfifdency) as required by ASC 480-10-S99-3A and AZIB, since the shares possessed
liquidation features which may have triggered dritigtion of cash or assets that was not solelfiwithe Company’s control. Pursuant to the
Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of ipaa@tion in effect prior to the IPO, a deemed lit@tion event would have occurred upon
the closing of the transfer of the Company’s se@gito a person or a group of affiliated persimsne or a series of related transactions, if
immediately after such transaction, such persagraup of affiliated persons would hold 50% or mof¢he outstanding voting stock of the
Company. For the year ended December 31, 201& dhepany did not adjust the carrying value of theventible preferred stock to the
deemed liquidation values of such shares sincemde liquidation event was not probable at thedrizd sheet date. Upon closing of the IPO
on March 5, 2014, all shares of the Compamytstanding convertible preferred stock autoralfiyiconverted into shares of the common st
As of such date, no convertible preferred stock aughorized or issued and outstanding.
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NOTE 9:- STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)

a. Composition of common stock capit

Authorized Issued and outstanding
Number of shares
December 31 December 31
2014 2013 2014 2013
Stock of $0.001 par valu
Common stocl 200,000,00 26,000,000 24,685,60 3,953,31.

b. Common stock rights

The Company’s Amended and Restated Certificataadrporation authorizes the Company to issue 200000 shares of common
stock, par value $0.001 per share.

The common stock confers upon its holders the tiglparticipate in the general meetings of the Camypto vote at such meetings (each
share represents one vote), to elect board merahdrto participate in any distribution of divideratsany other distribution of the
Company'’s property, including the distribution oflus assets upon liquidation.

c.  Stock option plans

On December 30, 2005, the Company’s board of direcdopted the Varonis Systems, Inc. 2005 Stamk @he “2005 Stock Plan”). As
of December 31, 2013, the Company had reserve®@ 879 shares of common stock available for issutmeenployees, directors,
officers and consultants of the Company and itsislidgries. The options generally vest over fourgedlo awards were granted under
2005 Stock Plan subsequent to December 31, 20@i:@further awards will be granted under the 28@ick Plan.

On November 14, 2013, the Company’s board of dirscidopted the Varonis Systems, Inc. 2013 Omritfousty Incentive Plan (the
“2013 Plan”). As of December 31, 2014, the Complaag reserved 1,904,633 shares of common stoclkaslaflor issuance under the
2013 Plan to employees, directors, officers andgahants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Thmeber of shares of common stock
available for issuance under the 2013 Plan wilhiseeased on January 1, 2016 and on each Jantleyehfter by four percent (4%) of
the number of shares of common stock issued arsamating on each December 31 immediately prioneéodate of increase (rounded
down to the nearest whole share), but the amoueadtf increase will be limited to the number ofrshaf common stock necessary to
bring the total number of shares of Common Stocklable for grant and issuance under the 2013 teldime percent (5%) of the numk
of shares of common stock issued and outstandireaoh December 31. Options granted under the 2@t3generally vest over four
years. Any award that is forfeited or canceled tee#xpiration becomes available for future gramidew the 2013 Plan.
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A summary of employees’ stock options activitiesilg the year ended December 31, 2014 is as follows

Year ended
December 31, 2014
Weighted
Weighted average
Aggregate remaining
average intrinsic contractual
exercise value
Number price (in thousands life (years)
Options outstanding at the beginning of the year 3,233,23 $ 4.03: $ 65,72 5.70(
Grantec 1,111,941 $25.07%
Exercisec (213,179 $ 1.66:
Forfeited (51,390 $19.44¢
Options outstanding at the end of the pe 4,080,61 $ 9.69i $ 95,85¢ 6.092
Vested and expected to vi 3,965,74 $ 9.31¢ $ 94,58 6.00(
Options exercisable at the end of the pe 2,620,45. $ 2.63¢ $ 7911 4.35¢
A summary of employees’ stock options activitiesinly the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2d2fidlows:
Year ended
December 31, 201
Weighted
Weighted average
Aggregate remaining
average intrinsic contractual
exercise value
Number price (in thousands life (years)
Options outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,809,92: $ 1.782 $ 43,80 5.95:2
Grantec 541,15( $15.26°
Exercisec (105,02) $ 1.23¢
Forfeited (12,81) $13.99¢
Options outstanding at the end of the pe 3,233,23! $ 4.03: $ 6572 5.70(
Vested and expected to vi 3,203,46! $ 3.941 $ 6541 5.66¢
Options exercisable at the end of the pe 2,550,69. $ 1.47: $ 58,37 4.79¢
Year ended
December 31, 2012
Average Average
Aggregate remaining
exercise intrinsic contractual
value
Number price (in thousands’ life (years)
Options outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,812,09 $1.247 $ 15,61¢ 6.57
Options granted to consultant that became empldygag the yea 10,00( $1.25¢
Grantec 183,92¢ $9.22¢
Exercisec (179,07Y $0.93¢
Forfeited (17,029 $2.38:
Options outstanding at the end of the y 2,809,92. $1.78: $ 43,80 5.95:2
Vested and expected to vi 2,787,88! $1.74: $ 43,56¢ 5.93(
Options exercisable at the end of the y 2,488,51 $1.197 $ 40,24 5.61(

The weighted average grant date fair values obaptgranted during the years ended December 34, 2013 and 2012 were
$14.087, $14.002 and $11.183, respectively.
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The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the total intrinsic value that would hbgen received by the option
holders had all option holders exercised theiragtion the last date of the exercise period. Tiotahsic value of options exercised for
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 202346300, $2,218 and $2,420, respectively. Asexfdbnber 31, 2014 and 2013,
there were $17,016 and $7,982, respectively, af tairecognized compensation cost related to nstedeshare-based compensation
arrangements granted under the 2005 Stock PlagG@iRiPlan. This cost is expected to be recognized @ period of approximately

3.173 and 2.748 years, respectively.

The options outstanding as of December 31, 2014 baen separated into ranges of exercise priaalaw$:

Options Weighted Options Weighted Weighted

outstanding average Weighted exercisable average average

as of remaining as of remaining exercise

December 31  contractual average December 31 contractual price of

Range of exercise options
exercise prict 2014 life (years) price 2014 life (years) exercisable
$0.070-0.901 594,59: 2.50¢ $ 0.72¢ 594,59: 250¢ $ 0.72¢
$1.03¢-1.576 1,651,59! 4255 $ 1.261 1,651,59! 425 $ 1.26]
$6.23(-8.800 174,22. 6.88¢ $ 6.72¢ 135,31¢ 6.81f $ 6.73¢
$12.470 413,68( 8.178  $12.47( 184,50« 8.152 $ 12.47(
$21.0(-24.23 1,039,07: 9.47¢ $21.61: 54,44¢ 8.812 $ 21.76¢
$39.86 207,45( 9.227  $39.86( — 0.00C $ 0.00¢
4,080,61. 6.09: $ 9.697  2,620,45 435¢ $ 2.63¢

The options outstanding as of December 31, 2018 bhaen separated into ranges of exercise priaalaw$:

Options Weighted Options Weighted Weighted

outstanding average Weighted exercisable average average

as of remaining as of remaining exercise

December 31 contractual average December 31 contractual price of

Range of exercise options
exercise prict 2013 life (years) price 2013 life (years) exercisable
$0.070-0.901 758,04 3.361 $ 0.74¢< 758,04 3361 $ 0.74¢
$1.03¢-1.576 1,682,94. 5.20¢ $ 1.26( 1,656,36 518¢ $ 1.25¢
$6.23(-8.800 185,34¢ 7.87¢ $ 6.70¢ 102,99¢ 7.791 $ 6.801
$12.470 444.70( 9.17¢  $12.47( 33,28¢ 8.89¢ $ 12.47(
$21.14-24.23 162,20( 9.68¢ $21.98: — 0.00C $ 0.00¢
3,233,23! 5.70C $ 4.03:¢ 2,550,69. 4.79¢ $ 1.47:

d. Options issued to consultan

The Company’s outstanding options granted to céastd for sales and pre-marketing services as oéDber 31, 2014 were as

follows:

Issuance date

December 2006
February 201.
August 201z
October 201
March 2014
May 2014
August 2014
November 201-
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Options for Exercise price
shares of Options Exercisable
common stocl per share exercisable through
(number) (number)

15,00( $ 0.901 15,00( December 201
4,00( $  12.47( 1,832 February 202:
5,00( $ 2114 1,66t August 202:
1,25( $  24.23( 363 October 202!

16,45( $ 39.86( — March 2024
8,70( $ 22.01( — May 2024

36,25( $ 21.00( — August 2024

12,00( $ 21.66( — November 202

98,65( 18,86(
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The Company'’s outstanding options granted to coastd for sales and pre-marketing services as oééer 31, 2013 were as

follows:

Issuance dat

December 200
May 2012
February 201:
August 201z
October 2011

Options for Exercise price
shares of Options Exercisable
common stocl per share exercisable¢ through
(number) (number)
40,09( $ 0.901 40,09( December 201
1,50( $ 6.80( 65€ May 2022
4,00( $ 12.47( — February 202!
5,00( $ 2114 — August 202:
1,25( $ 24.23( — October 202!
51,84( 40,74¢

e. Stock-based compensation expense for employees and tamtst

The Company recognized non-cash stock-based comjimmgxpense in the consolidated statements ahtipes as follows (in

thousands):

Cost of revenues
Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati

Total

f. Restricted stock units for n-employee directors

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
$ 192 $ 39 $ 41
1,19¢ 551 327
2,47¢ 841 284
79€ 357 19€

$4,66¢ $1,78¢ $84¢

The following provides a summary of the restricséack unit activity for the Company for the yeaded December 31, 2014:

Outstanding as of January 1, 2014
Grantec

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested as of December 31, 2(

Number of
Shares
Underlying Weighted-
Outstanding Average Average
Restricted Stocl Grant Date Intrinsic
Value (in
Units Fair Value thousands
— $ —
31,90¢ $ 21.0C
(4,43F) $ 21.0C
- = $ -
27,47( $ 21.0C $ 32t

g. OnJanuary 30, 2012, the Company entered iSioaae Purchase Agreement (the “2012 SR#ith one of its founders, pursuant to wh
the Company purchased 87,100 shares of common, stbakprice per share of $11.48, for total comsitien of $1,000
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The difference between the price per share anththealue of the common stock at the repurchase, daultiplied by the number of
shares purchased, in the amount of $234 was ret@asleompensation expenses with respect to emgayeecordance with ASC 718.
Simultaneously with the 2012 SPA, the Company #wd87,100 shares of common stock to several ekitting stockholders at a price
per share of $11.48 for a total consideration o0$Q.

Note 10- WARRANTS TO PURCHASE PREFERRED STOCK
Issuance witt Warrants Issuance Number of
respect to to purchase date warrants Exercise price Contractual term
2007 Credit Line Preferred ¢ 11/7/200° 69,88 $4.56 per share ort The longer of 7
Agreement lowest price per years from the
share in the next issuance date of the
preferred stock warrants or 5 years
investment round.  following an
effective IPO
2007 Credit Line Preferred ( 5/1/200¢ 23,29 $4.56 per share ort The longer of 7
Agreement lowest price per years from the
share in the next issuance date of the
preferred stock warrants or 5 years

investment round.  following an
effective IPQ

Series D Transaction Preferred [ 12/21/200 180,31: $5.04 The longer of 6
years from issuanc
date of the warran
or 3 years from the
date the common
stock is listed for
trading on a
national securities
exchange

Series D Transaction Preferred [ 12/21/201 45,34¢ $5.04 The longer of 6
years from issuanc
date of the warran
or 3 years from the
date the common
stock is listed for

trading on a
national securities
exchange
2012 Credit Line Preferred | 5/29/201. 15,24: $11.48 per share or The longer of 7
Agreement the lowest price per years from the
share in the next issuance date of the
preferred stock warrants or 5 years
investment round  following an
(but in no event effective IPO
lower than $9.18 per
share)
2012 Credit Line Preferred | 5/21/201. 14,15 $11.48 per share or The longer of 7
Agreement—amendment the lowest price per years from the
share in the next issuance date of the
preferred stock warrants or 5 years
investment round  following an
(but in no event effective IPO
lower than $9.18 per
share)

(*) As of December 31, 2014, no warrants to purchasfeped stock were outstandir
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a. The fair value of the Series C Preferred stoakants on the date of issuance was $341.
As of December 31, 2013, all the Series C Prefesteck warrants were outstanding.

b. In conjunction with the 2012 Credit Line Agreetheéhe Company issued TriplePoint warrants to ppase 15,242 shares of the
Company’s Series E Preferred stock. No warrantsamently outstanding.

The fair value of the Series E Preferred stock args on the date of issuance was $258.

In conjunction with the amendment of the 2012 Grkdtie Agreement, the Company issued TriplePointraras to purchase 14,154
shares of the Company’s Series E Preferred stoskvaNrants are currently outstanding.

The fair value of the Series E Preferred stock args on the date of issuance was $263.
As of December 31, 2013, all the Series E Prefestedk warrants were outstanding.

c. In conjunction with a Series D Preferred Stookchase Agreement entered into by the Company @embker 22, 2008 (the “Series D
Transaction”), the Company agreed to grant warrenpsirchase a number of shares of Series D Peefetock based on future annual revenu
targets to one of the investors in the Series MJaation, which is also one of the Company’s reselthe “Reseller”), all pursuant to certain
conditions stipulated in a management agreementeegt the parties. No warrants are currently ouditay

NOTE 11:- INCOME TAXES
a. The Company
The Company is taxed in accordance with U.S. tasla

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had accuntutateloss carry-forward for federal and stategarposes of approximately
$20,324 and $10,814, respectively. If not utilizéebse carryforwards will expire starting in 202112016 for federal and state tax purposes,
respectively. Included in the above net operatiss lcarryforwards are $1,413 and $1,172 of federdlstate net operating loss carryforwards.
respectively, associated with a windfall tax betntifat will be recorded as additional paid in calpithen realized. In addition, as of
December 31, 2014, the Company had federal cradigforwards of approximately $294. If not utilizetle federal tax carryforward will
expire between 2016 and 2032. Utilization of U.& operating losses may be subject to substamimalad limitations due to the “change in
ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Cofli#986, as amended, and similar state provisibhng.annual limitation may result in the
expiration of net operating losses before utilizati
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b.  Profit (loss) before taxes on income is compriseébdows:

Domestic
Foreign

c. Taxes on loss are comprised as follo

Domestic:
Federa
State

Foreign

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
$(15,600)  $(4,507)  $(4,487)
(3,416) (2,618 (112)

$(19,02)  $(7,119  $(4,599)

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
$— $— $—
16 5 40
36( 351 207
$37¢€ $35¢€ $247

d. Deferred income taxe

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying anmohassets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts ugethome tax purposes. The Company’s deferredisarts are derived from its U.S.
net operating loss carry forwards and other tempatiferences.

In assessing the realization of deferred tax asget€Company considers whether it is more likahntnot that all or some portion of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. BasetherCompany'’s history of losses in the US and Ijuaisdictions, the Company
established a valuation allowance on its US araklsteferred tax assets.

December 31

2014 2013
Carry forward losses and credits $ 7,947 $ 6,08¢
Deferred revenue 9,14¢ 6,99t
Accrued payroll, commissions, vacati 61C 465
Allowance for doubtful accoun 64 14z
Accrued severance pi 442 33¢
Other 731 31¢
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allow: 18,94: 14,34
Valuation allowanct (18,94) (14,349

Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —
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e. Reconciliation of the theoretical tax expens

A reconciliation between the theoretical tax exgerssuming all income is taxed at the statutorydse applicable to income of the
Company, and the actual tax expense (benefit)@ste in the consolidated statements of operai®as follows:

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Loss before taxes, as reported in the consolidstegéments of operations $(19,029) $(7,119 $(4,599
Statutory tax rat 34% 34% 35%
Theoretical tax benefits on the above amount aUtRestatutory tax rat $ (6,46¢) $(2,420) $(1,610)
Income tax at rate other than the U.S. statutorydte 99¢ 72C (82
Tax advances and non-deductible expenses incledjogy based compensation
expense: 1,29¢ 71t 81C
Operating losses and other temporary differencewlfiich valuation allowance
was providec 4,59¢ 80:3 99(
State tay (409) (184 40
Impact of rate chanc 49 537 —
Tax reserve for uncertain tax positic 30¢ 11¢ 15C
Other individually immaterial income tax iter 11 66 (51
Actual tax expens $ 37€ $ 35€ $ 247
f. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amts of unrecognized tax benefits in the years @émscember 31, 2014 and 2013 are
as follows:
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of January113 $ 15C
Increase/decrease in tax position for current (10
Increase in tax position for current ye 12¢
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Decembe2®B13 26¢
Increase/decrease in tax position for current 4
Increase in tax position for current ye 304
Gross unrecognized tax benefits as of Decembe2®Y $577

There was $577 of unrecognized income tax bertbfitis if recognized, $552 would impact the effeetiax rate in the period in which
each of the benefits is recognized. The Comparlydes interest and penalties related to unrecodnenebenefits within the provision for
income taxes on the consolidated statements ofibpes. The total amount of penalties and inteseapproximately $40 as of December 31,
2014.

g. Foreign taxation
1. Israel tax benefits under the Law for the Enagement of Capital Investments, 1959 (the “Investrhaw”):
Conditions for entitlement to the benefits:

The benefits available to a Beneficiary Enterpredate only to taxable income attributable to thecific investment program and
are conditioned upon terms stipulated in the Invesit Law and the related regulations and the @it forth in the applicable
certificate of approval (for an Beneficiary Entasgy). If VSL does not fulfill these conditions,whole or in part, the benefits can
cancelled, and VSL may be required to refund threefits, in an amount linked to the Israeli consupréze index plus interest.

The Office of the Chief Scientist at Israel’'s Mimjsof Industry, Trade and Labor approved the I6saésidiary as an R&D-
incentive enterprise for a foreign resident compiargccordance with the Encouragement of Capitadédtments (Consolidated
Version) Law.
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If cash dividends are distributed out of tax exeprpfits in a manner other than upon complete dqtion, VSL will then become
liable for tax at the rate of 10%-25% (dependingtanlevel of foreign investments in VSL) in respeftthe amount distributed.

2. Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries:

As of December 31, 2014, approximately $2,147 afistnbuted earnings from non-U.S. operations tgldhe Companyg foreign subsidiarie
are designated as indefinitely reinvested outdiddt.S. Accordingly, no additional U.S. income twe additional foreign withholding taxes
have been provided thereon. Determination of theuarnof unrecognized deferred tax liability relatedhese earnings is not practicable.

h. Tax assessmeni

The Company has final tax assessments in the br&igh 2009, VSL in Israel through 2008, VSUK in lthfough 2011, VSF in France
through 2011, and VSG in Germany through 2011.

In 2013, the Israeli Tax Authorities (“ITA”) inittad a tax assessment audit on VSL for the year8-2Z0mlL1. On December 30, 2013, the
ITA issued an assessment for the year 2009, ammautdiapproximately $115 (including interest anglistinent to inflation). The
Company has filed an objection letter. The Compaglieves it has valid arguments to support itstims and intends to defend against
such tax assessment. The Company has recordedisipnovith respect to its uncertain tax positiomsiccordance with ASC 740.

VSC does not have a final tax assessment singgéption.
3. Carryforward losses of foreign subsidiaries

As of December 31, 2014, VSL had a net operatirgass carryforward of approximately $5,187. Theagyforward losses have no expiral
dates and may be carried forward indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2014, VSL also has creditsriaelstotaling $226. These credits have no expinadiate.

NOTE 12:- FINANCIAL EXPENSES, NET
Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Financial income
Interest on bank depos $ 18¢ $ 36 $ 97
Foreign currency transactions gains, — 622 32C
18¢ 65¢ 417
Financial expense
Deferred charge 187 20C 141
Revaluation of warrant — 1,50¢ 3,19¢
Bank charge 10¢ 14¢ 40
Foreign currency transactions loss, 1,591 75 —
Interest expense — — 86
Other 15 — —
(1,907) (1,939 (3,462)
$(1,719) $(1,274) $(3,045)
NOTE 13:- GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND MAJOR CUSTOMER AND PRODU CT DATA

Summary information about geographic areas:

ASC 280, “Segment Reportingg’stablishes standards for reporting informatioruabperating segments. Operating segments areedk
as components of an enterprise about which seplmatecial information is available that is evakegtegularly by the chief operating
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resagian®d in assessing performance. The Company maitadgessiness on the basis of «
reportable
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segment, and derives revenues from licensing tfveoé, sale of professional services, maintenanddechnical support (see Note 1 for
a brief description of the Company'’s business). fiflewing is a summary of revenues within geogiagreas:

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Revenues based on custo’s location:

United State! $ 56,91( $42,16¢ $31,06:

EMEA (*) 35,80¢ 25,98¢ 18,69(

Rest of the Worlc 8,62¢ 6,46¢ 3,65¢
Total revenue: $101,34¢ $74,61¢ $53,41(

(*) Sales to customers in France accounted for4iMDfor the year ended December 31, 2014. In 28812812, sales in France did not
exceed 10% of the Compe’'s revenues

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2012@h8, there were no sales to a single customeedkug 10% of the Company’s
revenues.

December 31

2014 2013
Long-lived assets by geographic regi
United State: $2,14¢ $ 777
Israel 1,64¢ 95¢
Other 19t 123

$3,98¢ $1,85¢
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Aecunting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no changes in our independentergigpublic accounting firm, Kost Forer Gabbay &sléerer, a member of Ernst & Young
Global, or disagreements with our accountants omemsaof accounting and financial disclosure.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, dvated the effectiveness of our disclos
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 18a)15 the Exchange Act) as of the end of the mecimvered by this report. Based on that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chi@iancial Officer concluded that our disclosure colstand procedures as of the end of the
period covered by this report were effective ataspnable assurance level in ensuring that infeomagquired to be disclosed by us in reports
that we file or submit under the Exchange Act orded, processed, summarized and reported whikitirne periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms. We believe that a control systeamatter how well designed and operated, canmoige absolute assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met, and radugtion of controls can provide absolute assurdmagall control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within a company have been detected.

Managemen’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciaReporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeort of management’s assessment regarding iteon&ol over financial reporting or
an attestation report of our registered public aating firm due to a transition period establishgdhe rules of the SEC for newly public
companies.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There was no change in our internal control oveairicial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)haf Exchange Act) that occurred during the
period covered by this report that has materidfigcded, or is reasonably likely to materially affeour internal control over financial reportil

Item 9B.  Other Information
None.
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Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item (other thie information set forth in the next paragraphhis ttem 10) will be included in our
definitive proxy statement with respect to our 2@kHual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed wittBEC and is incorporated herein by
reference.

We have adopted a code of business conduct arub éfiat is applicable to all of our employees,c&fifs and directors, including our chief
executive and senior financial officers. The cotlbusiness conduct and ethics is available on alrsite at www.varonis.com. We expect tha
any amendment to the code, or any waivers of gairements, will be disclosed on our website. Tiwusion of our website in this Form 10-K
does not include or incorporate by reference tfarimation on our website into this Form 10-K.

ltem 11.  Ex ecutive Compensatior

The information called for by this item will be inded in our definitive proxy statement with respiecour 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC and is incogped herein by reference.

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information called for by this item will be inded in our definitive proxy statement with respecour 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC and is inocogped herein by reference.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transdmns, and Director Independence

The information called for by this item will be inded in our definitive proxy statement with respiecour 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC and is incogped herein by reference.

ltem 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information called for by this item will be inded in our definitive proxy statement with respiecour 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC and is inocogped herein by reference.
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(a) Financial Statements
Our consolidated financial statements are listethén‘Index to Consolidated Financial Statementsier Part I, item 8 of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K. All schedules are omitted ligeahey are not applicable or the required infoion&as shown in the financial statements
or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description of the Document

3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora

3.2(2) Amended and Restated Byla

4.1(3) Third Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agesgindated as of February 24, 2011, by and aman@timpany and
certain holders of the Compe¢'s capital stock named there

10.1(4)t Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Conmypand its directors and office

10.2(5)t 2005 Stock Plan, as amended May 7, 2

10.3(6)T 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Pl

10.4(7)t Forms of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Noticel &estricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under2b&3 Omnibus
Equity Incentive Plai

10.5(8)t Employment Agreement by and between the Companyrakdv Faitelson, dated as of February 10, 2

10.6(9)t Employment Agreement by and between the CompanyXdnadl Korkus, dated as of February 10, 2

10.7(10)t Employment Agreement by and between the CompanyGintbhan, dated as of February 10, 2(

10.8(11)t Employment Agreement by and between the Companyames ¢ Boyle, dated as of February 10, 2(

10.9(12) Israel Office Lease, dated as of June 17, 2013nbybetween Wintegra Ltd. and Varonis
Systems Ltd

10.10(13) New York Office Lease, dated as of December 191381and between JT MH 1250 Owner LP and the Com

10.11(14) First Modification of Lease Agreement, dated adwfe 18, 2014, between JT MH 1250 Owner LP an€trmepany

10.12(15) EMC Select Distributor Agreement for Software, dalenuary 24, 2007, by and between EMC Corporatiahthe
Company

10.13(16) Amendment No. 1 to the EMC Select Distributor Agneat for Software, dated July 2011, by and betw&dc
Corporation and the Compa

21.1 List of Subsidiarie:

23.1 Consent of Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a membé&iriost & Young Globa

31.1 Rule 13a14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer aRdesident of the Company in accordance with Se&@hof the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial 0&r of the Company in accordance with Section @he Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

32.1** Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officand President of the Company in accordance $étttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

32.2%* Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial O#ficof the Company in accordance with Section 90BefSarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
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101

*%

1)

(2)
3)

(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

(8)
(9)

The following materials from the Company’s Annuad®rt on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembefB14 , formatted in
XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language)th® Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consali&tatements of
Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements ah@hensive Loss, (iv) the Consolidated Statemai@ash Flows and (v)
related notes to these consolidated financial stands, tagged as blocks of text and in de

Indicates management contract or compensatorygulamrangemen

Confidential treatment for portions of this exhibés been granted by the Securities and Exchangen&sion.

Document has been furnished, is not deemed filed is not to be incorporated by reference intoatrthe Company’s filings under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Seesriixchange Act of 1934, as amended, irrespectimayogeneral incorporation
language contained in any such fili

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarté&iport on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 812 (File No. 001-35324) (the
“Compan’s First Quarter 2014 Form -Q") and incorporated herein by referen

Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Compé's First Quarter 2014 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referer

Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s RegistraiStatement on Form S-1 (File 333-191840) (tfRO'IRegistration Statement”) with the
SEC on October 22, 2013 and incorporated hereietegyence

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and incatgadrherein by referenc

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incotpdrherein by referenc

Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the IPO Registration Staat with the SEC on February 6, 2014 and incotpdrherein by referenc

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quayté&eport on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on Augbis?014 (File No. 001-35324) (the
“Compan’s Third Quarter 2014 Form -Q") and incorporated herein by referen

Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and inceeadrherein by referenc

Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and incatgadrherein by referenc

(10) Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the IPO Registration &ta¢nt with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and ingatpd herein by referenc
(11) Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the IPO Registration &ta¢nt with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and ingatpd herein by referenc
(12) Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the IPO Registration &ta¢nt with the SEC on November 12, 2013 and inaatpd herein by referenc
(13) Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the IPO Registration &ta¢nt with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incatpdrherein by referenc
(14) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Compé's Third Quarter 2014 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referer

(15) Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the IPO Registration &ta¢nt with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incatpdrherein by referenc
(16) Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the IPO Registration &ta¢nt with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incatpdrherein by referenc
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereuuly authorized.

VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC.

February 19, 2015 By: /s/ Yakov Faitelsol

Yakov Faitelsor
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

February 19, 2015 By: /s/ Gili lohan

Gili lohan
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Office
and Principal Accounting Office
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below copstémid appoints Yakov Faitelson and Gili lohan, eaxch of them, his true and law
attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full poafesubstitution and resubstitution, severally,ion and in his name, place and stead, in any
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendm@mttuding post-effective amendments) to this AdriR@port on Form 10-K, and to file the
same, with all exhibits thereto and other documant®nnection therewith, with the Securities anglange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of therp&wer and authority to do and perform each arathyesct and thing requisite and necessary
to be done in and about the premises, as fullyl iatants and purposes as he might or could deeirson, hereby ratifying and confirming all
that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or anhefitor their or his substitute or substitutes, tasyfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securitiesthid,report has been signed below by the followgagsons in the capacities and on the
dates indicated below.

Signature Title Date
/sl Yakov Faitelson Chief Executive Officer, President February 18, 2015
Yakov Faitelson and Chairman of the Board

(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ Ohad Korkus Chief Technology Officer and February 18, 2015
Ohad Korkus Director

/s/ Gili lohan Chief Financial Officer (Principal February 18, 2015
Gili lohan Financial Officer) and Principal

Accounting Officer

/s/ Kevin Comolli Director February 18, 2015
Kevin Comolli
/s/ John J. Gavin, Jr. Director February 18, 2015

John J. Gavin, J

/s Rona Segev-Gal Director February 18, 2015
Rona Sege-Gal

/sl Erez Shachar Director February 18, 2015
Erez Shache

/s/ Fred Van Den Bosch Director February 18, 2015
Fred Van Den Bosc
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description of the Document

3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora

3.2(2) Amended and Restated Byla

4.1(3) Third Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agesgindated as of February 24, 2011, by and aman@timpany and
certain holders of the Compé¢'s capital stock named there

10.1(4)t Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Comypand its directors and office

10.2(5)t 2005 Stock Plan, as amended May 7, 2

10.3(6)T 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Pl

10.4(7)t Forms of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notioel d&estricted Stock Unit Award Agreement underab&3 Omnibus
Equity Incentive Plai

10.5(8)t Employment Agreement by and between the Companyrakdv Faitelson, dated as of February 10, 2

10.6(9)t Employment Agreement by and between the CompanyOdnadl Korkus, dated as of February 10, 2

10.7(10)t Employment Agreement by and between the CompanyGntbhan, dated as of February 10, 2(

10.8(11)t Employment Agreement by and between the Companyames ¢ Boyle, dated as of February 10, 2(

10.9(12) Israel Office Lease, dated as of June 17, 2013nbybetween Wintegra Ltd. and Varonis
Systems Ltd

10.10(13) New York Office Lease, dated as of December 19121and between JT MH 1250 Owner LP and the Com

10.11(14) First Modification of Lease Agreement, dated adwfe 18, 2014, between JT MH 1250 Owner LP an€trmpany

10.12(15) EMC Select Distributor Agreement for Software, dalenuary 24, 2007, by and between EMC Corporatiahthe
Company

10.13(16) Amendment No. 1 to the EMC Select Distributor Agneat for Software, dated July 2011, by and betwedic
Corporation and the Compa

21.1 List of Subsidiarie:

23.1 Consent of Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer, a membé&irist & Young Globa

31.1 Rule 13a14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer aRdesident of the Company in accordance with Se&@hof the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial 0&r of the Company in accordance with Section @he Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

32.1** Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officand President of the Company in accordance $étttion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

32.2%* Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial O#iicof the Company in accordance with Section S0i@fSarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

101 The following materials from the Company’s Annuagd®rt on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembef314 ,
formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reportinghgaage): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheetgh@i)Consolidated
Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidateate®hents of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) the Consdidi&tatements of
Cash Flows and (v) related notes to these congetidaancial statements, tagged as blocks ofdedtin detai

t Indicates management contract or compensatorygulamrangemen

*%

1)

(2)
(3)

(4)
()

Confidential treatment for portions of this exhibiés been granted by the Securities and Exchangen&sion.

Document has been furnished, is not deemed filed is not to be incorporated by reference intoatrthe Company’s filings under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Seesriixchange Act of 1934, as amended, irrespectimayogeneral incorporation
language contained in any such fili

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarté&iport on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 812 (File No. 001-35324) (the
“Compan’s First Quarter 2014 Form -Q") and incorporated herein by referen

Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Comp¢’s First Quarter 2014 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referer

Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s RegistraiStatement on Form S-1 (File 333-191840) (tfRO'IRegistration Statement”) with the
SEC on October 22, 2013 and incorporated hereietegyence

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and incatgadrherein by referenc

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incotpdrherein by referenc



(6)
(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)

Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the IPO Registration Stagat with the SEC on February 6, 2014 and incotpdrherein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quayté&eport on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on Augbis?014 (File No. 001-35324) (the
“Compan’s Third Quarter 2014 Form -Q") and incorporated herein by referen

Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and incatgadrherein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the IPO Registration Stegat with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and incatgadrherein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the IPO Registration &taent with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and ingatpd herein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the IPO Registration &tatnt with the SEC on February 18, 2014 and incatpd herein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the IPO Registration &tatnt with the SEC on November 12, 2013 and incatpd herein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the IPO Registration &tatnt with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incatpdrherein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Compé's Third Quarter 2014 Form -Q and incorporated herein by referer

Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the IPO Registration &taent with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incatpdrherein by referenc
Filed as Exhibit 10.15 to the IPO Registration &taent with the SEC on October 22, 2013 and incatpdrherein by referenc



Subsidiary

Varonis Systems Ltc

Varonis (UK) Limited

Varonis Systems (Deutschland) Gm
Varonis France SA

Varonis Systems Cor|

VARONIS SYSTEMS, INC. SUBSIDIARIES

State/Country of Incorporation/Formation

Israel

England

Germany

France

Canada (British Columbiz

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-19%65dur report dated February 19,

2015, with respect to the consolidated financialeshents of Varonis Systems, Inc., included in Arisual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014.

/sl KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIEREI

A Member of Ernst & Young Glob

Tel-Aviv, Israel
February 19, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Yakov Faitelson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Varonis Systems, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dondtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepa
(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradigslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; an
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesggnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
(8 All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ Yakov Faitelsol

Yakov Faitelsor
Chief Executive Officer and Preside



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Gili lohan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Varonis Systems, Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or dondtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa
(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradigslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; an
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesggnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer anldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
(8 All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ Gili lohan

Gili lohan
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officand Principz
Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{f/aronis Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yended December 31,
2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cision on the date hereof (the “Report”), Yakowt€élabn, as Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company, hereby certifies, purstah8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuasedtion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

By: /s/ Yakov Faitelsol
Yakov Faitelsor
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: February 19, 2015

This certification accompanies the Report purstausection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 strall not, except to the
extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2@@2jeemed filed by the Company for purposes ofi@ed8 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{f/aronis Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yended December 31,
2014 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report”), Gili lahas Chief Financial Officer of the

Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.Cti&e 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90BeoSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to
the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

By: /s/ Gili lohan
Gili lohan
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Office
and Principal Accounting Office

Date: February 19, 2015

This certification accompanies the Report purst@ausection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 strall not, except to the

extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@2jeemed filed by the Company for purposes ofi@ed8 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amende



